
 

 

 
PLAN COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

AGENDA 
  

Thursday, June 23, 2022                                                                          Frankfort Village Hall        
6:30 P.M.                                                                                               432 W. Nebraska Street (Board Room) 
 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Roll Call 

 
3. Approval of Minutes of June 9, 2022 

 
4. Public Hearing (Continued from April 28th, 2022): Olde Stone Subdivision 1st Addition (Ref #108) 

Public Hearing Request:  Zoning Map Amendment (Rezoning) upon annexation from E-R (Estate 
Residential) to R-2 (Single Family Residential).  Other: Plat of Annexation, Final Plat of Subdivision and 
Plat of Dedication to create a 15 buildable-lot addition to the Olde Stone Subdivision. (PINs: 19-09-31-400-
013-0000, 19-09-31-400-016-0010, 19-09-31-400-016-0020.)  

 
5. Public Hearing: 20801 S. La Grange Road – Chase Bank (Ref #105) 

Public Hearing Request: Variance to permit service/utility areas (rooftop solar panels) that are not screened 
from view. (PIN 19-09-22-101-027-0000)   

 
6. Workshop: Misty Creek 

Future Public Hearing Request: Rezoning from E-R to R-4 with a PUD overlay for 32-unit townhome 
development. Other Requests: Final Plat of Subdivision, including Plat of Dedication for 116th Ave and 
Misty Creek Lane (PIN: 19-09-30-300-011-0000).  
 

7. Public Comments 
 
8. Village Board & Committee Updates  

 
9. Other Business 

 
10. Attendance Confirmation (July 14, 2022) 

 
11. Adjournment 
 
____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
All applicants are advised to be present when the meeting is called to order.  Agenda items are generally reviewed in the order 
shown on the agenda, however, the Plan Commission/Zoning Board of Appeals reserves the right to amend the agenda and consider 
items in a different order. The Commission may adjourn its meeting to another day prior to consideration of all agenda items.  All 
persons interested in providing public testimony are encouraged to do so.  If you wish to provide public testimony, please come 
forward to the podium and state your name for the record and address your comments and questions to the Chairperson. 



 
 

MINUTES 
MEETING OF VILLAGE OF FRANKFORT PLAN 
COMMISSION / ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 

        June 9, 2022–VILLAGE ADMINISTRATION BUILDING    
 432 W. NEBRASKA STREET 

 
 
Call to Order:   Chair Rigoni called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM 

Commissioners Present: Chair Maura Rigoni, Dan Knieriem, Will Markunas, Nichole 
Schaefer, Jessica Jakubowski, Brian James, David Hogan 

Commissioners Absent: None 

Staff Present: Director of Community and Economic Development Mike 
Schwarz, Senior Planner Chris Gruba, Planner Drew Duffin 

Elected Officials Present:  None 

A. Approval of the Minutes from May 26, 2022 

Motion (#1): Approval of the minutes, as presented, from May 26, 2022 

Motion by: Knieriem   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (6-0, Hogan abstained) 

Gruba noted that the case relating to the Oasis Senior Living proposal was not on the 
agenda for this meeting and it would need to be re-noticed.  The next possible public 
hearing date would be July 14th.   

B. Final Plat: Homestead Center Resubdivision 
 
Chris Gruba summarized the staff report. The only change to the plat was an added utility 
easement. Gruba noted that some language on the plat should be changed to remove 
mention of a resolution.  

Motion (#2): Motion to recommend that the Village Board approve the Final Plat of 
Subdivision for Homestead Center, subject to any technical revisions prior to recording.  

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (7-0) 

C. Public Hearing: 170 Vail Drive – Exterior Materials Variation 

Mike Schwarz summarized the case. The variation request is to allow non-masonry 
materials on the first floor of the building and the proposed addition.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to come to the podium. 

 
 



Chair Rigoni swore in the applicant, Billy LaMarche. 

The applicant approached the podium. He stated he had nothing to add.  

Chair Rigoni asked the Commission if there were any initial questions from the PC/ZBA.  

There was no response. 

Chair Rigoni asked if the existing brick would be reduced.  

Staff responded that it would not.  

Chair Rigoni asked if there was anyone in the audience wishing to speak on the request. 

Gerald O’Sullivan approached the podium. He stated that he was a neighbor of the 
applicant, and that the applicant and his family are fine people. They were going to do a 
nice job with the project.  

Chair Rigoni asked if the color photo the applicant had in hand was the same as the one 
in the packet. 

The applicant said yes. 

Motion (#3): Motion to close the public hearing.  

Motion by: Schaeffer   Seconded by: Knieriem 

Approved: (7-0) 

Chair Rigoni asked the Commission if they had any questions in regard to the variation.  

There were no questions. 

Chair Rigoni noted that the change in materials on the house were an upgrade, and asked 
staff if the variation was required because of the addition.  

Staff responded that the variation applied to the whole house, but the variation was 
required because of the proposed addition.  

Motion (#4): Motion to recommend that the Village Board approve a variation from 
Article 6, Section B, Part 2(g)(2) of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit 
the use of non-masonry siding on the first floor of an existing home in conjunction with 
proposed first and second floor additions and exterior remodeling in the R-2 Single-
Family Residential District located at 170 Vail Drive. 

Motion by: Markunas   Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Approved: (7-0) 

 

 



D. Workshop: 10841 W. Lincoln Highway – Proposed Retail Center 

Chris Gruba provided a summary of the case. The applicant seeks to develop a 20,000 sq. 
ft. retail space on a corner lot.  

Chair Rigoni asked the property owner to come to the podium. The owner and his 
consultant approached. Chair Rigoni then swore in the property owner, Zaim Sakiri, and 
one of his consulting engineers, Nick Varchetto.  

Mr. Sakiri explained that he has owned the property in question for many years has 
always intended to develop retail on the site. He listed the considerations he made while 
designing the proposal.  

The engineer stated that the main challenge they face in construction is the floodplain on 
the southeastern corner of the property. Robinson wanted to complete a full engineering 
study of the area before the project moves forward. The owner and engineers plan to 
request landscaping setbacks on the north, east and west sides so that adequate parking 
can be provided. The development as it stands now would need detention basins 
underneath the parking lot, as on-site detention is not permitted in the flood zone.  

Chair Rigoni stated that the Plan Commission cannot make any decisions or 
recommendations in relation to engineering challenges, only zoning-related issues.  

The engineer asked staff whether there was a way to be granted a variance from the 
sidewalk requirements. 

Staff responded in the negative because the sidewalk requirements are part of the Design 
Standards. However, in theory, the Village Board could remove the requirement for a 
complete sidewalk. 

The engineer stated that the property owner preferred to be annexed into the Village, but 
that Will County has less stringent design standards. The Village’s regulations make the 
buildable area smaller than the applicant hoped. He would request variations on setbacks 
on the north and west sides of the property. 

Chair Rigoni requested that the owner state all his zoning concerns before there was any 
discussion of details.  

The engineer responded that their main concerns were with setbacks, the floodplain, and 
fire regulations. He and the property owner want to make their proposal work within the 
Village’s regulations, but would need some variations to do so.  

The property owner added that when he first bought the property around fifteen years 
ago, IDOT took nearly an acre for right-of-way, which nearly broke the deal at the time. 

Chair Rigoni directed the Plan Commission to give Mr. Sakiri and his engineer some 
general directions and comments on zoning and land use, keeping in mind that not all of 
the needed information has been provided. Rigoni asked whether B-2 is an appropriate 
zoning classification for the property. 

Commissioner James noted that B-2 does align with the Village’s Future Land Use Map.  



Commissioner Hogan asked why the property had not yet been annexed into Frankfort. 

Mike Schwarz responded that the Village typically does not initiate annexation but rather 
waits for requests, which typically happens when property owners want to be added to 
the Village’s water and sewer networks. The only way the Village can initiate annexation 
is if the area in question is fully enclosed by the Village and is smaller than 60 acres. 

Chair Rigoni noted that the Village could annex the property in the future even if no 
annexation took place with this development. 

Staff stated that Will County would be in contact with the Village if there was a proposed 
Will County zoning application regardless of annexation, since the property falls within 
the Village’s 1.5-mile review boundary. A voluntary annexation gives the Village and the 
property owner opportunity to negotiate the agreement.  

Chair Rigoni states the main building meets the relevant code requirements, that the 
issues are related to the peripheral areas and improvements. She asked staff if the 
Landscape Ordinance was outside the purview of the Plan Commission.  

Staff said it was.  

Commissioner James expressed his concern over parking spaces behind the building. 
They might create safety issues for pedestrians looking to enter the building. He 
suggested reducing the building size to allow for safer parking arrangements. 

The property owner stated that the main building had already been reduced from the 
initial design, and that further reductions are not preferred.  

The engineer added that he and the property owner expected this discussion point. A 
smaller building area was unacceptable. Even a smaller building would still need same 
variations to fit on the site.  

Chair Rigoni said the Plan Commission was giving guidance to the owner for next steps, 
and cited the landscape setback as an example.  

Commissioner Schaeffer told the property owner her biggest concerns were with parking 
and with such a large building located so close to a flood zone.  

Discussion turned to the proposed retaining wall located on the southeast end of the 
property and concerns over stormwater management.  

Discussion returned to potential pedestrian-vehicle collisions in the rear parking lot.  

Commissioner Knieriem asked for more details on the setbacks, which was his biggest 
concern due to the adjacent residential use. Would IDOT require a turn lane for people 
entering the property from Route 30? 

The engineer explained they were looking to reduce the required 25’ landscape transition 
yard (buffer) to 15’, and to overplant the landscaping there to help with screening. 
Additionally, a variation would be sought to decrease the east landscape setback from 25’ 
to 23’. Despite asking IDOT for information months ago, they had yet to respond.  



Chair Rigoni asked staff to look into other examples of granting setback variations along 
Route 30.  

Senior Planner Gruba explained that the project was reviewed against the requirements of 
the Zoning Ordinance, the Landscape Ordinance and the Design Standards.  He noted 
that in certain instances, variances can be granted for relief from Zoning Ordinance 
requirements, but that variances cannot be granted for requirements in the Landscape 
Ordinance and the Design Standards, since they are not part of the Zoning Ordinance.  
Gruba noted that there is no known vehicle to provide relief from the Landscape 
Ordinance requirements. He did note that there are a few, but not many, landscaping 
requirements in the Zoning Ordinance, which can be granted variances because they are 
in the Zoning Ordinance.    

Gruba noted that there is a retaining wall along the southeast corner of the property to 
raise the land for a parking lot, separating it from the adjacent floodplain.  He noted that 
any walls over 2.5’ tall or over 50’ long require review and approval by the Plan 
Commission, as per the Design Standards.  This would not be a variance or a special use 
permit, but rather a general approval granted by the Plan Commission.  

Commissioner Markunas remarked on his concerns over parking and the size of the 
building.  

Commissioner Jakubowski stated her concerns over maintaining green space and the 
property’s proximity to residential uses.  

Commissioner Hogan asked the property owner if they have considered a two-story 
building as an alternative 

The property owner replied that it was considered, but was undesirable.  

Chair Rigoni asked staff to look into how parking works on other, similar properties. 

Discussion returned to the flood zone and options to address the challenges it posed.  

Chair Rigoni said that the Commission can give better feedback on the project with more 
detail. She asked staff to look into how loading zones are addressed on similar properties 
which do not have ones designated.  

Mike Schwarz stated that per the Village’s Design Standards, development in a 
floodplain is not allowed, so conducting a study to determine the boundary would be 
essential. Staff also suggested planning ahead for a future tenant who may want a drive 
through. Chris Gruba noted that workshops are typically done after preliminary 
engineering is complete, so the next workshop should happen after that. Lastly, the Plan 
Commission could not rule on a variation for reduced landscape setbacks on the west side 
of the property since there was no mechanism for it, though variations might be possible 
for the north and east sides. 

Chair Rigoni asked if there are any questions from members of the public in the audience.  

There were none.  



 

E. Workshop: 11031 W. Lincoln Highway - Everbrook Academy Preschool/Daycare 

Mike Schwarz summarized the changes made to the proposal since the last workshop.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to approach the stand. She swore in the applicant, Tom 
Williams.  

Williams informed the commission that the comments from the last workshop were 
incorporated as best they could. In regard to questions about the west-facing sign, it was 
designed to meet code and was located where it was to help identify the entrance to 
people unfamiliar with the location, as a safety precaution.  

Chair Rigoni asked if the commission has any initial comments from the previous 
workshop.  

There were none.  

Chair Rigoni restated her concern with having the play area facing Route 30, citing safety 
and aesthetics. It would be preferable to rotate the building so the play area was in the 
rear of the building.  

Discussion addressed potential changes that could be made to address the play area 
facing Route 30.  

Chair Rigoni asked the commission if they have any comments on the architecture. 

Discussion focused on the changes that were made since the last workshop in more detail.  

Members of the commission gave comments on the lack of visual continuity with the 
adjacent bank.  

Staff stated that the roof pitch was another area of concern, with respect to the visual 
appearance of the building.  

Discussion returned to the possibility of reorienting the building. The applicant stated that 
the biggest challenge with reorientation was with pick-up and drop-off.  

Commissioner Hogan requested elevations of the proposed building and the adjacent 
bank for a more direct comparison of aesthetics.  

Chair Rigoni asked the commission what comments they had on the proposed signage.  

Staff noted that a variation would be needed to allow a sign on the west elevation of the 
building.  

Discussion turned to alternative signage to help people find and access the site. 
Commissioners asked for visualizations of different alternatives.  

Chair Rigoni asked for any other comments.  



There were none.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant that for the next time changes to the plans be clearly 
marked.   

F. Workshop: 10211 W. Lincoln Highway – Rhumbar/Tulips 

Mike Schwarz summarized the staff report on the current proposal and provided 
additional background by including the owner’s previous application details.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to approach the podium. She swore in the applicant.  

The applicant, Joji Tirumalareddy, explained his case in more detail. He bought the 
property in 2015. A condition of purchase from the bank was that the property be used as 
a restaurant or bar. He had maintained the property in the time between purchase and this 
workshop.  

Chair Rigoni reminded all present that the current agenda item was just a workshop. She 
asked initial questions about changes to the original PUD in terms of building footprint 
and the possibility of an increased seating area. 

The applicant responded that there were proposed changes to the PUD in relation to the 
building footprint, which was being increased. However, there was no proposed increase 
in the seating area inside, but the increased footprint was going to be used to support the 
use of the dining area. 

Commissioner Markunas asked staff whether the previous restaurants operating on the 
property were open concurrently with the adjacent offices.  

Staff answered that they did not know since it was last open before the tenure of any 
current staff member. 

A member of the audience was recognized by Chair Rigoni and provided a summary of 
the past restaurants that have occupied the building. 

Commissioner Knieriem asked about the proposed hours for the restaurant. 

The applicant responded that initially, the restaurant would be open for lunch and dinner, 
and hours might expand to include breakfast if successful. 

Commissioner Knieriem requested that the applicant provide color renderings next time. 
He then noted that the lack of parking on site was unavoidable, and requested that the 
applicant maintain his property to a higher standard, even though it was not in use. The 
commissioner asked if any music would be played on the patio. 

The applicant responded that in light of past discussions of the proposed outdoor seating 
area, there would be music but kept to a low level.  

Commissioner Schaeffer asked for clarification on the changes between the previous 
(2015) application and the current one.  



The applicant stated that the only changes from the 2015 application were the addition of 
a vestibule at the main entrance and the expanded cooler in the rear.  

Members of the Commission stated there was not enough information provided in the 
current application to be clear on what was being proposed.  

The applicant responded that there will be more information on future renderings. 

Commissioner Hogan expressed concern regarding the number of entries and exits to the 
proposed building, and asked whether there were plans to use the drive through. 

The applicant said that there will be five exits in total for the whole building. He was 
planning to use the drive through. 

Staff responded that a drive through would require a Special Use Permit to operate.  

Discussion continued around how exactly the drive through would be used. Concerns 
raised included traffic patterns, whether patrons could order at the window, and the 
potential for vehicle-pedestrian collisions in the parking lot.  

Discussion returned to the number of exits to the building. 

Chair Rigoni said that the number of exits was a concern for the Fire Department.  

Dennis Merz with the Frankfort Fire District was present and noted that the department 
would review the application when they received one.  

The Commission again expressed that they cannot give much constructive feedback since 
there was not enough information present in the application materials submitted to them. 

The applicant responded that they would provide all the requested information for the 
next workshop.  

Chair Rigoni asked the applicant to ensure their proposed project architecturally fits with 
the nearby offices. She also requested staff provide additional background on the 2015 
proposal and details on the operation of the restaurant next door for the next workshop.  

Commissioner James suggested removing the drive through lane to allow for more 
parking, to help alleviate the lack of parking spaces in the area.  

The applicant expressed their intention to keep and use the drive through lane. 

Chair Rigoni opened the discussion to members of the public, reminding them that they 
were not in a public hearing.  

Rita Starkey approached the podium. She asked how many tables would be located in the 
outdoor seating area, and whether the patio as a whole was new. 

Chair Rigoni responded that the patio was a new use in the application.  



Starkey expressed her concern that since the nearby restaurant was successful, the 
addition of another restaurant may disrupt the current state of parking in the lot.  

The applicant responded that they were trying to accommodate the changes in dining in 
response to COVID, namely an increase in demand for outdoor seating.  

Dan Ricker, a resident of the nearby neighborhood approached the podium. He expressed 
his concerns about parking at this site, since overflow parking typically could be found 
along the streets of the neighborhood. He also wanted to emphasize the use of the 
property as a restaurant and not as a bar. A red truck has been parking on the proposed 
patio space during the day since the lot is often completely full, and was an example of 
the parking problems the site would face.  

The applicant responded that since the property had been closed for years, the red truck’s 
owner knew they could park there with no issues.  

Steve Arnold, the president of the Brookside II Homeowners Association, approached the 
podium. He spoke on behalf of the neighborhood. Most of the concerns he came with had 
been addressed. While the neighborhood in general wanted to have another restaurant 
within walking distance, they were concerned about its impacts on parking, especially 
since a big restaurant was proposed to get bigger, and the resulting noise levels. He asked 
that the noise ordinance be enforced if needed.  

Chair Rigoni asked staff how much space was originally approved in 2015. 

Staff responded that the current plans were unclear on seating, especially when 
distinguishing between the bar and dining areas. Past discussion mentioned reducing the 
number of seats in the restaurant.  

The applicant stated he was looking to obtain a class C-1 liquor license, and so plans 
were looking to comply with the relevant regulations.  

Chair Rigoni noted the plans included an expanded seating area, and that the Plan 
Commission would like more details and context, since the commission had no desire to 
increase the size of the dining area inside.  

Commissioner Knieriem noted that expanding the seating area in a location with already 
limited parking was an obstacle to the project moving forward. 

Chair Rigoni summarized the discussion. More detail on the proposed floor plans, 
exterior elevations, outdoor seating, materials, intended use of the drive through and 
lighting were all needed. Staff would be able to help. 

G. Public Comments 

Chair Rigoni asked if there were any public comments.  

Terry Colins, President of the Windy Hill Townhome/Condo Association, approached the 
podium and asked why the Oasis Senior Living facility project had been tabled in the 
past.  



Chris Gruba responded that the project was not quite ready to be brought to the Plan 
Commission due to some engineering concerns.  

H. Village Board and Committee Updates 

Mike Schwarz noted that the following matters that previously came before the PC/ZBA 
were approved by the Village Board at its meeting on June 6: 

1. Walnut Street Subdivision: 142 and 150 Walnut Street – the Final Plat was approved 
2. Gale Residence Rear Yard Setback Variance: 19948 Lily Court – the Ordinance was 

approved 
3. Pie & Pla Special Use for Indoor Recreation: 9093 Fey Drive – the Ordinance was 

approved 
 

I. Other Business 

 There was no other business. 

J. Attendance Confirmation (June 23, 2022) 

Chair Rigoni asked the Commissioners to notify staff if they will not be in attendance on 
June 23rd.  

Motion (#5): Adjournment 9:53 P.M. 

Motion by: Markunas     Seconded by: Schaeffer 

Unanimously approved by voice vote. 

 

Approved June 23, 2022 

As Presented_____ As Amended_____ 

______________________ /s/ Maura Rigoni, Chair 

______________________/s/ Secretary 



 1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA    June 23, 2022 

 
 
Project: Olde Stone Village Subdivision – 1st Addition    
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing  
Request: Rezoning (upon annexation), Preliminary and Final Plat of Subdivision, Plat of Dedication 
Location:   Vienna Way 
Subdivision:  Olde Stone Village 
Applicant:  Olde Stone Development, LLC 
Prop. Owner:  Juan Garcia 
Representative: Mark Berardelli 
 

Site Details 
 

Project Size: 13.66 acres (6.93 + 4.53 + 2.2)                          Figure 1. Location Map 
PIN(s): 19-09-31-400-016-0020 
 19-09-31-400-016-0010 
 19-09-31-400-013-0000 
Existing Zoning:  E-R, A-1 (County), E-1 (County) 
Prop.  Zoning: R-2 
Buildings / Lots: 15 add’l proposed, 104 existing  
Total Sq. Ft.: N/A 

Average Lot Size: 19,613 (within the 1st Addition) 
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject 
Property 

Undeveloped Single Family/Envr. 
Conservation 

E-R, A-1 (Cnty.)  
E-1 (Cnty.) 

North Undeveloped, 
Single Family 

Single Family/Envr. 
Conservation 

E-R 

South  Single Family Single Family/Envr. 
Conservation 

R-2 

East Single Family Single Family/Envr. 
Conservation/Parks 

A-1 (Cnty.) E-1 
(Cnty.) 

West Single Family, 
Public Utility 

Single Family/Public 
Institutional 

R-2, A-1 (Cnty.) 

 
Project Summary  
 

Olde Stone Village was originally platted in 2005 and consists of a west portion and east portion, separated by a 
floodplain for Jackson Creek.  The west portion was originally platted for 67 lots, although after two lot 
consolidations, there are currently 65 lots.  The east portion was originally platted for 41 lots, with 39 lots existing 
today after lot consolidations.  The entirety of Olde Stone Village now consists of 104 buildable lots.  The applicant 
is proposing the first addition to the west portion of Olde Stone Village, by extending Vienna Way to serve an 
additional 15 lots, for a total of 81 lots on the west portion.  Vienna way currently terminates as a stub street, but 
is proposed to terminate as a cul-de-sac, similar to all other dead-end streets within Olde Stone Village.  The plans 
have been reviewed by the Village’s engineering consultant and there has been a substantial completion of 
preliminary engineering.  The project requires annexing the southern two parcels and rezoning them along with 
the northern parcel, to R-2, Single-Family Residential, matching the existing zoning for Olde Stone Village.  
  
 
 



 2 

Attachments 
1. 2019 aerial photograph, Village of Frankfort GIS 
2. Zoning Map, Village of Frankfort GIS 
3. FEMA Flood Hazard Area map 
4. National Wetlands Inventory Map the subject area and environs.  
5. Lot Size Analysis of existing and proposed lots, prepared by staff 
6. Plan Commission minutes excerpt from May 13, 2021 and March 24, 2022 
7. Findings of Fact (rezoning), prepared by applicant 
8. Original Plat of Olde Stone Village (2005) 
9. Survey, received by staff 11.9.21 
10. Plat of Annexation, received by staff 2.2.22 
11. Final Plat of Olde Stone 1st Addition, received by staff 6.16.22 
12. Preliminary Plat of Olde Stone Village 1st Addition (site plan), received by staff 6.15.22  
13. Tree Survey, received by staff 11.9.21 

 

Background 
 

In consideration of the request, staff offers the following points of discussion: 

1. Olde Stone Village subdivision was approved in 2005, containing a west and east portion with a total of 
108 lots.  After subsequent lot consolidations and excluding non-buildable lots for public utility 
easements, there are now a total of 104 lots.  Currently, the subdivision is nearing completion, and the 
Building Department estimates there are approximately 20 undeveloped lots.  

2. The Plan Commission reviewed the proposed 1st addition project as a workshop on May 13, 2021 and 
again as a public hearing on March 24, 2022.  Comments were provided to the applicant at both meetings 
and the plan has been amended slightly.  The Village’s engineering consultant has also reviewed the 
project and substantial preliminary engineering work has been completed.  

Changes to Plan 
 

1. The main changes to the plan since the last public hearing on this project include the following:  

a. The Vienna Way extension has been curved to provide more visual interest and to even out the 
lot sizes within the proposed addition.  

b. The 10’ wide pedestrian connection to the County FAA tower site has been removed, as the 
County has rejected any use of their property for either pedestrian traffic or vehicle traffic. This 
was formerly illustrated as “Outlot D” and was located between Lots 13 & 14.  The area for this 
outlot has been added to the adjacent buildable lots.  

c. The proposed cul-de-sac has been flipped from the east side of Vienna Way to the west side.  

Analysis 
 

1. The proposed 1st Addition would add 15 lots to the stubbed end of Vienna Way, terminating in a cul-de-
sac.  These 15 lots would be added to the west portion of Olde Stone, which currently has 65 lots, 
bringing the total to 80 lots.  Under the terms of the pending draft annexation agreement for Olde Stone 
Village 1st Addition, Outlot C could become a buildable lot (the 16th lot) if at any time in the future Vienna 
Way is extended north to the parcel that is currently owned by the Church of Latter-Day Saints and 
connected to Wolf Road.  The cul-de-sac with a landscape island would be removed, and the curb, gutter, 
sidewalk and parkway would be removed and shifted/reconstructed to accommodate the 16th lot.   



 3 

2. The 1st Addition area currently consists of 3 parcels under the same ownership.  The two southern parcels 
are located in unincorporated Will County, while the northern parcel is within Village limits and is zoned 
E-R, Estate Residential.  The two southern parcels would need to be annexed into the Village.  Annexed 
parcels are automatically assigned a zone designation of E-R.  The applicant has submitted a Plat of 
Annexation, which has been included with this staff report, although it is the Village Board and not the 
Plan Commission that has authority to act on annexations.  The Plan Commission, however, would 
forward a recommendation to the Village Board regarding the proposed rezoning from the default zoning 
of E-R (Estate Residential) to R-2 (Single-Family Residential).  

3. The 2019 Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map recommends that the subject property be developed 
for single-family, detached residential homes.  The proposed R-2 zone district aligns with this 
recommendation.  

4. This project would require that all 3 parcels be rezoned to R-2, Single Family Residential, which would 
match the existing zoning for Olde Stone Village.  The R-2 zone district permits the creation of residential 
lots at least 15,000 square feet in area.  The average lot size for the proposed 15 lots is 19,613 square 
feet, with 16,799 square feet being the smallest lot, complying with this requirement.   

5. Staff has provided an analysis of the existing lot sizes in Olde Stone Village and the proposed lot sizes for 
the 1st Addition, allowing a comparison of lot sizes between the developments.  

6. All proposed lots meet the required minimum lot width (100’) and depth (150’).   

7. The R-2 Single-Family District allows a maximum net density of 2.25 units per net buildable acre.  With 15 
lots, the net density is 2.23 units per acre.  In the future, if Outlot C is converted to a buildable lot, the net 
density would be slightly higher, but then some of the area of the right-of-way would then count toward 
the net buildable area.  The net density is determined by taking the overall area of 13.66 acres (post right-
of-way dedication), deducting the area of the four outlots, and dividing by the number of buildable lots.  
The total area of proposed right-of-way is 1.41 acres and the total area of the proposed outlots is 5.51 
acres, for a total of 6.92 acres.  The total project acreage of 13.66 acres, minus the right-of-way and outlot 
area of 6.92 acres equals the net buildable area of 6.74 acres.  
 

8. The Preliminary Plat (site plan) illustrates three (3) proposed streetlights along the Vienna Way extension.  
No details have been provided for the streetlights, although they should match the existing streetlights 
within the original Olde Stone Village subdivision.  

9. The Frankfort Fire District requires that dead-end roads provide a cul-de-sac with a minimum diameter of 
at least 90’.  The Zoning Ordinance requires that cul-de-sacs contain a landscaped island.  Olde Stone 
Village currently has several dead-end streets that terminate with landscaped cul-de-sacs.  The proposed 
cul-de-sac has been reviewed by the Frankfort Fire District and complies with the fire truck turning radii 
requirements.  The landscaped island size complies with the Zoning Ordinance requirements.   

10. Part of the subject property that abuts Wolf Road must be dedicated for Wolf Road right-of-way.  The 
area of dedication measures 97.18’ wide along the road and exactly 40’ deep.  The right-of-way dedication 
can be approved as part of the Preliminary and Final Plat of Subdivision approval.  

11. The proposed 1st Addition abuts undeveloped land owned by the Church of Latter-Day Saints to the north.  
The actual church building occupies a separate parcel to the east, which has access to Wolf Road.  Per the 
annexation agreement for the church property (Ord-1952), should the undeveloped church parcel be 
subdivided (as would be the case for single-family homes), Vienna Way must then connect to Wolf Road.   

12. Currently, the west portion of Olde Stone Village has only one access point (to 116th Avenue) to serve the 
existing 65 lots.  Both the PC-ZBA and staff asked the applicant to explore options to provide a second 



 4 

means of access to the subdivision as part of the proposed 15-lot addition.  On May 21, 2022, staff was 
made aware that the County, who operates the FAA tower site to the west, will not grant any vehicular 
access through their property to 116th Ave.  On June 7, 2022, staff was made aware that the church 
property owners are not interested in selling any of their property at this time to construct additional lots, 
which would also involve connecting Vienna Way to Wolf Road.  As such, the applicant is proposing to 
terminate Vienna Way in a cul-de-sac.  Should the owners of the church property decide to sell their 
property, the applicant would attempt to purchase the property to create additional lots and connect 
Vienna Way to Wolf Road.  

13. The Zoning Ordinance (page 145) notes that residential subdivisions with over 30 dwelling units must 
provide two points of access to the subdivision.  The western portion of Olde Stone Village currently has 
65 lots and only has access at one point to 116th Avenue.  It’s unclear how the subdivision was 
constructed for 65 lots with only 1 point of access, although it is now considered an “existing, non-
conformity”.  The Fire Code does not require two points of access for this subdivision; it is only a 
requirement in the Zoning Ordinance.  

14. The Preliminary and Final Plat of Subdivision illustrates proposed easements for water, sanitary and storm 
lines, as well as for public utility and drainage easements. There is also an existing 10’ wide easement that 
runs through lots 2 and 15 that would be abrogated (vacated).   

15. The 15-lot addition would not be added to or become part of the HOA for the original Olde Stone Village 
Subdivision.  This 15-lot addition would be governed by its own Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions 
(CCR’s).  The proposed CCR’s have been drafted to mirror the existing Olde Stone Subdivision CCR’s and 
are currently being reviewed by staff.   

16. The detention pond on Outlot A will be maintained by the new Olde Stone Village 1st Addition HOA and 
not the Village of Frankfort.  Specifically, the HOA will maintain the shoreline plantings (traditional lawn 
grass or prairie grass) and possible algae maintenance.  The Village Department of Public Works would 
assume responsibility for maintaining the inlet and outlet structures of the detention pond, which is 
typical for this type of development.  

17. At the previous public hearing, the Preliminary Plat and Final Plat illustrated a 10’ wide pedestrian path 
between Lots 13 & 14.  This outlot was intended to provide pedestrian access only for residents to travel 
through the existing FAA radio tower parcel, connecting to the existing 10’ wide pedestrian path along the 
east side of 116th Ave., to Roy and Dorothy Janssen Park.  However, in an email from the County to 
Village staff on May 21, 2021, the County objects to the use of the radio tower property for “recreational” 
purposes, including pedestrian crossing.  As such, this outlot has been removed from the current plats.   

18. A revised landscape plan has not been submitted to ensure compliance with the Landscape Ordinance 
with respect to the number of street trees and detention pond landscaping.  However, the former 
landscape plan reviewed at the previous public hearing did comply with the Landscape Ordinance and it is 
anticipated that the revised landscape plan will also comply.  There are very few trees and no 
preservation trees on the subject property, making mitigation of preservation trees moot.  

19. Building elevations for the proposed homes have not been provided at this time.  The developer intends 
to construct homes that are architecturally consistent with the variety of homes in the original Olde Stone 
Village Subdivision. 

20. The applicant has spoken with the two school districts, the Frankfort Park District and each taxing body 
has agreed to accept cash donations in lieu of any land dedication.  

 



 5 

Amendments (Rezonings)- Findings of Fact 
 
The Plan Commission shall make written findings of fact and shall submit same, together with its 
recommendations to the Village Board, for action.  Where the purpose and effect of the proposed amendment is 
to change the zoning classification of particular property, the Plan Commission shall make findings based upon all 
the evidence presented to it and shall consider among other pertinent matters, the following: 
 

1. Existing uses of property within the general area of the property in question; 
 

2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question; 
 

3. The suitability of the property in question to the uses permitted under the existing zoning classification; 
 

4. The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, including changes, if 
any, which have taken place in its present zoning classification; and 
 

5. The change in zoning is in conformance with the comprehensive plan of the Village and its official map. 
 
Affirmative Motions 
 

1. Recommend the Village Board rezone the northern parcel (19-09-31-400-016-0020) from E-R to R-2 and 
the southern two parcels (19-09-31-400-016-0010, 19-09-31-400-013-0000) from E-R to R-2 upon 
annexation. 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve the Final Plat of Subdivision for Olde Stone Village 1st Addition, in 
accordance with the reviewed plans and public testimony, subject to any necessary technical revisions 
prior to recording, conditioned upon final engineering approval, dedication of right-of-way for Wolf Road 
and legal documentation that the detention pond will be maintained by the Olde Stone 1st Addition HOA.  



S W
OL

F R
D

S 116TH AVE

W STEGER RD

STOLL RD

AS
TE

R 
DR

ME
RR

ITT
ON

 R
D

SU N RIV ER DR

MISTY FAL LS LN

FIR
EN

ZE
 D

R

SIENA DR

CRIMSON LN

COBBLESTONE
TRL

HINSPETER DR

MCKENNA DR

SUNBURST PT

HUGHESST

LAURA LN

F ALLS VIEW WAY

W ZERMATT DR

COQUILLE DR

AZURE DR

S
DU

BL
IN

CT

JE
AN

ET
TE

 C
T

AU
TU

MN D
R

S
DUBLIN WAY

VENEZIA DR
W YORK DR

FIVE O
AKS DR

W
TO

RIN O WAY

AMHEARST CT
S JACKSON

BR

W VIENN A WAY

S APPHIRE CT

PORT WELLER
C T

S M
UN

IC
H 

CT

MERRITTON CT

SUN RIVER PT

HARVEST DR

RUBY CT

DIAMOND CT

ASTER CT

COQUILLE DR

FLAGSTONE TURN

PATRICK CT

W YORK CT

HOME CT

RIVERSIDE DR

WELLAND CT

NETHERBY WAY

MI
ST

Y F
AL

LS
 CI

R

SWANSTONE CT

QUARTZ CT

S PERTH CT

W CHIMAY CT

TOPANGA CYN

JA
CK

SO
N 

BR
AN

CH
 C

T

AMBER CT

AZURE CIR
S DUBLIN CIR

AUTUMN DR

Olde Stone 1st Addition

µ
0 500 1,000250

Feet



S W
OL

F R
D

S 116TH AVE

W STEGER RD

AS
TE

R 
DR

ME
RR

ITT
ON

 R
D

MISTY FALLS LN
HINSPETER DR

STOLL RD

LAURA LN

W ZERMATT DR

FIRENZE DR

S D
UB

LIN
CT SIENA DR

HUGHES ST

SDUBLIN WAY

W YORK DR

W
TO

RINO WAY

AMHEARST CT

SUNBURST PT
MCKENNA DR

PATRICK CT

W YORK CT

W VIE NNA WAY

PORT WELLER
C T

COQUILLE DR S M
UN

IC
H 

CT

MERRITTON CT

HARVEST DR

ASTER CT

SUN RIVER DR

SUN RIVER DR

FIVE OAKS DR

HOME CTNETHERBY WAY

FLAGSTONE TURN

SUN RIVER PT

S PERTH CT

W CHIMAY CT

AZURE DR

VENEZIA DR

JA
CK

SO
N 

BR
AN

CH
 C

T

JEANETTE CT

MISTY FALLS CIR

SWANSTONE CT
AZURE CIR

S DUBLIN CIR

RUBY CT

S JACKSON BR

QUARTZ CT

Zoning Map - Olde Stone 1st Addition

µ

0 500 1,000250
Feet

E-R

R-2

E-R

R-2

R-2

A-1 (County)

E-R (County)



National Flood Hazard Layer FIRMette

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000250
Feet

Ü

SEE FIS REPORT FOR DETAILED LEGEND AND INDEX MAP FOR FIRM PANEL LAYOUT

SPECIAL FLOOD
HAZARD AREAS

Without Base Flood Elevation (BFE)
Zone A, V, A99

With BFE or DepthZone AE, AO, AH, VE, AR

Regulatory Floodway

0.2% Annual Chance Flood Hazard, Areas
of 1% annual chance flood with average
depth less than one foot or with drainage
areas of less than one square mileZone X

Future Conditions 1% Annual
Chance Flood HazardZone X

Area with Reduced Flood Risk due to
Levee. See Notes.Zone X

Area with Flood Risk due to LeveeZone D

NO SCREENArea of Minimal Flood HazardZone X

Area of Undetermined Flood HazardZone D

Channel, Culvert, or Storm Sewer

Levee, Dike, or Floodwall

Cross Sections with 1% Annual Chance
17.5 Water Surface Elevation

Coastal Transect

Coastal Transect Baseline
Profile Baseline
Hydrographic Feature

Base Flood Elevation Line (BFE)

Effective LOMRs

Limit of Study
Jurisdiction Boundary

Digital Data Available

No Digital Data Available

Unmapped

This map complies with FEMA's standards for the use of
digital flood maps if it is not void as described below.
The basemap shown complies with FEMA's basemap
accuracy standards

The flood hazard information is derived directly from the
authoritative NFHL web services provided by FEMA. This map
was exported on 3/15/2022 at 2:51 PM  and does not
reflect changes or amendments subsequent to this date and
time. The NFHL and effective information may change or
become superseded by new data over time.

This map image is void if the one or more of the following map
elements do not appear: basemap imagery, flood zone labels,
legend, scale bar, map creation date, community identifiers,
FIRM panel number, and FIRM effective date. Map images for
unmapped and unmodernized areas cannot be used for
regulatory purposes.

Legend

OTHER AREAS OF
FLOOD HAZARD

OTHER AREAS

GENERAL
STRUCTURES

OTHER
FEATURES

MAP PANELS

8

B
20.2

The pin displayed on the map is an approximate
point selected by the user and does not represent
an authoritative property location.

1:6,000

87°53'43"W 41°28'44"N

87°53'6"W 41°28'17"N

Basemap: USGS National Map: Orthoimagery: Data refreshed October, 2020



Olde Stone Village

Source: Esri, Maxar, GeoEye, Earthstar Geographics, CNES/Airbus DS,
USDA, USGS, AeroGRID, IGN, and the GIS User Community

Wetlands
Estuarine and Marine Deepwater
Estuarine and Marine Wetland

Freshwater Emergent Wetland
Freshwater Forested/Shrub Wetland
Freshwater Pond

Lake
Other
Riverine

May 5, 2021

0 0.2 0.40.1 mi

0 0.3 0.60.15 km

1:11,924

This page was produced by the NWI mapper
National Wetlands Inventory (NWI)

This map is for general reference only. The US Fish and Wildlife 
Service is not responsible for the accuracy or currentness of the 
base data shown on this map. All wetlands related data should 
be used in accordance with the layer metadata found on the 
Wetlands Mapper web site.

STEGER RD

W
O

LF R
D



Lot # Lot Size Lot Size After Combinations
1 21,720 21,720 Lot # Size (SF)
2 24,494 1 19,992
3 31,033 2 16,799
4 23,455 23,455 3 16,799
5 21,756 21,756 4 17,071
6 18,453 18,453 5 26,804
7 16,739 16,739 6 25,230
8 15,000 15,000 7 22,254
9 17,024 17,024 8 20,310

10 23,303 23,303 9 18,469
11 23,471 23,471 10 20,860
12 15,583 15,583 11 20,561
13 15,000 15,000 12 18,118
14 18,034 18,034 13 17,000
15 24,079 24,079 14 17,000
16 31,061 31,061 15 16,933
17 22,694 22,694 16 Outlot C
18 20,766 20,766 AVG 19,613
19 19,090 19,090
20 17,191 17,191
21 29,482 29,482
22 25,658 25,658
23 20,107 20,107
24 16,517 16,517
25 20,163 20,163
26 17,751 17,751
27 18,307 18,307
28 17,197 17,197
29 18,112 18,112
30 15,003 15,003
31 18,250 18,250
32 19,767 19,767
33 17,213 17,213
34 16,877 16,877
35 20,112 20,112
36 20,520 20,520
37 20,176 20,176
38 21,455 21,455
39 19,581 19,581
40 18,689
41 16,824
42 21,842 21,842
43 36,482 36,482
44 22,546 22,546
45 22,784 22,784
46 19,603 19,603
47 18,527 18,527
48 17,859 17,859
49 18,366 18,366
50 21,130 21,130
51 19,772 19,772
52 45,393 45,393
54 23,369 23,369
55 19,845
56 20,461
57 16,421
58 16,247
59 20,068 20,068
60 22,916 22,916
61 28,634 28,634
62 20,805 20,805
63 22,880 22,880
64 23,876 23,876
65 22,736 22,736

32,668

40,306

55,527

35,513

1st Addition (Vienna Way)



66 17,632 17,632
67 16,745 16,745
68 19,169 19,169
69 18,092 18,092
70 16,653 16,653
71 16,161 16,161
72 19,467 19,467
73 23,201 23,201
74 15,591 15,591
75 15,780 15,780
76 15,062 15,062
77 15,955 15,955
78 22,280 22,280
79 18,575 18,575
80 17,612 17,612
81 20,183 20,183
82 26,591 26,591
83 18,120 18,120
84 16,891 16,891
85 15,463 15,463
86 17,273 17,273
87 15,268 15,268
88 18,714 18,714
89 23,142 23,142
90 25,751 25,751
91 19,203 19,203
92 19,197 19,197
93 24,822 24,822
94 21,088 21,088
95 17,226 17,226
96 16,146 16,146
97 15,308 15,308
98 19,323 19,323
99 17,298 17,298

100 15,517 15,517
101 15,102 15,102
102 15,058 15,058
103 15,383 15,383
104 24,046 24,046
105 19,779 19,779
106 19,566 19,566
107 20,842 20,842
108 25,338 25,338
109 26,865 26,865

AV. LOT SIZE (whole subdivision) 20,211 20,988
AV. LOT SIZE (east) 20,188 21,223

AV. LOT SIZE (west) 20,224 20,847
Aveage lot size of lots on the existing portion of

Vienna Way, before consolidations 20,226 23,115
Aveage lot size of lots on the existing portion of

Vienna Way, after consolidations 26,967 32,361



cgruba
Highlight



















 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Amendment Findings of Fact 

 
Article 3, Section D, Part 6 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every amendment or zoning classification change request. The 
Plan Commission must consider the following five findings based upon the evidence provided. To assist 
the Plan Commission in their review of the amendment request(s), please provide responses to the 
following “Findings of Fact.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. Existing uses of property within the general area of the property in question; 
 
 
 
 
2. The zoning classification of property within the general area of the property in question; 
 
 
 
 
3. The suitability of the property in question to the uses permitted under the existing zoning 

classification;  
 
 
 
 
4. The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, including changes, 

if any, which have taken place in its present zoning classification; 
 
 
 
 
5. The change in zoning is in conformance with the comprehensive plan of the Village and its official 

map. 
 
 
 

Single Family Residential

R-2

Current zoning would allow for large estate lots that are not cohesive with the 
surrounding properties.

The trend in the surrounding properties is R-2 single family which is being asked for.

Property is in conformance with the comprehensive plan.





Received 11.9.21



cgruba
Received



cgruba
Received





cgruba
Received





Received 11.9.21

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight

cgruba
Highlight



  1 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA June 23, 2022 

 
Project: Chase Bank – Rooftop Solar Panels 
Meeting Type:  Public Hearing 
Request: Variation 
Location:   20801 S. La Grange  
Applicant:  Breanne Mocaby, Black & Veatch for Pieper Electric 
Prop. Owner: JP Morgan Chase Co. 
Representative: Applicant  
 

Site Details 
 

Lot Size: 1.72 acres (74,923 square feet)                  Figure 1. Location Map 
PIN: 19-09-22-101-027-0000 
Proposed Zoning:  N/A 
Existing Zoning:  B-2, Community Business  
Buildings: 1 building 
Building area: 4,364 square feet 
Drive-thru canopy:  2,050 square feet (approximately) 
Lot Coverage:  8.6% (approximately) 
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property Bank Gen. 
Commercial 

B-2 

North Undeveloped Gen. 
Commercial 

B-4 

South  Commercial Gen. 
Commercial 

B-2 

East Office Gen. 
Commercial 

B-2 

West (County*) Public School Public 
Institutional 

R-2* 

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant is proposing to install rooftop solar panels on top of the existing Chase Bank building.  The 
proposed rooftop solar panels would be located on all four sides of the pitched roof, including on top of 
the pitched roof over the drive-through. Historically, the Village has classified non-residential rooftop 
solar panels as “mechanical equipment”, which must be screened from view from public rights-of-way, 
adjoining properties and adjacent residential structures.  Most non-residential buildings in the Village 
are constructed with a flat roof, using parapet walls to screen rooftop mechanical units.  Since the 
existing building has a pitched roof, the applicant is seeking variations to allow for unscreened rooftop 
equipment.  The request requires relief from two sections of the Zoning Ordinance: Article 7, Section A, 
Part 2 (c) and Article 7, Section A, Part 10, which both relate to screening mechanical equipment.  
 
 



  2 

Attachments 
• Location Map, prepared by staff (VOF GIS) scale 1:4,000  
• Location Map, prepared by staff (VOF GIS) scale 1:1,000  
• Plat of Survey, prepared by W-T Land Surveying, Inc. rec. 5.11.22 
• Proposal Summary Information (Narrative), prepared by applicant, dated 5.10.22 
• Photographic simulation provided by applicant, received 5.5.22 
• Construction drawings, provided by applicant, rec. 5.5.22 
• Variation findings of fact responses, prepared by applicant, rec. 5.19.22 
• Photographs of the site, taken by staff 5.13.22 
• Google street view images, September, November and December 2021 
• Excerpt of the PC-ZBA meeting minutes from May 26, 2022 
• Excerpt of page 33 of the 2019 Comprehensive Plan, “Green Initiatives” 
• A written response to the PC-ZBA comments from May 26, 2022, rec. 6.3.22 (new) 
• Manufacturer specifications of the proposed solar panels, rec. 6.3.22 (new) 
• Pictures of solar panels that have already been installed on other Chase Bank locations, rec. 

6.3.22 (new) 

 
History 
 

A workshop was held on this request on May 26, 2022.  A copy of the minutes has been attached to this 
report.  Summarized, the PC-ZBA comments at that time included:  
 

1. Have other technologies been investigated that site closer to the roof and do not look like solar 
panels?  

2. What is the impact on energy savings by installing the solar panels at this location?  
3. What is the life cycle of the roof?  If the roof is ever replaced, can the new shingle selection 

match the modules? Can the solar panels be painted to match the roof?  
4. Can the panels be relocated to other sides of the roof?  
5. Is there a possibility to use a hybrid technology as an alternative?  
6. Can the metal conduit be painted to match the roof?  
7. Are the proposed solar panels the latest technology?  

 

In response to the workshop comments, the applicant has provided additional information:  

1. A written response to the PC-ZBA comments from May 26, 2022 

2. Manufacturer specifications of the proposed solar panels 

3. Pictures of solar panels that have already been installed on other Chase Bank locations.  

 

Analysis 
 

1. Per the strict interpretation of the Zoning Ordinance, the rooftop solar panels must be screened 
from view from all adjacent properties and rights-of-way (all four directions).  

2. The site is bordered by mature trees along both road frontages and most of the northern 
property line.  



  3 

3. The installation of parapet walls on a building with a sloped roof would not sufficiently screen 
the rooftop solar panels, unless the parapet walls were raised to the height of the peak of the 
roof.  

4. Screening, including parapet wall screening, may block sunrays from reaching the rooftop solar 
panels.  

5. Rooftop solar panels are exempt from screening on residential structures under 30’ tall, per the 
Homeowner’s Solar Rights Act (Public Act 096-1436).  

 

Variation Findings of Fact 
 
Since there are two separate sections of the Zoning Ordinance that address rooftop equipment 
screening, the request technically requires two separate variations.  The applicant has provided 
responses to the below findings of fact for variations (attached to this report).  
 
A variance may only be issued when the standards of variation are met.   

 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable rate of return if permitted to be used 

only under the conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone.  
2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances.    
3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.  

 
For the purposes of evaluating the above standards, the following shall be considered by the Zoning 
Board of Appeals:  

 

1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific 
property involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;  

3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out 
of the property;  

4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 
interest in the property;  

5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly 
injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is 
located;  

6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be 
so at variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures 
already constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the 



  4 

character of the applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values 
within the neighborhood;  

7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 
substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

 
Affirmative Motion    

For the Commission’s consideration, staff is providing the following proposed affirmative motions.  

1. Recommend the Village Board approve a variation from Article 7, Section A, Part 2 (c) of the 
Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit service/utility areas (rooftop solar panels) that 
are not screened from view on the existing building located at 20801 S. La Grange Road in 
accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 
 

2. Recommend the Village Board approve a variation from Article 7, Section A, Part 10 of the 
Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance to permit service/utility areas (rooftop solar panels) that 
are not screened from view on the existing building located at 20801 S. La Grange Road in 
accordance with the submitted plans, public testimony, and Findings of Fact. 
 

 
 
 



S L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D

ABBEY DR

E COLORADO AVE
W COLORADO AVE

LINCOLNWAY
LN

MARKET ST

ABBOT CT

FOX RUN CT

N 
BA

NK
VIE

W
 D

R

VAIL D R

W BANKVIEW DR

ASHLEY CT

CA
RD

IN
AL

 C
T

AB
BE

Y W
OODS CT N

PUEB LO CT

HUNT CLUB DR

BOULDER CT

FR
AN

CI
SC

A 
WA

Y

FOX RUN CIR

µ

20801 S. La Grange - Chase Bank

0 250 500125
Feet



E COLORADO AVE

S L
A 

GR
AN

GE
 R

D

W COLORADO AVE

µ
20801 S. La Grange - Chase Bank

0 100 20050
Feet



cgruba
Received



 

 
 
I. PROPOSAL SUMMARY INFORMATION 
 
 
DATE:     May 10, 2022 
      
 
APPLICANT:     

Breanne Mocaby with Black & Veatch  
     19801 SW 72nd Ave Suite 200 
     Tualatin, OR 97062 
 
     Telephone: 503-443-4462 
     Email:  MocabyB@bv.com 
 
PROPERTY OWNER:   JP Morgan Chase  
 
REQUEST: Variance to Article 7, Section A, Part 3 C.7 and Article 7, 

Section A Part 10 to add solar panels and associated 
equipment. 

 
PARCEL NUMBER:   19-09-22-101-027-0000 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOT 1 IN BANKONE FRANKFORT SUB, A RESUB OF LOT 

1 (EX THAT PRT THROF CONVEYED TO IDOT PER R90-
051268); AND ALL OF LOT 2 IN COURTYARD SUB UNIT 
1, BEING A SUB OF PRT OF THE NW1/4 OF SEC 22, 
T35N-R12E. 

    
LOCATION: 20801 S La Grange Rd Frankfort, IL 60423 
 
ZONING: B2 Community Business District 
 
     
 
 
  

cgruba
Received



| Page 2 

II. PROJECT DESCRIPTION  
 
 
JP Morgan Chase is requesting approval to obtain the applicable permits required to install, 
maintain, and operate (168) Mission Solar Modules on West, East, North and South planes 
of the pitched asphalt shingle roof. The solar installation will also include (1) Utility 
Disconnect Switch, (1) combiner panel, (1) Metering and Surge protection cabinet, (1) 
inverter fused disconnect switch and (2) inverter mounted on the wall of the Northwest side 
of the building. The new transformer for the installation will be ground mounted directly in 
front of this equipment 
 
Surrounding Area- The proposed rooftop solar installation will be located on an existing 
bank roof-top. There are no buildings proposed with this solar installation. The parcel is 
located on the corner of S. La Grange Road and Colorado Ave. The parcel is zoned for B2 
Community Business District The other B2 zoned parcels currently have an office building 
(east) and large-scale commercial complex (south). The parcel is neighbored to the north 
by B4 office district which is current vacant land and the parcel across South La Grange 
Road seems to be a High School, but is not within the city limits of Frankfort. 

 
 
Materials & Colors- The proposed installation has been designed to blend with the design 
aesthetic of the existing commercial bank building. The solar panels will be flush mounted to 
the roof and will not exceed the overall height of the building. The proposed solar panels are 
black with light gray racking. The solar panels have an anti-reflective coating to reduce glare. 



| Page 3 

The accessory equipment will be placed near existing side mounted building equipment 
away from the right of way, painted to match the existing brick and buffered by existing 
landscaping.  
Example photos from similar installations: 

 

 
Photo Simulations of the installation are attached to this application. 
 
III. APPLICABLE SECTIONS OF THE VILLAGE ZONING ORDINANCE 
 
The following sections of Zoning Ordinances are applicable to this application: 
 
Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance:  
 
Article 7, Section A, Part 3, c  



| Page 4 

c. Service/Utility Areas: All service and utility areas which include, but are not 
limited to, loading docks, exterior storage areas, dumpsters and mechanical 
equipment such as plumbing vent stacks, HVAC transformers, fans and cooling 
towers, shall be screened from view by:  
1. Locating all service/utility areas away from public rights of way and concealing 
them from building entrances, pedestrian areas and adjacent residential 
structures.  
Accessory equipment to the solar panels will be located on the NE corner of the 
building away from public rights of way and with other similar building utility 
equipment.  
 
2. Providing for joint use of service areas by multiple adjoining buildings. 
Not applicable to this application 
  
3. Incorporating trash enclosures into building design.  
Not applicable to this application 
 
4. Screening utility service areas from public view with building 
elements/materials similar in appearance to the main structure.  
Accessory equipment to the solar panels (except the invertor) will be painted to 
blend in with the color of the brick exterior.  
 
5. Providing below ground utility connections for all new developments.  
Not applicable to this application 
 
6. Locating mechanical equipment such as air conditioners/exchangers out of 
view from public rights of way and circulation paths, and away from residential 
living or sleeping areas.  
Not applicable to this application 
 
7. Screening rooftop mechanical equipment from view from adjoining properties 
by building elements such as parapet walls. 
The village of Frankfort does not have code that directly addresses roof-top solar 
installations. For this application solar panels are being considered mechanical 
equipment. However, solar panels are aesthetically dissimilar to referenced rooftop 
mechanical equipment such as cooling towers and HVAC transformers, they are low 
profile and will be installed flush with the slope of the roof with anti-glare coating 
and muted colors. Solar panel functionality is also location specific, the square 
footage covered is proportional to power generated. Solar panels cannot be 
consolidated in a small area and fully screened as is common with other mechanical 
equipment. Installation of parapet walls is not structurally possible, would severely 
limit solar panel functionality due to shading and would create an unusual 



| Page 5 

architectural appearance. It is not possible to fully screen solar panels on a sloped 
roof from adjoining properties. 
 
8. Permanent or temporary exterior storage or display of inventory, business 
vehicles or personal vehicles is prohibited without the issuance of a permit. 
Not applicable to this application 

 
9. Providing landscape screening in accordance with the Village of Frankfort 
Landscape Regulations. 
Not applicable to this application 

 
Article 7, Section A, Part 10 Screening 
 
 

a. Screening of service yards, utility meters and hardware, mechanical equipment, 
refuse areas, and/or other potentially unattractive places from public view, shall 
be accomplished by the use of walls, fencing, planting or combinations of all of 
the measures that follow.  Screening shall be equally effective in the winter and 
the summer seasons.  

  
1. Adjusting the architectural or landscape profile to screen those elements from 
view;  

  
2. Placing those elements on service courts or other locations not usable by the 
general public; or  

  
3. Integrating those elements into the architecture or landscaping of the site.  
 

The village of Frankfort does not have code that directly addresses roof-top solar 
installations. For this application solar panels are being considered mechanical equipment. 
However, solar panels are aesthetically dissimilar to referenced mechanical equipment 
such as cooling towers and HVAC transformers. Solar panels are low profile and will be 
installed flush with the slope of the roof with anti-glare coating and muted colors. Solar 
panel functionality is also location specific, the square footage covered is proportional to 
power generated. Solar panels cannot be consolidated in a small area moved to the ground 
and fully screened with walls or fences as is common with other mechanical equipment.   
The solar panel accessory equipment will be located on the northeast corner of the 
building away from view from the Colorado Ave and 280 feet away from La Grange Road. It 
will be placed alongside similar existing building mechanical equipment. It will be painted 
to match the brick of the building (except the inverter which cannot be painted for safety 
reasons) and screened by either existing or replacement landscaping. The solar accessory 
equipment will be screened similarly to existing equipment. 



| Page 6 

 
  

b. The degree of visibility and screening of service yards, utility meters and 
hardware, mechanical equipment, refuse areas and/or potentially unattractive 
places shall be evaluated using the following criteria:  

  
1. The degree of visibility from all adjacent pubic ways;  

  
2. The architectural compatibility of the design and color of the yards, meters and  
equipment of the building;  

  
3. Possible visibility from future buildings and public ways; and  

  
4. Internal overall appearance in relation to the site. 
 

The roof-top solar panels are visible from the adjacent public ways but because they are 
flush mounted and in a muted color, they are architecturally compatible with the design of 
the building. It is not possible to fully screen solar panels on a sloped roof from adjacent 
properties.  
 
Article 3, Section B, Part 3 Standards of Variation  
 

A. The Zoning Board of Appeals shall not vary the provisions of this Ordinance as 
authorized in this Article 3, Section B, unless they have made findings based upon 
the evidence presented to it in the following cases: 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to 
be used only under the conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;.  
 

JP Morgan Chase requests a variation to add solar panels to the roof-top of the existing 
building. Under strict application of the code, solar panels are not allowed on most sloped 
roof buildings and in the B-2 district flat roofs are discouraged (Article 7, Section B, Part 
5,f). Without a variance, JP Morgan Chase has no path forward to install solar on this 
property. As solar becomes more common, this will impact the resale value of the 
property. The requested variance will support Comprehensive Plan goal 4.2 “Improve  
energy efficiency, foster appropriately scaled and located local energy production and 
increase the use of renewable energy.” 
 

2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; and 
The unique architectural character of the building; having a sloped roof is encouraged by 
Village of Frankfort Site Development Regulations but this unique architectural character 
excludes the installation of solar under strict application of the code. 
  



| Page 7 

3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the 
locality. 

The roof-top solar panel installation has been designed to maximize renewable energy 
production with minimal aesthetic impacts. The panels are flush mounted with an antiglare 
coating and the equipment colors are muted. The solar panels will be visible from adjoining 
properties but they will be heavily buffered by extensive existing landscaping and trees 
along La Grange Road and Colorado Ave and between parcels. The accessory equipment 
will be located on the North side of the building, grouped with similar existing equipment 
and away from the public rights of way. The solar equipment is compatible with the 
appearance and commercial character of the neighboring properties and supports the 
community generated comprehensive plan goal of increasing the use of local renewable 
energy production. 



Received 5.5.22











Received 5.5.22

















 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Standards of Variation 

 
Article 3, Section B, Part 3 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Zoning Board of Appeals must use to evaluate every variation request. The Zoning Board of Appeals 
must answer the following three findings favorable to the applicant based upon the evidence provided. 
To assist the Zoning Board of Appeals in their review of the variation request(s), please provide responses 
to the following “Standards of Variation.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. That the property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 

the conditions allowed by the regulations in that zone;  
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances; and  
 
 
 
 
 
3. That the variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 
  
 
 
 
For the purpose of supplementing the above standards, the Zoning Board of Appeals also determines if 
the following seven facts, favorable to the applicant, have been established by the evidence. Please 
provide responses to the following additional “Standards of Variation.”  
 
1. That the particular physical surroundings, shape or topographical conditions of the specific property 

involved will bring a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations was carried out;  

 
 
 
 
 

 JP Morgan Chase requests a variation to add solar panels to the roof-top of the
existing building. Under strict application of the code, solar panels are not allowed on
most sloped roof buildings and in the B-2 district flat roofs are discouraged (Article 7,
Section B, Part 5,f). Without a variance, JP Morgan Chase has no path forward to
install solar on this property. As solar becomes more common, this will impact the
resale value of the property. The requested variance will support Comprehensive
Plan goal 4.2 “Improve  energy efficiency, foster appropriately scaled and located
local energy production and increase the use of renewable energy.”
The unique architectural character of the building; having a sloped roof is
encouraged by Village of Frankfort Site Development Regulations but this unique
architectural character excludes the installation of solar under strict application of the
code.

The roof-top solar panel installation has been designed to maximize renewable
energy production with minimal aesthetic impacts. The panels are flush mounted with
an antiglare coating and the equipment colors are muted. The solar panels will be
visible from adjoining properties but they will be heavily buffered by extensive existing
landscaping and trees along La Grange Road and Colorado Ave and between
parcels. The accessory equipment will be located on the North side of the building,
grouped with similar existing equipment and away from the public rights of way. The
solar equipment is compatible with the appearance and commercial character of the
neighboring properties and supports the community generated comprehensive plan
goal of increasing the use of local renewable energy production.

The topographical conditions of the property are not relevant for this application.

cgruba
Received



2. That the conditions upon which the petition for variation is based would not be applicable, 
generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;  

 
 
 
 
 
3. That the purpose of the variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
4. That the alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by any person presently having an 

interest in the property;  
 
 
 
 
 
5. That the granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or unduly injurious to 

other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located;  
 
 
 
 
 
6. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 

variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the 
neighborhood; or  

 
 
 
 
 
7. That the proposed variation will not impair an adequate supply of air to adjacent property, 

substantially increase the danger of fire, otherwise endanger the public safety or substantially 
diminish or impair property values within the neighborhood.  

 

 

 

 

This variation is based on the fact that this roof is pitched and does not have a
parapet wall to fully screen solar panels. Other properties in this zoning classification
with flat roofs and parapets would not require a variation.

The purpose of the variation is to increase the use of renewable energy as supported
by Comprehensive plan goal 4.2; decreasing carbon footprint.

The hardship has not been created by any person presently having interest in the
property.

The granting of the variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to
other properties in the neighborhood. The proposed solar panels will reduce strain on
the power grid and provide a sustainable source of power in the neighborhood.

The addition of solar panels to the existing roof-top will not lessen the architectural
appeal or functional plan of the neighborhood. The panels will be flush mounted and 
unobtrusive. 

The proposed solar panels will be installed in compliance with all required
manufacture specifications and in compliance with local code. 



SOUTH PROPERTY LINE NEAR COLORADO ROAD ENTRANCE, LOOKING NORTHWEST 

SOUTH PROPERTY LINE, LOOKING WEST ALONG COLORADO ROAD



SOUTH FACADE OF BUILDING

SOUTH AND WEST FACADE OF BUILDING



VIEW FROM INTERSECTION OF COLORADO 
AND LA GRANGE, LOOKING NORTHEAST

VIEW OF WEST FACADE OF BUILDING FROM 
LA GRANGE, BETWEEN TREES



Google Street View, December 2021 

 

 



Google Street View, November 2021 

 



Google Street View, September 2021 

 







33

YOUR FUTURE YOUR FRANKFORT

4 | green initiatives

 ENERGY 

As technology continues to develop, improving energy 
efficiency community-wide will become easier and more 
affordable for both the Village and its residents. There are 
opportunities for both the Village and its residents to produce 
energy, conserve energy, reduce energy consumption, and 
eliminate energy waste. 

The transition to renewable energies, such as solar, wind, 
and geothermal, continues to become more cost effective 
for homes and businesses, and some are already making the 
switch. There are several incentives and rebate programs in 
Illinois for residential, commercial and industrial users alike, 
including renewable energy production tax credits, special 
tax assessments, and solar energy buy-back programs. As 
each type of system can create different impacts Frankfort 
should continually evaluate its regulations to assure a proper 
balance of renewable energy benefits and the impacts of 
their installation.

SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS (SES)

SESs are made up of panels that contain photo-voltaic (PV) 
cells that convert the sunlight into electricity that is then 
used to supply renewable energy to a home or business. 
Solar systems come in many forms, including building-
mounted panels that are mounted to the facade or roof 
of a building, building-integrated systems that replace or 
substitute an architectural or structural part of the building 
(i.e. solar roofing materials or solar windows), and ground-
mounted systems that are not attached to a building. 

COMMUNITY SOLAR GARDEN

Through the Community Solar Program, residents and 
businesses can “subscribe” (lease or purchase) a portion 
of the electricity produced by a solar installation (a.k.a. 
community solar garden) within their service area, and 
in return receive credits on their electric bills. This allows 
residents and businesses access to solar energy without 
having to install solar panels on their property. Because the 
program allows subscribers to simply pay for their energy 
per kWh, it is great for residents and businesses who do not 
want–or are not able–to pay the upfront costs of installing 
solar panels. It is also ideal for consumers who are interested 

in using solar power, but are unable to–or cannot–install 
panels on their property. Given the scale of community solar 
gardens it is appropriate to consider them as a distinct land 
use and develop regulations to address their unique visual, 
environmental, and hydrological impacts.

GEOTHERMAL HEATING & COOLING

Geothermal heating and cooling systems circulate fluid 
through heating or cooling loops which either extract heat 
from or deposit heat into the ground, taking advantage of 
the consistent temperatures below the Earth’s surface. While 
the cost and installation of geothermal systems are more 
expensive than an HVAC system, they require less energy 
to operate, saving money on utility bills. These systems are 
generally considered to be one of the most efficient systems, 
extending cost savings of 30 - 70% on monthly utility bills.

WIND ENERGY

Wind Turbines us wind to generate electricity, which is 
transferred to the power grid and then distributed by 
utility providers to customers. There are two main types 
of wind energy that can be used installed on land: utility-
scale wind and “small” wind. Utility-scale wind is created 
by large turbines, ranging in size from 100 kilowatts (kW) 
to several megawatts (MW). Small wind turbines produce 
less than 100 kWh and are generally not connected to the 
power grid, providing the energy directly to a home, farm 
or small business.  In considering regulations for wind 
energy systems the Village should consider potential visual 
and noise impacts and develop appropriate buffering 
requirements from residential uses.

GOAL: Promote energy efficiency, foster 
appropriately scaled land located local energy 
production and increase the use of renewable/
alternative energy.



Black & Veatch Corporation 
175 Regency Woods Place, Suite 300, Cary, NC 27518  

P +1 919-462-7397 E brinkerZR@bv.com 

 

6/2/2022 
 
Dear Village of Frankfort Plan Commission: 
 
We are writing in response to the (paraphrased) comments made during the Zoning Board of Appeals 
Meeting on May 26, 222 for Project 602100 at 20801 S. La Grange Road. We hope that this response and 
associated documents will address your comments. 
 
 
ZONING COMMENTS 
  

1. Have other technologies been investigated sit closer to the roof and don’t look like solar panels. 
 
B&V Response: The solar module and racking solution selected provides a low profile that only 
protrudes from the roof surface by less than 5.5”. Solar modules are an industry-proven, reliable, 
and more efficient solar solution when compared to more recent solar shingle alternatives. 
 

2. What is the impact on energy savings by installing solar roof at this location? 
 
B&V Response: The solar installation will generate roughly 49% of the current annual energy 
consumption at this facility. 

 
3. What is the life cycle of the roof? If the roof is ever replaced, can the new shingle selection match 

the modules? Can the solar panels be painted to match the roof?  
 
B&V Response: The roof is 10-15 years old and, after inspection, was found to be in good condition. 
The property manager is not currently planning to replace the roof. The solar panels cannot be 
painted to match the existing shingles. 

 
4. Can we relocate panels to the other side of the roof? 
 

B&V Response: No. All other roof planes have been optimized for module density while also 
adhering to the code-required setbacks and fire access pathways. 
 

5. Is the possibility of using a hybrid technology as an alternative? 
 
B&V Response: The Owner of the facility specifically requested PV solar to be installed at this 
branch. While alternative sustainable energy solutions, other than PV solar, do exist; they fall 
outside the scope of this installation. 

 
6. Can we paint the metal conduit to match the roof.  

 
B&V Response: Yes 

 
7. Please demonstrate that the solar panels we are using are the most up to date technology. 

 
B&V Response: Please see attached Mission Solar module cut sheet. Mission Solar is a reputable 
solar module manufacturer of high quality, made in America, solar modules. The modules being 
used for this program are industry proven, reliable and are on par with the latest module 
technology. 

 
 
 
 

cgruba
Received



| Page 2 

Best Regards, 
 
 
 
Zach Brinker 
Engineering Manager 
Black & Veatch Corporation 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 



cgruba
Received





Example photos from other sites:

cgruba
Received



Frankfort Site photos:
From the roof facing west towards S. Lagrange Road

From the roof facing south towards Colorado Ave

Existing Condition of the roof



1 
 

                                          

Planning Commission / ZBA                                                                                                                                                                                                   S                                        June 23, 2022 

 
Project: Misty Creek Townhomes    
Meeting Type:  Pre-Workshop   
Requests: Rezoning, PUD, Final Plat of Resubdivision 
Location:   Northwest corner of Laraway Road and 116th Ave  
Applicant:  Flaherty Builders, Inc.  
Prop. Owner:  Laraway 157 C, LLC  
Representative: Michael Flaherty 
 
Site Details 
 

Gross Area: 422,532 sq. ft. (9.7 acres)                                                  Figure 1. Location Map     
Net Area 257,004 sq. ft. (5.9 acres) 
PIN(s): 19-09-30-300-011-0000 
Existing Zoning:  E-R   
Proposed Zoning: R-4 
Future Land Use:  General Commercial 
Buildings: 14 buildings (duplexes & triplexes) 
Units:  32   
 
Adjacent Land Use Summary:  

 
Project Summary  
 

The applicant, Flaherty Builders, Inc., is proposing a 32-unit townhome development for “Misty Creek”, located 
immediately to the south of Hickory Creek Middle School.  The 32 units would be in the form of four (4) triplexes 
and eleven (10) duplexes.  The project would require rezoning the property from E-R (Estate Residential) to R-4 
(Attached Single-Family Residential) and obtaining a Special Use Permit to allow development of the site as a PUD.  
Duplexes and triplexes are permitted uses in the R-4 zone district.  Each townhome will be located on a private lot 
within the development, very similar to the recent Plat of Resubdivision for Lighthouse Pointe Phase 3 (also zoned 
R-4 with a PUD overlay).  A new public road (Misty Creek Lane) is proposed through the center of the 
development, connecting to both Laraway Road and 116th Ave.  PUD developments are intended to “provide a 
maximum of design freedom by permitting the developer an opportunity to more fully utilize the physical 
characteristics of the site…” and “should only be employed in instances where a benefit for the community can truly 
be derived from its use”.  As such, the PUD allows the applicant to seek “exceptions” from Zoning Ordinance 
regulations, instead of requesting variances.  To offset the requested exceptions, the PUD development should 
offer a higher quality development with amenities for the enjoyment of the residents of the development and the 
Village overall.   
 
 
 

 Land Use Comp. Plan Zoning 

Subject Property Undeveloped General Comm. E-R 

North Middle School Public/Institutional E-R 

South  Single Fam. Res. Single Fam. 
Detached Res. 

R-2 

East Single Fam. Res. Single Fam. 
Detached Res. 

R-2 

West Undeveloped General Comm. B-4 



2 
 

Attachments 
1. Aerial Photographs, Village of Frankfort GIS (large scale and small scale) 
2. Plat of Survey, received January 27, 2022 
3. Existing Topography map, received May 25, 2022 
4. Plan Commission meeting minutes excerpt, March 10, 2022 
5. PUD Findings of Fact, provided by applicant, received May 25, 2022 
6. 2019 Comprehensive Plan excerpt, land use percentages 
7. Improvement and Berm Agreement (berm shared with school), April 8, 2005 
8. Traffic Assessment, prepared by KLOA, received May 25, 2022 
9. Street Sign detail, received May 25, 2022 
10. Light Pole detail, received May 25, 2022 
11. Photographs of property, taken by staff March 1, 2022 
12. Preliminary Site Plan, received May 25, 2022 
13. Preliminary Plan, received June 6, 2022 
14. Preliminary PUD Plan, received June 6, 2022 
15. Landscape Plan and details, received May 25, 2022 
16. Vehicle Turning Exhibit, received May 25, 2022 
17. Architectural Elevations, floorplans and building materials, received May 25, 2022 

    
Background 
 
The Plan Commission reviewed this project as a preliminary workshop on March 10th, 2022.  At that time, two 
different versions of the plan were presented: A 31-unit plan with an arced turn in Misty Creek Lane and a 34-unit 
plan with a 90° turn in Misty Creek Lane.  The Plan Commission preferred the road layout with a 90° turn, which 
would also comply with the Village’s Design Standards for roads and sidewalks.  Once the road layout was selected, 
the plan was reviewed again by the Village’s engineering consultant, in which it was discovered that the size of the 
detention pond would need to be enlarged.  The resulting plan before the Commission is a 32-unit plan with a 90° 
turn in Misty Creek Lane.  On March 10th, the Plan Commission requested a 2nd workshop for this project.  
 
The Plan Commission also made several comments and recommendations during the March 10th workshop.  A 
copy of the meeting minutes has been attached to this report, but summarized here:  
 

1. The Commission was generally in favor of the use of the property for single-family attached units, despite 
the property being planned for “General Commercial” in the Future Land Use Map of the 2019 
Comprehensive Plan.  

2. The proposed residential use would have less of a negative impact on the existing traffic patterns in the 
vicinity, especially considering the school traffic.  

3. The Commission requested that a landscape berm be installed along 116th Avenue, which is reflected on 
the current plans.  

4. The Commission did not prefer that the dog park be located at the intersection of Laraway Road and 116th 
Avenue and asked for other options to be explored.  The applicant relocated the “pet park” to the west 
side of the detention pond.  

5. The Commission requested that there be more color variation on the buildings.  The materials board has 
been amended to include two different trim options for the buildings.  

The following information will be required prior to scheduling a public hearing for the project:  

1. A Yield Plan will be required (page 30).  A Yield Plan is required for PUD developments to determine the 
“base density” of a project.  The Yield Plan should illustrate the number of dwelling units that could be fit 
on the site if developed under the R-4 zone district regulations without a PUD overlay.   



3 
 

2. Any ground-mounted mechanical units should be illustrated on the Site Plan and Landscape Plan.  

3. A common open space management plan will be required (page 28).  

Analysis 
 

2019 Comprehensive Plan 
 

1. The Comprehensive Plan illustrates the subject property as “General Commercial”.  This designation does 
not encourage property to be rezoned for residential purposes, as is proposed.  However, an argument 
could be made in favor of a rezoning to R-4 (Attached Single-Family Residential):   

a) The subject property is located adjacent to an existing middle school.  If the property were 
rezoned to B-2, a zone district recommended by the Comprehensive Plan, it would permit dry 
cleaners, restaurants and many types of general retail businesses by-right.  Other uses, such as 
gas stations, auto repair, auto sales, car washes and taverns would be permitted if granted a 
Special Use Permit.  These commercial uses could be viewed as less compatible with the existing 
school.   

b) An undeveloped, 4.3-acre property exists immediately to the west of the subject property and is 
zoned B-4 (Office).  Further west of that, at the northeast corner of Laraway Road and Elise 
Boulevard, is a 2.5-acre undeveloped parcel, zoned B-2 (Community Business).  The loss of 
commercial zoning on the subject property would not result in a complete absence of 
commercially zoned property in the immediate area.   

c) Considering that the area and intersection near the school can be busy during school hours, the 
additional traffic added to this intersection as part of a commercial development may be 
undesirable. 

During the March 10th workshop, the Commission expressed approval of the residential use as proposed.  

Should the property be rezoned to R-4, staff recommends amending the 2019 Comprehensive Plan’s 
Future Land Use Map to reflect the change and reclassify the property as “Single-Family Attached 
Residential”.  

Zoning 
 

1. The subject property is currently zoned E-R, Estate Residential.  The applicant is proposing rezoning the 
property to R-4 (Attached, Single-Family Residential), with a Special Use Permit to develop the site as a 
PUD.  The R-4 zone district permits duplexes and triplexes by-right.  The PUD overlay would allow 
“exceptions” from the Zoning Ordinance, instead of requesting several variances.  These exceptions are 
intended to be offset by offering “tangible benefits”, including but not limited to, recreational amenities, 
open space, enhanced landscaping and enhanced building materials.  A list of requested exceptions and 
tangible benefits have been listed at the end of this report.   

Site Plan  
 
General Comments:  
 

1. The R-4 zone district allows a maximum residential density of up to 5 dwelling units/acre.  The applicant is 
proposing a density of 5.42 dwelling units/acre, requiring an exception under the PUD Special Use Permit. 
The original site plan for the first workshop did not exceed the 5 dwelling units/acre, but due to the 
enlargement of the detention pond, which subtracts from the net buildable area, the density now exceeds 
this regulation.   

 



4 
 

2. The hatched rear squares attached to each dwelling unit indicate optional enclosed sunrooms.  
Unhatched rectangles attached to the rear of a dwelling units indicates an unroofed, unenclosed patio 
only.  All of the dwelling units, except for units 1-6 would be permitted an optional sunroom.   

 
3. No fences, walls or retaining walls are proposed as part of this development other than for the pet park.  

A 4’ tall, faux wrought iron style black aluminum fencing is proposed to enclose the dog run area within 
the pet park.  The majority of the pet park will be unfenced.  

 
4. In discussions with Public Works, the streetlights may be the acorn-style fixtures, but the lighting element 

must be LED.  Staff also recommends installing reflectors at the top of the acorn fixture to help minimize 
light pollution, although this is not a requirement in the Zoning Ordinance.  Streetlights without cut-off 
fixtures, as in this case, cannot exceed 12’ tall within the R-4 zone district. The proposed light poles are 
14.67’ measured to the top of the light fixture, requiring an exception as part of the PUD Special Use 
Permit.  
 

5. Per the Public Works Department, sections of the existing sidewalk along Laraway Road that are 
overgrown with grass must be unearthed and washed.  Sections of sidewalk that are shattered or have an 
elevation change between sections of more than 1” must be replaced.  
 

Dimensional Table 

 
  R-4 Proposed Notes 

Minimum Lot Size* 

Min 28,500 sq. ft., 
or 5,000 sq. ft. per 
dwelling unit 2,870-5,018 sq. ft 

Exception required as part of PUD 

Density 5 units/net ac. 5.42 units/net ac. Exception required as part of PUD 
Front Yard Setback (east) 40’ min 32’ Exception required as part of PUD 
Corner Side Yard Setback 
(south)** 40’ min 50’ +/-  

Side Yard Setback (north) 15’ min 20.59’  
Rear Yard Setback (west) 40’ min 31.3’ Exception required as part of PUD 
Building side-to-side 
separation 30’ min 30.1’  

Setback from HWL of 
detention pond 40’ min 80’ +/-  

Building Height 35’ max 30.5’  

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 0.25 max 0.19  
Lot Coverage 50% max 18.5%   
Impervious Lot Coverage 50% max 43.7%   

 
*Min lot size: The smallest lot is 2870 square feet (Lot 2) and the largest lots are 5,018 square feet (Lots 25, 27-30 
and 32).  Smaller lot sizes can be created as part of a PUD, as was done for Lighthouse Point Phase 3.   
 
**Setback from Laraway Road: There is no 125’ building setback requirement from the centerline of Laraway Road 
for the R-4 zone district.  Coincidentally, the closest building on Lot 1 is approximately 125’ from the centerline of 
Laraway Road.  

 
Parking & Loading 
 

1. Each dwelling unit is required to provide a two-car garage (page 121). Every unit will have a 2-car garage, 
meeting this requirement.  



5 
 

 
2. Each dwelling unit is required to provide 0.5 off-street guest parking spaces for each dwelling unit (page 

121).  There are 32 units, requiring 16 parking spaces.  In addition, each dwelling unit is required to 
provide 0.5 off-street guest parking spaces for each 1,200 square feet of floor area (page 154).  There is a 
total floor area of 67,050 square feet, requiring 28 parking spaces.  The total required off-street guest 
parking required is 44 spaces.  Driveways over 25’ long may satisfy this requirement (page 121).  There are 
at least 23 driveways that are at least 25’ long, meeting this requirement.  Each driveway is approximately 
20’ wide, allowing for 2 cars each.  
 

3. Although not counted toward the guest parking requirements, Misty Creek Lane will be constructed as a 
public road, and parking would be permitted on both sides of the street.  
 

Circulation 
 

1. Misty Creek Lane will be constructed as a public, “local access road”, with a 66’ right-of-way and 32’ 
roadway pavement width.  The road complies with the Village’s Design Standards.  
 

2. A traffic study is required for PUD developments (page 39).  A traffic assessment has been provided and 
prepared by KLOA, received May 25, 2022.  The assessment concludes that the proposed development 
“will have a limited impact on the existing area roadway conditions”.  

 
3. Most of the traffic is anticipated to enter/exit from Laraway Road.  The intersection at 116th would be 

right-in, right-out only.  
 

4. Misty Creek Lane would align with Ledgestone Way, on the south side of Laraway Road.  
 

5. Laraway Road will soon be widened by the County; this plan takes this into account. The project has 
received approval from Will County to allow for a full-access drive onto Laraway Road.  

 
6. Laraway Road is classified as a “Regional Arterial Road”.  116th Avenue is classified as a “Major Collector”.  

These designations affect the landscaping (berming) required along each road frontage.  
 

Building Elevations and Floorplans 

1. Each dwelling unit shall be at least 90% masonry on the first floor and 50% on the second floor (page 148).  
The first floors are 100% masonry, and the second floors have some brick with also composite shake 
siding, composite lap siding for variety, exceeding this requirement.  
 

2. Building design in the R-4 zone district shall be original and unique (page 148).  The applicant is proposing 
a mix of materials and masonry along the entire first floor of every unit.  

 
3. Each unit is required to have a separate front and rear exit (page 120).  Only Unit C has front and rear 

access.  Units A and B have side and rear access only, requiring an exception as part of a PUD 
development.  

 
4. Mechanical equipment will be on the ground next to the units, not on rooftops.  These units should be 

illustrated on the Landscape Plan prior to a public hearing.  
 



6 
 

5. Each unit shall provide a basement at least 80% of the area of the footprint (page 120).  Although there 
are no basement floorplans submitted, this requirement is noted on the Preliminary Site Plan.  A 
basement floorplan will be required prior to a future public hearing for this project.  

 
6. The minimum square footage for a 2-bedroom unit is 1,200 SF (page 117).  Units A & B are two-bedroom 

units and measure 2,028 & 2,133 square feet respectively.  The minimum square footage for a 3-bedroom 
unit is 1,600 SF.  Unit C is a three-bedroom unit and measures 2,199 square feet.   
 

Stormwater & Drainage 
 

1. Robinson Engineering has completed preliminary engineering review of the site plan.  The plan has been 
modified to accommodate a larger on-site detention pond than was originally proposed.  
 

2. According to the National Wetlands Inventory maps, there are no wetlands or floodplains on the subject 
property.  

 
Landscaping  

The Zoning Ordinance (page 27) states:  
 
b. Landscape Screening. In accordance with the regulations of Village of Frankfort Landscape Regulations, 
screening at the edges of the planned unit development shall be regulated as follows: 
 
1. Fences, walls or vegetation screening shall be provided along the edges of the planned unit development where 
needed to protect residents from undesirable views, lighting, noise or other off-site influences, or to protect 
occupants of adjoining residential districts from similar adverse influences within the planned unit development. 
 

General Comments:  

1. There are no trees on the subject property and a tree survey was not required. 

2. A revised Landscape Plan was provided.  Staff has not performed a tree and shrub count analysis, 
although the proposed landscaping appears to meet the requirements of the Landscape Ordinance and 
may even exceed the requirements, especially along Laraway Road and 116th Avenue.  A full analysis of 
the Landscape Plan will be provided prior to a future public hearing.   

3. Street trees are required on both sides of Misty Creek Lane at a rate of 1 overstory tree for every 35’.  
Misty Creek Lane is approximately 1,100’ linear feet, requiring 32 trees on each side of the road.  The 
Landscape Plan meets this requirement.  
 

4. A landscape berm, approximately 3’ tall is located between the proposed townhomes and the school, 
located mostly on the school property.  An agreement exists between the school and the townhome 
property that this berm remain in perpetuity.  Per the Landscape Ordinance, landscape berms are 
required when two “incompatible uses” abut one another.  No definition exists of “incompatible use”, 
although it could be argued that the school and the proposed townhomes are compatible uses, therefore 
not requiring a landscape berm (although it’s already in place).  The berm may have been installed when 
the subject property was designated as commercial on the Future Land Use Map.   

 
5. Arterial Roads (Laraway Road) require a landscaped area at least 25’ wide, with plantings and a berm at 

least 3’ tall.  A landscape berm, approximately 3’ tall, would be located along Laraway Road in front of lots 
25-32 and Lot 1, meeting this requirement.  



7 
 

 
6. Collector Roads (116th Ave) require a landscaped area at least 18’ wide, with plantings and a berm at least 

2.5’ tall.  A 2.5’ berm is proposed along 116th Avenue, meeting this requirement.  
 

7. Staff recommends exploring the option to replace the 6’ wide asphalt path along the north and west 
property lines with additional, enhanced landscaping (trees and shrubs).  The reasons being are that the 
walking path open space area is less than 20’ wide, making it ineligible to be counted toward “common, 
usable open space”.  Instead, enhanced landscaping along the west property line would create a visual 
buffer between the dwelling units and the ComEd overhead powerlines, as well as any future 
commercial development that may occur on the 4.3-acre, commercially zoned (B-4) parcel to the west.  
The Zoning Ordinance also specifically notes that increased landscaping, beyond what is required, may 
count as a “tangible benefit” toward a PUD development.  Increased landscaping along the existing 
berm that is shared with the school, beyond what is currently proposed, may also be more beneficial to 
the townhome residents, creating a buffer between their units and the school sports field and vehicle 
queue drive aisle.  Lastly, the residents may not want pedestrians (and non-residents) walking along a 
path that will be approximately 10’ from their sunroom or patio.  

 
Open Space 
 
Zoning Ordinance, Page 28: Designation of Recreational Amenities and Permanent Common Open Spaces. At least 
20% of the net acreage of PUDs that contain only residential uses, and at least 20% of the net acreage of the 
residential portion of mixed-use PUDs, shall be usable common open space. 
 
Usable common open space shall be defined as follows: 
 
Active or Passive. Usable common open space may include active open space and/or passive open space, as defined 
in Article 12. 
 
Parcel Size: Each parcel of common open space used for active recreation shall be at least 10,000 square feet with a 
minimum width of 125 feet. For trail purposes the minimum open space width shall be 20 (twenty) feet. 
 
At least 20% of the development shall be usable common open space.  
 

1. As per the above definitions, the total usable common open space provided is 20,000 square feet, or 
12.85%, requiring an exception for the PUD development.  As such, the area highlighted in green on the 
Preliminary Site Plan cannot all be counted toward common usable open space and should be revised 
prior to the public hearing.  
 

2. The walking path along the west property line and along the north property line adjacent to Lot 6 is less 
than 20’ wide, making it ineligible to be counted as common, usable open space.  

 
3. The Zoning Ordinance specifically requires a “tot lot” within PUD developments.  However, the applicant 

is proposing a pet park instead, to better fit the anticipated demographic.  The pet park was originally 
proposed as public during the first workshop but is now proposed as private.  This change would require 
an exception for the PUD development. 

 
4. The proposed pet park area is 10,590 square feet.  The dog run within the pet park is approximately 2,000 

square feet and will be enclosed by a fence.  PUD developments require that open spaces such as this 



8 
 

measure at least 10,000 square feet and at least 125’ wide in any direction.  The pet park is not at least 
125’ wide in both directions and technically cannot be counted toward common, usable open space.    

 
Other 
 

1. The Fire District has reviewed the proposed site plan and does not have any additional comments at this 
time.  
 

2. A draft copy of the Covenants and Restrictions has been submitted.  
 

3. An EcoCAT clearance letter has been submitted which states that there no significant natural resources 
that would be impacted by the proposed development.  
 

4. A SHPO clearance letter has been provided which states that there are no significant cultural resources 
that would be impacted by the proposed development.  
 

5. The builder has spoken with the two school districts and Frankfort Park District and each taxing body has 
agreed to accept cash donations in lieu of any land dedication.  
 

Exceptions and Tangible Benefits (PUD) 
 
Exceptions (normally variance requests) 
 

1. The minimum lot area in the R-4 zone district is 5,000 square feet (page 116).  All lots except for six are 
under 5,000 square feet.  The smallest lot is 2870 square feet (Lot 2) and the largest lots are 5,018 square 
feet (Lots 25, 27-30 and 32).  
 

2. The Maximum Net Density in the R-4 zone district is 5 dwelling units/acre, with 5.43 proposed (page 116).  
 

3. The minimum common, usable open space provided for a residential PUD development is 20% of the net 
area (page 26).  The net area of the site is 5.9 acres, requiring 51,611 square feet, with only 20,000 square 
feet provided.  The only area that meets the definition of usable, common open space is the 20’ wide strip 
of walking trail along the north property line, adjacent to Lots 7 – 24.  

 
4. The minimum front yard setback for the R-4 zone district is 40’ (page 116).  The front yard is defined as 

the yard adjacent to 116th Ave.  Building 24 is set back 32’ from the front property line, requiring an 
exception.  

 
5. The minimum rear yard setback for the R-4 zone district is 40’ (page 116).  The rear yard is defined as the 

yard adjacent to the west property line.  Both buildings along the west property line do not meet the 40’ 
setback, with the closer building located 31.3’ from the rear property line.  

 
6. A front and rear pedestrian entrance is required for each unit (page 120).  Units A and B have front and 

side entrances, requiring an exception.  
 

7. A tot lot is required, with a pet park proposed (page 32), requiring an exception.  
 

8. Streetlights cannot exceed 12’ max height if no-cutoff fixtures are used.  Overall streetlights are 14.67’ as 
proposed, requiring an exception.  



9 
 

Tangible Benefits (to offset the exceptions) 
 
Modifications in zoning, subdivision, and other applicable regulations are privileges and will be considered by the 
Village only in direct response to the tangible benefits received from the planned unit development to the Village or 
the neighborhood in which it would be located. These benefits shall be in the form of exceptional amenities; 
outstanding environmental, landscape, architectural or site design; or the conservation of special man-made or 
natural features of the site. (page 24) 
 

1. A 10,590 square foot pet park is proposed.  Technically, this area cannot be counted toward “common, 
usable open space” because it is less than 125’ wide in both directions (page 26).  

 
2. A 6’ wide asphalt walking trail is proposed along west and north property lines, within a greenspace area 

at least 20’ wide along the north property line and approximately 19’ wide along the west property line.  
Technically, the walking trail along the west property line cannot be counted toward “common, usable 
open space because it is less than 20’ wide (page 26).  

 
3. A 100% masonry building façade is proposed, whereas 90% is required (page 148).  

 
4. Off-site landscaping is proposed on school property on the shared landscape berm.  

 

Special Use Request (PUD) 
 
The following findings of fact are used to judge the merit of a special use permit request.   
 
Findings of Fact: 
 

1. No special use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission, unless such Commission shall find: 

2. That the establishment, maintenance or operation of the special use will not be detrimental to, or 
endanger, the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare.   

3. That the special use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 
vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood.   

4. That the establishment of the special use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of the surrounding property for uses permitted in the district.  

5. That the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of any proposed structure will not be so at 
variance with either the exterior architectural appeal and functional plan of the structures already 
constructed, or in the course of construction in the immediate neighborhood or the character of the 
applicable district, as to cause a substantial depreciation in the property values within the neighborhood.   

6. That the adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and/or necessary facilities have been or are being 
provided.   

7. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 
minimize traffic congestion in the public streets.   



10 
 

8. That the special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 
which it is located, except as such regulations may, in each instance, be modified by the Village Board, 
pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission.   

PUD Objectives: 
 

1. In addition to the general purpose of this Ordinance, the purpose of this section is to establish standards 
and procedures for Planned Unit Developments, in order that the following objectives may be obtained: 
 
a. Encourage variety and flexibility in land development that is necessary to meet the best interests of 

the entire Village; 
 

b. Regulate the allocation, maintenance and permanent preservation of common open space, recreation 
areas and facilities to offer recreational opportunities close to home and to enhance the appearance 
of neighborhoods by the conservation of natural resources; 

 
c. Provide for a variety of housing types to accommodate the life stages and lifestyle choices of a range 

of persons, by allowing development that would not be possible under the strict application of the 
other sections of this Ordinance; 

 
d. Preserve natural vegetation, topographic and geologic features, and other natural resources and 

amenities, and improve air and water quality; 
 

e. Use a creative approach to the use of land and related physical facilities that results in better design 
and provision of exceptional amenities; 

 
f. Prioritize an efficient use of land, resulting in more economic networks of utilities, streets, schools, 

public grounds and buildings and other community facilities; 
 

g. Support land use which promotes the public health, safety, comfort and welfare; and 
 

h. Encourage innovations in residential, commercial and industrial development so that growing 
demands of the population may be met by greater variety in type, design and layout of space ancillary 
to said buildings. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



S 116TH AVE

W LARAWAY RD

ANISE DR

MARY DR

CLOVE DR

SANDALWOOD DR

LEDGESTONE WAY

MISTY FALLS LN

MYRRH LN

COBBLEST ONE T RL
EM

ILY
 LN

ALANA LN

JASMINE DR

JENNIFER ST CL
AR

Y S
AG

E 
DR

TEA TREE LN

ELISE BLVD

FALLS VIEW WAY

FLAGSTONE TURN

LEIGH CT

AMHEARST CT

NPE
BB

LE LAKE CT

SAPPHIRE CT

PORT WELLER
C T

BROOKE CT

CA
RO

LIN
E C

T

RUBY CT

DIAMOND CT

MERRITTON RD

ME
RR

ITT
ON

 R
D

WELLAND CT

NETHERBY WAY

MI
ST

Y F
AL

LS
 CI

R

QUARTZ CT

SHALESTONE CT

FLINTSTONE CT

SANDSTONE CT

CANADIAN RR

S PEBBLE LAKE CT

Misty Creek Townhomes

µ

0 600 1,200300
Feet



S 116TH AVE

ANISE DR

MARY DR

W LARAWAY RD

SANDALWOOD DR

CL
AR

Y S
AG

E 
DR

EM
ILY

 LN

LEDGESTONE WAY
JENNIFER ST

CO
BB

LE
ST

ONE
TR

L

ALANA LN

SAPPHIRE CT

FALLS VI EW WAY

MYRRH LN

CA
RO

LIN
E C

T

ELISE BLVD

BROOKE CT

MI
ST

Y F
AL

LS
 LN

RUB Y CT

SANDSTONE CT

EMILY LN

MI
ST

Y F
AL

LS
 CI

R

Misty Creek Townhomes

µ

0 400 800200
Feet



cgruba
Received



1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

8
'
'
W

8
'
'
W

8
'
'
W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

12''W

O
H

U

O
H

U

O
H

U

OHU

O
H

U

O
H

U

O
H

U O
H

U

O
H

U

O
H

U

O
H

U

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU OHU

OHU

OHU

OHU

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

L
edgestone            W

ay

Laraway Road

Laraway Road

116th
A

venue
O

w
ens  R

oad

C
om

m
onw

ealth   E
dison   C

o.   R
.O

.W
.

8
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

W

W

1

0

'
'
W

1
0
'
'
W

1

0

'
'
W

Vacant
(No Buildings)

9.705 Acres (more or less)

P.I.N. 19-09-30-300-011-0000

Frankfort School District 157-C

(Hickory Creek Middle School)
P.I.N. 19-09-30-300-010-0000

S
an

d
alw

o
o

d
 E

state
s - U

n
it #

1

D
o

c. N
o

. R
9
7
--0

8
6
6
5
9

14

15

13

12

Cobblestone Walk

Doc. No. R2002-219671Stonebridge Valley

Doc. No. R2000-094897

1 52 51 50 5 4 3 2 1

Stonebridge Valley

Doc. No. R2000-094897

Cobblestone Walk

Doc. No. R2002-219671

Outlot D

85

B
ro

o
k
m

e
ad

o
w

 E
state

s

D
o

c. N
o

. R
2
0
0
4
-1

5
3
4
8
0

E X C E P T I O N

E X C E P T I O N

E
 X

 C
 E

 P
 T

 I O
 N

E X C E P T I O N

E
 X

 C
 E

 P
 T

 I O
 N

N
:
\
T

e
c
h

\
2

0
2

0
\
1

5
1

3
\
E

n
g

i
n

e
e

r
i
n

g
\
P

l
a

n
 
S

e
t
s
\
C

1
 
-
 
T

o
w

n
h

o
u

s
e

 
P

l
a

n
s
\
B

a
s
e

 
D

r
a

w
i
n

g
s
\
1

5
1

3
B

a
s
e

 
-
 
E

n
g

i
n

e
e

r
i
n

g
.
d

w
g

,
 
M

o
d

e
l
,
 
9

/
8

/
2

0
2

1
 
1

:
2

2
:
3

4
 
P

M
,
 
r
p

e
e

p
l
e

s

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE BENCHMARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAVEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A S P H A L T

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST LINE, W. 1/2, E. 1/2, NW 1/4, SEC. 31-35-12

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST LINE, SW 1/4, SEC. 30-35-12

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH LINE, SW 1/4, SEC. 30-35-12

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
30

AutoCAD SHX Text
10' WIDE COMMONWEALTH EDISON CO., ILLINOIS BELL TELEPHONE/SBC AMERITECH EASEMENT PER DOC. NO. R2005048525  

jlduffy
Length Measurement
65'-9 1/4"

cgruba
Received



cgruba
Highlight









 
 

Application for Plan Commission / Zoning Board of Appeals Review 
Planned Unit Development (PUD) Standards 

 
Article 3, Section F, Part 4 of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists “findings” or “standards” that 
the Plan Commission must use to evaluate every PUD Preliminary Plan and Final Plan. The Plan 
Commission must consider the extent to which the proposal fulfills the following seven standards. To 
assist the Plan Commission in their review of the PUD request, please provide responses to the following 
“Review Standards.” Please attach additional pages as necessary.  
 
1. The plan is designed to protect the public health, welfare and safety. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. The proposed development does not cause substantial injury to the value of other property in the 

immediate area. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
3. The plan provides for protection of the aesthetic and function of the natural environment, which 

shall include, but not be limited to, flood plains, streams, creeks, lakes, ponds, wetlands, soil and 
geologic characteristics, air quality, vegetation, woodlands, and steep slopes.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
4. The plan provides for and ensures the preservation of adequate recreational amenities and common 

open spaces. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

jlduffy
Text Box

cgruba
Received



5. Residential use areas may provide a variety of housing types to achieve a balanced neighborhood. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. The planned unit development provides land area to accommodate cultural, educational, 

recreational and other public and quasi-public activities to serve the needs of the residents thereof. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7. The proposed development provide for the orderly and creative arrangement of all land uses with 

respect to each other and to the entire Village. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Article 3, Section F, Part 5, letter ‘d’ of the Village of Frankfort Zoning Ordinance lists two additional 
“findings” or “standards” related specifically to residential or mixed-use PUDs to permit uses that are 
otherwise not permitted in the underlying zoning district. For these specific types of proposals, the Plan 
Commission must also find the following. Please provide responses to the following additional “Review 
Standards.” 
 
1. That the uses permitted by such exceptions are necessary or desirable and are appropriate with 

respect to the primary purpose of the planned unit development; 
 
 
 
 
 
 
2. That the uses permitted by such exception are not of such a nature or so located as to exercise a 

detrimental influence on the surrounding neighborhood; 
 
 
 
 
 
 



83

YOUR FUTURE YOUR FRANKFORT

8 | land use

 FUTURE LAND USE PLAN MAP 

The Future Land Use Plan Map is a guide to development 
and a tool used to evaluate the appropriateness of a zoning 
change. Zoning is the legal mechanism that controls the 
use of land.  The Future Land Use Plan and is not intended 
to indicate precise boundaries between uses. For example, 
the boundary between two different land uses could vary 
somewhat from the boundary illustrated on the Future Land 
Use Plan when it is time to apply specific zoning to a parcel 
of land. Zoning decisions should be based on how a specific 
proposal relates to existing uses, the physical conditions of 
the property, existing zoning, and to this plan. The Village will 
consider proposals for land development that varies from 
the plan. If the proposal will enhance the Village, Frankfort 
may amend the Future Land Use Plan Map, and the related 
zoning map, to approve the proposed use.

Table 8.1 summarizes the land area coverage of the future 
land uses depicted on the Future Land Use Plan map. Total 
residential land uses comprise about 54% of total land 
area, with Single-Family Detached making up the greatest 
percentage of all land uses (29%). Out of all non-residential 
land uses, Business Park areas comprise the most land area 
at 12% with Agriculture (10%), Parks and Open Space (10%), 
and Industrial (7%) following. General Commercial had one 
of the lesser total areas at 5%. 

LAND USE ACRES PERCENT 

Mixed Use 260 1%

Single-Family Attached 650 2%

Public Institutional/Utility 790 2%

Commercial 1,580 5%

Industrial 2,170 7%

Parks/Open Space 3,210 10%

Agriculture 3,290 10%

Business Park 3,730 12%

Rural Residential 7,370 23%

Single-Family Detached 9,320 29%

TOTAL

Table 8.1 | Frankfort Future Land Use Acreage



cgruba
Received























 

KLOA, Inc. Transportation and Parking Planning Consultants 

9575 West Higgins Road, Suite 400 | Rosemont, Illinois 60018 
              p: 847-518-9990 | f: 847-518-9987 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MEMORANDUM TO: Mr. Michael Flaherty 

Flaherty Builders, Inc. 

 

FROM:   Michael A. Werthmann, P.E., PTOE 

Principal 

 

DATE:    March 30, 2022 

 

SUBJECT:   Preliminary Traffic Assessment  

    Residential Development 

    Frankfort, Illinois 

 

 

This memorandum summarizes the results and findings of a preliminary traffic assessment 

prepared by Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA, Inc.) for a proposed residential 

development to be located in Frankfort, Illinois. The site, which is vacant, is located in the 

northwest quadrant of the intersection of Laraway Road with Owens Road. As proposed, the 

development is to consist of 34 townhomes with access provided via a full access drive on Laraway 

Road and a right-turn in/right-turn out access drive on Owens Road. A copy of the site plan is 

located in the Appendix.  

 

The purpose of this assessment is to estimate the volume of traffic to be generated by the proposed 

development and to review the access to the development. Figure 1 shows an aerial view of the 

development site. 

 

Trip Generation Estimates 
 

The number of peak hour vehicle trips estimated to be generated by the proposed residential 

development was estimated based on the “Multifamily Housing (Low Rise)” (Land-Use Code 220) 

trip rates published in the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Trip Generation Manual, 11th 

Edition. It should be noted that the ITE Manual provides rates based (1) on the average of all the 

surveys and (2) on a fitted curve equation. Table 1 shows the estimated vehicle trips to be 

generated by the 34 townhomes during the weekday morning and evening peak hours and per day 

based on both rates. The traffic volumes estimated based on the average trips rates represents the 

lower possible traffic volumes to be generated by the development and the traffic volumes 

estimated based on fitted curve equation represents the higher possible traffic volumes to be 

generated by the development. From Table 1 it can be seen that the proposed development is 

projected to generate a low volume of peak hour traffic and daily traffic. As such, the development 

will have a limited impact on the existing area roadway conditions.  

  

DRAFT

cgruba
Received



2 

 

 
Aerial View of Site Figure 1

SITE 
Laraway Road 

DRAFT



3 

Table 1 

PROJECTED DEVELOPMENT-GENERATED TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

 
Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 

Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 
Daily 

 In Out In Out In Out 

34 Townhomes       

• Average Rates 3 11 11 6 115 115 

• Fitted Curve Equation 8 25 22 13 147 147 

 

 

Site Access 
 

Access to the development is proposed to be provided via the following two access drives: 

 

• The Laraway Road access drive is to be located on the north side of the road opposite 

Ledgestone Way or approximately 1,100 feet west of Owens Road and will provide full 

access to and from the development. The access drive is proposed to have one inbound lane 

and one outbound lane with the outbound lane under stop sign control. It is important to 

note that the Will County Division of Transportation, who has jurisdiction over Laraway 

Road, has conceptually approved the location and design of the access drive.  

 

• The Owens Road access drive is to be located on the west side of the road approximately 

200 feet north of Laraway Road and will be restricted to right-turn in/right-turn out 

movements only. The access drive is proposed to provide one inbound lane and one 

outbound lane channelized and signed to prohibit left-turn movements. The outbound lane 

will be under stop sign control.  

 

Given the low volume of traffic to be generated by the proposed 34 townhomes and the location 

and design of the access system, the access drives will provide efficient and orderly access to and 

from the development with limited impact on the roadway system.  

 

DRAFT



12''WW
2''W

1111111111111111111122222222222222222222222222222222
W

12''WW
12''WW

12''WW
12''WW

'WWWWWWWWWWWW
2''W
2''
221221

WW
12''WW

12''WW
12''WW

12''WWW
12''WW

12''WW
12''WW

12''WW
12''WW

12''WW
12222222''W''W

2'22 'WWWWWW
1

WW
12''W
11

WW
12''WWWWWWWW

12''W'W
8''W

8''W
8''W

12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''W'W WWW 12''WWW 12''W' W 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WWW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW 12''WW

O
H

U
U

OOOOOOOOOO
H

OOO
HHHHHH

OOOO
H

O
HHH

U
HHH

UUUUUU
OOOO

OHU OHUOHU
OHU

OHUU OHU OHUOHUOHUOHUOHU OHUOHU OHU OHU OHU OHU OHU OHU OHU OHU OHU OHU OHU OHUOHU OHU OHU OHU OHU OHU OHU
OHU OHU OHU OHU OHUOHUO OHU OHUOHU OHU OHUOHUOHUHU OHU OHU OHUOOOOOO UOOOOOO OHUOHUOHUOHUOHUOHU OHUOHUOHUOHUOHU OHU

O
H

E
O

H
E

O
H

E
O

H
E

O
H

E
O

H
E

O
H

E
O

H
E

O
H

E
O

H
E

O
H

E
O

H
E

O
H

E
O

H
E

O
H

E
O

O
H

E
O

H
E

OOOOOOOO
H

O
H

E
H

O
EEEEEEEEEE

OOOOOOOO
H

O
H

O
HH

E
H

E
H

EEEEEEEEEEEEEE
OOO

H
E

OO
OOO

H
O

H
O

H
EEEEEEEEEEEE

O
H

E
H

H UH O

W
ay

eeeeeeeesests
estttttttttotttoooooooooooooooooooooooonnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnnennneeeeeee     

ee ee 
       W  W

     WWW
nnnnoooooooooo

LLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLLL
e

L
eeeeeeeeeeeededdeddddddddgddgdgddgggggggggeggege
e

LLLLLLLLL

12''W2''W

e

Laraway Road

Laraway Road

116th
A

venue
O

w
ens  R

oad

C
om

m
onw

ealth   E
dison   C

o.   R
.O

.W
.

8''W

12''WW
12''WW

12''WW
12''WW

12''WW
12''WWW

12''WW
12''WW

12''WW
12''WW

12''WW
12''WW

12''WW
12''WWW

12''WW
12''WW

12''WW
12''WW

12''WW
12''WWWW

122''W
2222

WWWWWWWWWWWW
12''W'W

12''W
2

W

W
W W W W W W WWWWW WWW W W W

10''W10 'WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''W0 WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''W1 W 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW 10''WW10 W 10''WW 10''WW

W
WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW

W

10
''WW

10
''WW

Frankfort School District 157-C
(Hickory Creek Middle School)

P.I.N. 19-09-30-300-010-0000

Sandalw
ood E

states - U
nit #1

D
oc. N

o. R
97--086659

14

13

12

Cobblestone Walk
Doc. No. R2002-219671Stonebridge Valley

Doc. No. R2000-094897

1 52 51 50 5 4 3 2 1

Stonebridge Valley
Doc. No. R2000-094897

Cobblestone Walk
Doc. No. R2002-219671

Outlot D

WW

H

2'

'W

W
1

2''W

Frankfort School District 157-C
(Hickory Creek Middle School)

P.I.N. 19-09-30-300-010-0000

8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W

8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W

1
''

TO BE
DEDICATEDue

TO BE
DEDICATED

OSED LARAWAY ROADPROPOSED LARAWAY ROADOPOSED LARAWAY ROADOSED LARAWAY ROADOPOSED LARAWAY ROADOPOSED LARAWAY ROADPROPOSED LARAWAY ROADPROPOSED LARAWAY ROADPROPOSED LARAWAY ROADPROPOSED LARAWAY ROADPROPOSED LARAWAY ROADPROPOSED LARPROPOSED LARPROPOSED LAPROPOSED LAPROPOSED LARPROPROPROPRO OOOOOSSSSED LAAAARRRRRRAWW YWAAAAAAYYYYYYYY RYY RYY R
IMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWN BY OTHERSHERSIMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWN BY OTHERS.IMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWN BY OTHERSIMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWN BY OTHERS.IMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWN BY OTHERSIMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWN BY OTHERS.IMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWN BY OIMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWN BY OIMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWIMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWN BY OIMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWIMPROVEMIMPROVEMIMPR OOTTHHEERRSSNN

Y ROADOSED LARAWAY ROADY ROADRAWAY ROADY ROADRAWAY ROADPROPOSED LARAWAY ROADOSED LARAWAY ROADPROPOS
ROVEMENTS AS SHOWN BY OTHERSSHOWN BY OTHERSIMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWN BY OTHERS.IMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWIMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWROVEMENTS AS SHOWN BY OTHERSIMPROVEMENTS AS SHOWIMPROVEMIMPROVEMIMPROVEMIMPROVEM

PR
O

PO
SED

 116t
SED

thththh STR
EET

hh
O

SEDED
1166tttthh h 

TR
S

h S
h

IM
PR

O
VEM

EN
TS AS SH

EN
OOOO

W
N

 BY O
TH

ER
S.

OO
BBYY

OO
T

W
N

W

PROPOSED STORM WATER MANAGEMENT AREANEN
(WETLAND BOTTOM)

OWNERSHIP AND MAINTENANCE WILL BE THEII

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION.RR

Mi t C kMisty CreekMi t CreekMi t C kMi t CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CreekMisty CMisty Creekyyyyyy
LLLLLLLLaneLLLLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaneLaLaLa

US 6' PATHTHOUS 6' PATHUS 6' PATHNOUS 6' PATHOUS 6' PATHUS 6' PATHOUS 6' PATHITUMINOUS 6' PATHNOUS 6' PATHOSED BITUMINOUS 6' PATHITUMINOUS 6' PATHNOUS 6' PATHITUMINOUS 6' PATHOPOSED BITUMINOUS 6' PATHOSED BITUMINOUS 6' PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHOPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHOSED BITUMINOUS 6' PATHOPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6  PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6PROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6PROPOSED BITUMINOUPROPOSED BITUMINOUPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6PROPOSED BITUMINOUPROPOSED BITUMINOPROPOSED BITUMINOPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSED BITUMINOPROPOSEDPROPROPPPROP  6 PATT

ATHHATHS 6' PATHATHNOUS 6' PATHS 6' PATHUMINOUS 6' PATHNOUS 6' PATHBITUMINOUS 6' PATHUMINOUS 6' PATHNOUS 6' PATHUMINOUS 6' PATHOSED BITUMINOUS 6' PATHBITUMINOUS 6' PATHOPOSED BITUMINOUS 6' PATHOSED BITUMINOUS 6' PATHBITUMINOUS 6' PATHOSED BITUMINOUS 6' PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHOPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHOPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6  PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6 PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6  PROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6  PATHPROPOSED BITUMINOUSPROPOSED BITUMINOUSPROPOSED BITUMIPROPOSED BITUMIPROPOSED BITUMINOUSPROPOSED BITUMIPROPOSED BITUPROPOSED BITUPROPOSPROPOSPROPOSED BITUPROPOSPROPROPROPPPRPROOOOPOPOPOPOPOPOPOOSOSOSOSOSOSEEEEEDDDDD BIBIBIT OUUUUUS 66S 6S 6S 6S 66666666 PAAPAPAPAPATTATTATATTATA HH

PPPRPPRPPRR
O

RR
O

R
O

RR
OO

P
O

P
O

P
O

PPOPOPOO
S

O
S

O
SSESEDE
SEDDDDDD

 BI
D

B
D

BITIITITITU
M

TUTTUTU
MMMMMM

IN
M

ININ
M

INN
O

N
O

N
OO

U
S

OO
U

OO
U

SSSSSSS 6' 
S

6
S

6
PAT
PAPAPATTTTTTTHTHHTH

R
O

R

LANDSCAPE BERM
LANDSCAPE BERMMMREREBBESDSDN M

UUUUUUU

PROPOSED
SIGN""MONUMENT SIGN

PROPOSED
SIGN "STOP
SIGN WITH
STREET NAME"

PROPOSEDPROPOSED
DECORATIVERATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORDECORDECORDECOR
STREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHSTREET LIGHSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHSTRESTRESTRESTRE

PROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSED
VECORATIVEVEDECORATIVECORATIVEVECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVE

STREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHT

PROPOSED SIGNS
"STOP SIGN WITHSS
STREET NAME"TT

PROPOSED
DECORATIVE
STREET LIGHT

11

A
A

SEE TYPICAL
CROSS-SECTION A-A

2
W

WW

W

2

2222222

W

W8

WWW
'W'''''W''''W'''''

' 222'2
1221

2''WW

OPTIONAL SUNROOM OR
COVERED PATIO IN
CROSS-HATCH AREA (TYP.).
BUILDINGS 7-24

OPTIONAL SUNROOM OR
COVERED PATIO IN
CROSS-HATCH AREA (TYP.).
BUILDINGS 7-24

OPTIONAL SUNROOM OR
COVERED PATIO IN
CROSS-HATCH AREA (TYP.).
BUILDINGS 7-24

OPTIONAL SUNROOM OR
COVERED PATIO IN
CROSS-HATCH AREA (TYP.).
BUILDINGS 7-24

WW

OPTIONAL SUNROOM OR
COVERED PATIO IN
CROSS-HATCH AREA (TYP.).ERERA A
BUILDINGS 25-3452S

OPTIONAL SUNROOM OR
COVERED PATIO INNNOOTIATPAPD EDRERE
CROSS-HATCH AREA (TYP.).)PYT(AEAREARAHCHCT YYEEAHT
BUILDINGS 25-34DU

ROPOSEDPROPOSEDROPOSEDROPOSEDROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSEDPROPOSED
DECORATIVEECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVEDECORATIVDECORATIVDECORATIVDDECORATIV

LIGHTLIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTREET LIGHTSTRSTRSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSSS

PROPOSED
PET PARK

8''
WWWW'WW8''
WWWWW

8''''
W' 8888888
WWWWWWWWWWWWWWWW

WWWWWWWWWWWWW'WWWW'' 8''''' 8888888888888888'''' 8888
8'

WW'W8''
W'WWWWWWW8'' 8''''
W'''WW'WWW''WW'''W'''''''''''''''''''''''''''''

8''
W

888888
W

8
W

8
WW

88''
WW

8
8''

WW' 8''
W

8''
WWW

88
W

8''
W

8
8''

WW' 8'' 8''
W

8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W
'

W

8''W

PROPOSEDD
SIGN:
"MISTY CREEKK
LANE LOCAL
TRAFFIC ONLY"Y

NTTT SENT
ED

NUM
OS

"MO""
PROPPP

GGNGGST SS GGNNN

TYPICAL ROADWAY SECTION
SCALE: 1" = 10" (HORIZONTAL)

      1" = 3' (VERTICAL)

TYPICAL CROSS-SECTION A-A
(DETENTION AREA)( )

SCALE: 1" = 30' (HORIZONTAL)
      1" = 10' (VERTICAL)

HWL HWL HWL HWL

NWL NWL

R E V I S I O N S
No. DATE DESCRIPTION BY

420-1513-P.U.D.P.U.D.

Ruettiger, Tonelli & Associates, Inc.
Surveyors   Engineers   Planners   Landscape Architects   G.I.S. Consultants

129 CAPISTA DRIVE   -   SHOREWOOD, ILLINOIS  60404

website: www.ruettigertonelli.com
PH. (815) 744-6600  FAX (815) 744-0101

N
:\T

ec
h\

20
20

\1
51

3\
Su

rv
ey

in
g\

20
20

15
13

 - 
PU

D
.d

w
g,

 L
ay

ou
t1

, 3
/2

2/
20

22
 7

:4
4:

01
 A

M
, r

pe
ep

le
sDRAFT



cgruba
Received



jlduffy
Text Box
12'-0"

cgruba
Received



OVERALL SITE - LOOKING NORTHWEST FROM INTERSECTION

116th Ave Sidewalk, looking north



Laraway Road Sidewalk, looking west

Existing berm adjacent to school property



L
edgestone            W

ay

Laraway
Road

O
w

ens  R
oad

C
om

m
onw

ealth   E
dison   C

o.   R
.O

.W
.

E
 X

 C
 E

 P
 T

 I O
 N

Misty                                   Creek                                   Lane

ABAB
A BABAB A B

A BA B
C

B
A

C
B

A

AB
C BAC BA

A B

1

2

3

4

5

7
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24

29 28 27 26 25303132

6

NWL
NWL

NWL NWL NWL NWL NWL

N
W

L

NWLNWLNWLNWLNWLNWLNWLNWLNWL

N
W

L

NWL
NWL

HWL
HWL

HWL
HWL H

W
L

HWL HWL HWL
HWL

H
W

L
H

W
L

HWLHWLHWLHWLHWLHWLHWLHWLHWL
HWL

H
W

L
H

W
L

HWL

DETENTION

PET
PARK

D
O

G
 R

U
N

116th                                               Avenue

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

2020-0217

5-20-2022

SF

S-1.0

2-2
8-2

022
SF

CO
OR

DIN
AT

IO
N 

OF
 RE

VIE
W 

CO
MM

EN
TS

3-1
7-2

021
SF

AL
TER

NA
TE 

SIT
E P

LA
NS

4-1
2-2

022
SF

CI
VIL

 C
OO

RD
INA

TIO
N

5-2
0-2

022
SF

RE
VIS

ED
 SU

BM
ITT

AL

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
TO

W
NH

O
M

ES
 A

T

M
ist

y 
Cr

ee
k

LA
RA

W
AY

 &
 11

6T
H

Fra
nk

fo
rt,

 Ill
ino

is

SCALE: 1"=50'-0"

0 25' 50' 100'

PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN
1"=50'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND IRON ROD

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND REBAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND PIPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND REBAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOUND REBAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 740.28

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 744.05

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 744.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 745.15

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 744.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 743.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
350.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1162.14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
300.01'

AutoCAD SHX Text
1211.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHADED AREA INDICATES DEDICATED OPEN SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 4' HIGH BERM TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' FRONT CORNER YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
15' SIDE YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' REAR YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' FRONT YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 6' WALKING PATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
4' ALUMINUM FENCING SEE AM-1.0 FOR DETAILS SEATING AREA MONUMENT SIGN SEE AM-1.0 FOR DETAILS

AutoCAD SHX Text
SITE DATA BASED ON R-4 ZONING    PROPOSED       REQUIRED REQUIRED TOTAL LAND AREA   422,749.8 SF 9.705 AC    170,000 SF  (5,000 SF PER UNIT) 422,749.8 SF 9.705 AC    170,000 SF  (5,000 SF PER UNIT) 9.705 AC    170,000 SF  (5,000 SF PER UNIT) 170,000 SF  (5,000 SF PER UNIT) NET BUILDABLE AREA   258,055.96 SF 5.9 AC     258,055.96 SF 5.9 AC     5.9 AC     UNIT COUNT     32 32 DENSITY (OVERALL)   3.3 DU/AC        3.3 DU/AC        DENSITY (NET)    5.42 DU/AC       5 DU/NET BUILDABLE ACRE  5.42 DU/AC       5 DU/NET BUILDABLE ACRE  5 DU/NET BUILDABLE ACRE  YARDS FRONT    40 FEET       40 FEET 40 FEET       40 FEET 40 FEET CORNER SIDE   42 FEET       40 FEET 42 FEET       40 FEET 40 FEET SIDE     20 FEET       15 FEET 20 FEET       15 FEET 15 FEET REAR     40 FEET       34 FEET  40 FEET       34 FEET  34 FEET  PARKING   INSIDE    64 CARS 64 CARS OUTSIDE    64 CARS 64 CARS TOTAL    128 CARS  4.0 CARS/UNIT   2.5 CARS/UNIT 128 CARS  4.0 CARS/UNIT   2.5 CARS/UNIT 4.0 CARS/UNIT   2.5 CARS/UNIT 2.5 CARS/UNIT BUILDING COVERAGE   78,345 SF  18.5%      78,345 SF  18.5%      18.5%      GREEN SPACE    199,424.88 SF 47.2%      199,424.88 SF 47.2%      47.2%      IMPERVIOUS LOT COVERAGE  112,961.7 SF  43.7%     50%  112,961.7 SF  43.7%     50%  43.7%     50%  50%  REAR YARD AREA   11,805.76 11,805.76 REAR YARD COVERAGE  4,097.46  29.3%     30% 4,097.46  29.3%     30% 29.3%     30% 30% DEDICATED OPEN SPACE  77,755.86 SF 30.13% 77,755.86 SF 30.13% 30.13% DOG PARK AREA   10,590 SF 10,590 SF BUILDING HEIGHT    30'-6"       35'-0"  30'-6"       35'-0"  35'-0"  FAR      0.19        0.25 0.19        0.25 0.25 

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDICATES OPTIONAL SUNROOM OR COVERED PATIO LOCATION

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDICATES DEDICATED OPEN SPACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: BASEMENT AREA WILL BE A MINIMUM OF 80% OF THE BUILDING FOOTPRINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
P:\2020\2020-0217\Drawing Files\Site-Land-Zoning\2020-0217 Site Design Plan 20220520.dwg  5/20/2022 2:34 PM  SFRANCIS  S-1.0      5/20/2022 2:34 PM  SFRANCIS  S-1.0    5/20/2022 2:34 PM  SFRANCIS  S-1.0      SFRANCIS  S-1.0    SFRANCIS  S-1.0      S-1.0    S-1.0    

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTHORIZATION OF LINDEN GROUP INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANY PERSONS FOR ANY PURPOSE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINDEN GROUP INC.  NONE OF THE ABOVE MAY BE DISCLOSED TO 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARE INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE, AND THEREFORE ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND DESIGNS REPRESENTED OR REFERRED TO IN THESE DOCUMENTS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL DRAWINGS, SPECIFICATIONS, PLANS, CONCEPTS, ARRANGEMENTS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
COPYRIGHT - LINDEN GROUP INC.  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
COPYRIGHT LINDEN GROUP INC.

cgruba
Received



cgruba
Received



cgruba
Received



DOUBLE FRONTAGE - 637 FEET

Landscape Area Adjacent to an Arterial ROW

Required: 128 Plant Units (PU) per 100 Feet

637 divided by 100 = 6.4

Required PU: 128 x 6.4 = 819 PU

   Plants Material Qty. PU Total

   Overstory Tree 16 10 160

   Understory Tree 21 5 105

   10' Evergreen Tree 30 8 240

   6' Evergreen Tree 22 5 110

   Large Shrub 58 2 116

   Small Shrub 90 1 90

 TOTAL 821

STORMWATER DETENTION - 1,168 FEET

Required: 20 Plant Units (PU) per 100 Feet

1,168 divided by 100 = 11.7

Required PU: 20 x 11.7 = 234 PU

   Plants Material Qty. PU Total

   Overstory Tree 13 10 130

   6' Evergreen Tree 17 5 85

   Large Shrub 15 2 30

 TOTAL 245

EAST PROPERTY LINE (Front Yard) - 350 FEET

Front Yard Area: 350 x 40 = 14,000 Sq Ft

Required: 10 Plant Units (PU) per 1,500 Sq Ft

14,000 divided by 1,500 = 9.3

Required PU: 10 x 9.3 = 93 PU

   Plants Material Qty. PU Total

   Overstory Tree 6 10 60

   6' Evergreen Tree 4 5 20

   TOTAL 100

NORTH PROPERTY LINE (Side Yard) - 1211.3 FEET

Front Yard Area: 1211 x 25 = 30,275 Sq Ft

Required: 10 Plant Units (PU) per 1,500 Sq Ft

30,275 divided by 1,500 = 20.2

Required PU: 10 x 20.2 = 202 PU

   Plants Material Qty. PU Total

   Overstory Tree 17 10 170

   Understory Tree 8 5 40

   6' Evergreen Tree 22 5 110

   TOTAL 320

WEST PROPERTY LINE (Rear Yard) - 350 FEET

Front Yard Area: 350 x 30 = 10,500 Sq Ft

Required: 5 Plant Units (PU) per 1,500 Sq Ft

10,500 divided by 1,500 = 7.0

Required PU: 5 x 7.0 = 35 PU

   Plants Material Qty. PU Total

   Overstory Tree 3 10 30

   6' Evergreen Tree 6 5 30

   TOTAL 60

LANDSCAPE CALCULATIONS

L-0.0

SHEET

REVISIONS

c
 

C
o

p
y

r
i
g

h
t
 
2

0
2

2
 
a

l
l
 
r
i
g

h
t
s

 
r
e

s
e

r
v

e
d

.
 
 
T

h
e

 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
a

n
d

 
a

n
y

 
a

n
d

 
a

l
l
 
i
d

e
a

s
 
c

o
n

t
a

i
n

e
d

 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
a

r
e

 
t
h

e
 
s

o
l
e

 
p

r
o

p
e

r
t
y

 
o

f
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

.
 
 
A

n
y

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
o

f
 
t
h

e
 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
o

r
 
t
h

e
 
c

o
n

c
e

p
t
 
e

m
b

o
d

i
e

d
 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
i
n

 
a

n
y

 
f
o

r
m

,
 
i
n

 
w

h
o

l
e

 
o

r
 
i
n

 
p

a
r
t
,
 
w

i
t
h

o
u

t
 
c

o
n

s
e

n
t
 
f
r
o

m
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

 
i
s

 
p

r
o

h
i
b

i
t
e

d
.
 
 

PROJECT NO.:

DATE:

SCALE:

22-184

TITLE

SEAL:

 
 
 
 
I
f
 
t
h

i
s

 
p

l
a

n
 
i
s

 
n

o
t
 
2

4
'
'
 
x

 
3

6
"
 
i
n

 
s

i
z
e

,
 
t
h

e
n

 
i
t
 
i
s

 
a

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
t
h

a
t
 
m

a
y

 
n

o
t
 
b

e
 
t
o

 
s

c
a

l
e

 

M
I
S

T
Y

 
C

R
E

E
K

1
1

6
t
h

 
&

 
L

A
R

A
W

A
Y

 
R

O
A

D

1    Updated Site Plan

METZ & COMPANYMETZ & COMPANY
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE/SITE PLANNING

826 East Maple Street

Lombard, Illinois 60148

PH: 630.561.3903

www.metz-company.com

F
R

A
N

K
F

O
R

T
,
 
I
L

L
I
N

O
I
S

2-7-22

2    New Site Plan
5-20-22

COVER SHEET

Know what'sbelow.

Callbefore you dig.

Site Location Map

Landscape Architect:
Metz & Company
826 E. Maple Street
Lombard, IL 60148
630.561.3903

LANDSCAPE PLAN FOR:

Engineer:
Ruettiger & Tonelli, Inc
129 Capista Drive
Shorewood, IL 60404
815.744.6600

MISTY CREEK
Frankfort, IL

SHEET DESCRIPTION

L-0.0 COVER SHEET

L-1.0 LANDSCAPE PLAN

L-2.0    LANDSCAPE PLAN

L-3.0 LANDSCAPE PLAN

L-4.0 PET PARK EQUIPMENT & DETAILS

L-5.0 NATIVE LANDSCAPE SPECIFICATIONS

L-6.0 LANDSCAPE SPECIFICATIONS

Architect:
Linden Group Architects
10100 Orland Parkway, Suite 110
Orland Park, IL 60467
708.799.4400

Project
Location

SHEET INDEX

C
:
\
U

s
e

r
s
\
R

a
n

d
y
\
D

e
s
k
t
o

p
\
P

r
o

j
e

c
t
 
F

i
l
e

s
\
L

I
N

D
E

N
-
1

1
6

t
h

 
&

 
L

a
r
a

w
a

y
\
M

i
s
t
y
 
C

r
e

e
k
-
L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

_
2

0
2

2
-
0

5
-
2

0
.
d

w
g

,
 
5

/
2

1
/
2

0
2

2
 
7

:
2

0
:
0

1
 
A

M

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
01-14-2022

AutoCAD SHX Text
157-000422

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANDY F. METZ

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

cgruba
Received



O
H

U

O
H

U

O
H

U

Laraway

C
om

m
onw

ealth   E
dison   C

o.   R
.O

.W
.

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

E
 X

 C
 E

 P
 T

 I O
 N

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
B

I
T

U
M

I
N

O
U

S
 
6
'
 
P

A
T

H

1

2

3

4

5

7
8

9 10
6

8''
W

8''
W

8''
W

8''
W

8''
W

8''
W

8''
W

8''
W

8''
W

8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W

8''W

8''W

303132

3 -PP(10')

9 -CR

2 -AFM

10 -JSG

2 -MRJ 1 -QI

2 -PA(10')

3 -PA

1 -PA

1 -CA

1 -MPF

5 -VLM

1 -QE

5 -VLM

5 -CR

2 -PGD(10')

1 -CCI

1 -CO

3 -PGD(10')

2 -PGD

1 -AAB

20 -RGL

4 -RMG

16 -CKF

(24"o.c.)

4 -RMG

9 -NJW

(24"o.c.)

9 -NJW

(24"o.c.)

6 -UF

7 -GTD

5 -TCG

1 -CO

1 -QR

3 -PP(10')

2 -PA(10')

1 -PP

2 -AFM

10 -JSG

1 -MRJ
1 -QI

9 -CR

1 -PA

2 -PA

2 -MRJ

1 -MPF

1 -QE

10 -DSB

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

6 -DPF(18"o.c.)

2 -TMD

9 -HPP(18"o.c.)

3 -SBG

2 -SMP

5 -HB

1 -VC

5 -JKC

4 -DCG(24"o.c.)

7 -SBT

1 -DCG

1 -HFL

15 -GMF(18"o.c.)

3 -DCG(24"o.c.)

3 -HAI

6 -HGS(30"o.c.)

1 -EAC

7 -TMD

6 -NJW(24"o.c.)

24 -ABB(12"o.c.)

3 -REK

1 -DCG

30 -LS(12"o.c.)

20 -LS

(12"o.c.)

1 -EAC

7 -DKR

2 -TMD

1 -HEW

5 -HAA

11 -HGP(18"o.c.)

6 -SBT

3 -VC

6 -JCK

18 -EPM(18"o.c.)

2 -HVS

5 -RDK

11 -NJW(24"o.c.)

7 -CCB(24"o.c.)

1 -AGM

3 -PM

1 -AGM

1 -QBO

3 -PM

1 -QE

3 -PA

1 -AFJ

5 -SBT

4 -EBB & 4 -EGG

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

2 -TMD

1 -MSV

5 -REK

6 -NJW(24"o.c.)

24 -ABB

(12"o.c.)

1 -GTS

7 -DKO

1 -MJ

48 -ABB

(12"o.c.)

11 -EPM(18"o.c.)

3 -DKO

5 -JGL

1 -HV

5 -SBT

6 -HGS(30"o.c.)

1 -EAC

7 -TMD

5 -GR(24"o.c.)

7 -DPF(18"o.c.)

30 -LS(12"o.c.)

1 -HAM

2 -HAM

1 -TOS

5 -CKF(24"o.c.)

13 -GMF(18"o.c.)

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

1 -GTS

13 -GMF(18"o.c.)

5 -TMD

1 -HFL

7 -HBF

5 -CKF(24"o.c.)

1 -GDE

3 -DKO

2 -TMD

1 -HEW

5 -HFB(30"o.c.)

1 -EAC

2 -HAI

5 -DKO

1 -HQF

5 -HBF

5 -GR(24"o.c.)

2 -TMD

1 -TOS

3 -PHM(18"o.c.)

5 -NWL(18"o.c.)

5 -REK

24 -SK(12"o.c.)

5 -NWL(18"o.c.)

5 -JHH

5 -HAM(30"o.c.)

1 -MFF

12 -HGB & 12 -HSW

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

1 -HV

5 -SMP

6 -RMG

1 -HQF

5 -JKC

1 -HQF

1 -SMP

7 -SDPL

5 -TMD

3 -DPF

(18"o.c.)

SOD

SOD

SOD

3 -CSC

2 -TMD

3 -DPF(18"o.c.)

2 -SMP

5 -HB

13 -RVLS

(18"o.c.)
4 -DCG

(24"o.c.)

6 -HGB & 6 -HSW

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

3 -TAS

5 -PS

1 -QI

SOD

SOD

1 -SIS

1 -GPS

SOD

SOD

M
A

T
C

H
 
L

I
N

E
 
'
A

'

M
A

T
C

H
 
L

I
N

E
 
'
A

'

3 -PP

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

1 -OV

SEED &

BLANKET

SEED &

BLANKET

SEED &

BLANKET

SOD

SOD

7 -HGB & 7 -HSW

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

3 -HB

2 -TMD

3 -SBE(18"o.c.)

5 -AME

24 -TPS

(12"oc)

1 -HVS

3 -JKC

1 -VC

7 -SDPD

1 -VC

1 -RPP

7 -GR

(24"o.c.)

5 -JKC

2 -CKF

1 -VC

3 -PFL

9 -GMF

(18"o.c.)

3 -JKC

9 -NBW

(24"o.c.)

5 -SDPD

3 -SH(24"o.c.)

2 -SH(24"o.c.)

5 -CSC

4 -JKC

5 -GR(24"o.c.)

7 -SBE(18"o.c.)

4 -RMG

24 -SI(15"o.c.)

4 -DCG

(24"o.c.)

5 -EFS

6 -EFS

5 -HGB & 5 -HSW

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

3 -HGB & 3 -HSW

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

1 -HV

3 -TMD

4 -HFB

(30"o.c.)

1 -CSI

1 -CSI

5 -HKA

13 -MPD(18"o.c.)

1 -TOS

2 -HEW

24 -ABB(12"o.c.)

7 -HAA

11 -HGP(18"o.c.)

5 -FCI(18"o.c.)

9 -FCI(18"o.c.)

9 -GR

(24"o.c.)

1 -HFL

7 -HKA

7 -FCI(18"o.c.)

1 -HVS

2 -TMD

9 -HPP(18"o.c.)

3 -SBG

6 -DPF(18"o.c.)

2 -CSI

5 -HTS

5 -HTS

5 -NJW(24"o.c.)

5 -BMW

9 -CVM(12"o.c.)

1 -HFL

4 -AME

8 -WSW

19 -RVLS

(18"o.c.)

1 -MSV

1 -MSV

1 -HVS

13 -EPM

(18"o.c.)

5 -SBT

6 -WDH

1 -VLM

5 -TMD

9 -EPM

(18"o.c.)

30 -LS(12"o.c.)

2 -TMD

5 -SMP

13 -CNN(18"o.c.)

3 -SDPD

3 -HGP(18"o.c.)

5 -PA

LEGEND

EMERGENT PLUG MIX

WETLAND SEED MIX

WET/MESIC PRAIRIE

SEED MIX

ECONOMY PRAIRIE SEED MIX

TURF GRASS SEED MIX

N
O

R
T

H

0' 10' 20' 40'

L-1.0

Know what'sbelow.

Callbefore you dig.

SHEET

REVISIONS

c
 

C
o

p
y

r
i
g

h
t
 
2

0
2

2
 
a

l
l
 
r
i
g

h
t
s

 
r
e

s
e

r
v

e
d

.
 
 
T

h
e

 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
a

n
d

 
a

n
y

 
a

n
d

 
a

l
l
 
i
d

e
a

s
 
c

o
n

t
a

i
n

e
d

 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
a

r
e

 
t
h

e
 
s

o
l
e

 
p

r
o

p
e

r
t
y

 
o

f
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

.
 
 
A

n
y

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
o

f
 
t
h

e
 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
o

r
 
t
h

e
 
c

o
n

c
e

p
t
 
e

m
b

o
d

i
e

d
 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
i
n

 
a

n
y

 
f
o

r
m

,
 
i
n

 
w

h
o

l
e

 
o

r
 
i
n

 
p

a
r
t
,
 
w

i
t
h

o
u

t
 
c

o
n

s
e

n
t
 
f
r
o

m
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

 
i
s

 
p

r
o

h
i
b

i
t
e

d
.
 
 

PROJECT NO.:

DATE:

SCALE:

22-184

TITLE

SEAL:

 
 
 
 
I
f
 
t
h

i
s

 
p

l
a

n
 
i
s

 
n

o
t
 
2

4
'
'
 
x

 
3

6
"
 
i
n

 
s

i
z
e

,
 
t
h

e
n

 
i
t
 
i
s

 
a

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
t
h

a
t
 
m

a
y

 
n

o
t
 
b

e
 
t
o

 
s

c
a

l
e

 

M
I
S

T
Y

 
C

R
E

E
K

1
1

6
t
h

 
&

 
L

A
R

A
W

A
Y

 
R

O
A

D

1    Updated Site Plan

METZ & COMPANYMETZ & COMPANY
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE/SITE PLANNING

826 East Maple Street

Lombard, Illinois 60148

PH: 630.561.3903

www.metz-company.com

F
R

A
N

K
F

O
R

T
,
 
I
L

L
I
N

O
I
S

2-7-22

2    New Site Plan
5-20-22

LANDSCAPE

PLAN

C
:
\
U

s
e

r
s
\
R

a
n

d
y
\
D

e
s
k
t
o

p
\
P

r
o

j
e

c
t
 
F

i
l
e

s
\
L

I
N

D
E

N
-
1

1
6

t
h

 
&

 
L

a
r
a

w
a

y
\
M

i
s
t
y
 
C

r
e

e
k
-
L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

_
2

0
2

2
-
0

5
-
2

0
.
d

w
g

,
 
5

/
2

1
/
2

0
2

2
 
7

:
3

7
:
3

7
 
A

M

AutoCAD SHX Text
CMP FILLED W/ SEDIMENT TOP 746.23

AutoCAD SHX Text
CMP FILLED W/ SEDIMENT TOP 746.15

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
752

AutoCAD SHX Text
752

AutoCAD SHX Text
753

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 1°54'46" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
350.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
752

AutoCAD SHX Text
752

AutoCAD SHX Text
753

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 1°54'46" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
350.00'

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
01-14-2022

AutoCAD SHX Text
157-000422

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANDY F. METZ

AutoCAD SHX Text
P

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
no.

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
S



10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W

Misty Creek

PROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6' PATH

10 11 12 13 14 15 16

8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

HWL

H

W

L

H

W

L

H

W

L
H

W
L

H
W

L

H
W

L

H

W

L

H

W

L

HW
L

2829 2627 25

(To Be Dedicated)

OUTLOT "A"

5 -VLM

1 -CO

3 -PGD(10')

2 -PGD

1 -AAB

1 -PGD

1 -CCI

10 -JSG

1 -AFJ

1 -PS

1 -CRB

10 -CB 1 -UA

1 -CA

1 -PS

1 -PS

1 -CRB

1 -MPF

20 -DSB

1 -AFJ

1 -AAB

1 -MPF

2 -CCI

4 -PP(10')

3 -PP

1 -CCI

5 -VLM

1 -QI

10 -JSG

5 -CR

1 -PA(10')

1 -PA

1 -UA

1 -PGD

2 -PGD(10')

20 -DSB

3 -PGD(10')

1 -CO

1 -PGD

1 -PGD

1 -OV

7 -GDE

7 -CO

1 -OV

1 -QR

1 -QRP

2 -GPS

1 -SIS

5 -PS

1 -QI

SOD

M
A

T
C

H
 
L

I
N

E
 
'
A

'

M
A

T
C

H
 
L

I
N

E
 
'
A

'

M
A

T
C

H
 
L

I
N

E
 
'
B

'

M
A

T
C

H
 
L

I
N

E
 
'
B

'

1 -QRP

5 -GR(24"o.c.)

5 -CSC

4 -TMD

5 -SBE(18"o.c.)

17 -SAF(12"o.c.)

3 -RMG

4 -CSI

48 -ABB(12"o.c.)

3 -RMG

1 -PVR

6 -JKC

6 -EBB & 6 -EGG

(mix @ 18"o.c.)

1 -CAH

3 -NBW

(24"o.c.)

1 -QI

3 -SBG

3 -PGW

1 -JVH

1 -PM

5 -GR(24"o.c.)

3 -PFL

2 -TMD

3 -DPF(18"o.c.)

2 -CRS

5 -DKR

8 -DCG

(24"o.c.)

13 -GMF

(18"o.c.)

1 -SMP

7 -SDPL

5 -TMD

1 -HVS

1 -PVR

8 -GR

(24"o.c.)

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD
SOD

SOD

3 -PHM(18"o.c.)

24 -SK(12"o.c.)

7 -SDPD

2 - CSI

3 -JGL

6 -NBW(24"o.c.)

5 -HB

1 -SSC

5 -CSC

2 -TMD

8 -CNN(18"o.c.)

3 -TMD

11 -RVLS

(18"o.c.)

1 -VC

2 -HAI

5 -CRS

5 -TMD

3 -SBE(18"o.c.)

2 -TMD

3 -DKO

9 -HGP(18"o.c.)

5 -SSC

(24"o.c.)

5 -SBT

1 -SMP

1 -SIS

3 -SBE(18"o.c.)

3 -RDK

6 -NJW

(24"o.c.)

6 -RTR

3 -EFS

4 -RGL

11 -HHR

(18"o.c.)

1 -HPL

3 -SBE

(18"o.c.)

1 -GPS

1 -QR

1 -AGM

5 -PGD

3 -AFJ

1 -GTS

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

1 -MRR

SOD

SOD

SOD

3 -CCI

4 -PS(10')

1 -PA(10')

1 -PP

SEED &

BLANKET

SOD

SOD

SOD

7 -HGB & 7 -HSW

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

3 -HB

2 -TMD

3 -SBE(18"o.c.)

5 -AME

24 -TPS

(12"oc)

7 -SDPL

1 -SMP

5 -SH(24"o.c.)

5 -CSC

5 -GR(24"o.c.)

4 -JGL

7 -SBE(18"o.c.)

24 -SI(15"o.c.)

4 -RMG

5 -SDPD

1 -HPL

9 -NBW

(24"o.c.)

1 -PGW

3 -PFL

9 -GMF

(18"o.c.)

7 -HLL

2 -PVR

7 -GR

(24"o.c.)

3 -SBE(18"o.c.)

3 -HB

7 -HGB & 7 -HSW

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

2 -TMD

5 -AME

24 -TPS

(12"oc)

3 -JGL

3 -JGL

3 -SH(24"o.c.)

2 -SH(24"o.c.)

1 -PGW

1 -PGW

1 -HVS

3 -JKC

1 -VC

5 -SDPD

3 -SH(24"o.c.)

2 -SH(24"o.c.)

5 -CSC

4 -JKC

5 -GR(24"o.c.)

7 -SBE(18"o.c.)

4 -RMG

24 -SI(15"o.c.)

2 -TCG

4 -UA

2 -GTS

5 -EFS

6 -EFS

5 -HGB & 5 -HSW

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

3 -HGB & 3 -HSW

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

1 -HV

3 -TMD

4 -HFB

(30"o.c.)

1 -CSI

1 -CSI

5 -HKA

13 -MPD(18"o.c.)

1 -TOS

2 -HEW

24 -ABB(12"o.c.)

7 -HAA

11 -HGP(18"o.c.)

5 -FCI

(18"o.c.)

9 -FCI(18"o.c.)

9 -GR

(24"o.c.)

1 -HFL

7 -HKA

7 -FCI(18"o.c.)

1 -HVS

2 -TMD

9 -RVLS(18"o.c.)

3 -WDH

6 -DPF(18"o.c.)

2 -CSI

5 -HTS

5 -HTS

5 -NJW(24"o.c.)

5 -BMW

9 -CVM(12"o.c.)

1 -HVS

5 -WDH

7 -EPM(18"o.c.)

1 -VLM

5 -TMD

6 -FCI

(18"o.c.)

1 -HFL

9 -EPM

(18"o.c.)

3 -HAA

1 -HV

13 -MPD

(18"o.c.)

6 -TMD

1 -VLM

1 -VLM

7 -SBT

5 -SBT

13 -LS(12"o.c.)

27 -LS(12"o.c.)

9 -GMF

(18"o.c.)

7 -CBB

(24"o.c.)

30 -LS(12"o.c.)

2 -TMD

5 -SMP

13 -CNN(18"o.c.)

3 -SDPD

3 -HGP(18"o.c.)

4 -TMD

5 -SDPD

7 -CNN(18"o.c.)

7 -NWL(18"o.c.)

8 -HGB & 8 -HSW

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

MULCHED

SURFACE

AREA

PET STATION

TRASH

RECEPTACLE

BENCH

1 -AFM

DOG PLAY &

TRAINING

EQUIPMENT

FENCED

DOG RUN

SALLY PORT

ENTRANCE

1 -AGM

LEGEND

EMERGENT PLUG MIX

WETLAND SEED MIX

WET/MESIC PRAIRIE

SEED MIX

ECONOMY PRAIRIE SEED MIX

TURF GRASS SEED MIX

N
O

R
T

H

0' 10' 20' 40'

GENERAL NOTES:

Plant material shall be nursery grown and be either balled and bur-lapped or container grown.  Sizes and

spreads on plant list represent minimum requirements.

The requirements for measurement, branching and ball size shall conform to the latest addition of ANSI

Z60.1,  AMERICAN STANDARD OF NURSERY STOCK by the American Nursery & Landscape

Association.

Any materials with damaged or crooked/disfigured leaders, bark abrasion, sunscald, insect damage, etc.

are not acceptable and will be rejected.  Trees with multiple leaders will be rejected unless called for in

the plant list as multi-stem or clump (cl.).

If any mistakes, omissions, or discrepancies are found to exist with the work product, the Landscape

Architect shall be promptly notified so that they have the opportunity to take any steps necessary to

resolve the issue.  Failure to promptly notify the Landscape Architect and the Owner of such conditions

shall absolve them from any responsibility for the consequences of such failure.

Under no circumstances should these plans be used for construction purposes without examining actual

locations of utilities on site, and reviewing all related documents mentioned herein, including related

documents prepared by the project Civil Engineer and Architect.

Civil Engineering or Architectural base information has been provided by others.  The location of various

site improvements on this set of drawings is only illustrative and should not be relied upon for construction

purposes.

Quantity lists are supplied as a convenience.  However, Bidders and the Installing Contractor should

verify all quantities.  The drawings shall take precedence over the lists.  Any discrepancies shall be

reported to the Landscape Architect.

Actions taken without the knowledge and consist of the Owner and the Landscape Architect or in

contradiction to the Owner and the Landscape Architect's work product or recommendations, shall

become the responsibility not of the Owner and the Landscape Architect, but for the parties responsible

for the taking of such action.

Refer to Civil Engineering documents for detailed information regarding size, location, depth and type of

utilities, as well as locations of other site improvements, other than landscape improvements,

Plant symbols illustrated on this plan are a graphic representation of proposed plant material types and

are intended to provide for visual clarity.  However, the symbols do not necessarily represent actual plant

spread at the time of installation.

All plant species specified are subject to availability. Material shortages in the landscape industry may

require substitutions. All substitutions must be approved by the Village, Landscape Architect and Owner.

The Landscape Contractor shall verify location of all underground utilities prior to digging by calling

"J.U.L.I.E." (Joint Utility Location for Excavators) 1-800-892-0123 and any other public or private agency

necessary for utility location.

All perennial, ornamental grass, groundcover and annual  beds shall be top dressed with a minimum of

three inches (3") of mushroom compost.  The top dressing shall be worked into the soil to a minimum

depth of nine inches (9") by the use of a cultivating mechanism.  Upon completion perennials &

ornamental grasses shall be mulched with an additional two inch (2") layer of shredded wood mulch;

Annuals & groundcovers shall be covered with a two inch (2") layer of southern pine bark fines mulch.

All other planting beds and tree saucers shall be mulched with a minimum of three inches (3") of

shredded wood mulch.

Planting beds adjacent to building shall be mulched in their entirety to the building foundation.  Plant

materials shall not be installed under building overhangs and other such areas which do not receive

natural rainfall.

Mulch beds at the time of planting shall extend a minimum of two feet (2') beyond the center of a shrub.

All bed lines and tree saucers shall require a hand spaded edge between lawn and mulched areas.

Grading shall provide slopes which are smooth and continuous. Positive drainage shall be provided in all

areas.

Sod shall be mineral base only.

Seed mixes shall be applied mechanically so that the seed is incorporated into the top one-half inch (1/2")

of the seed bed. The seed shall then be covered with the specified blanket (installed per manufacturer's.

specs) or Hydro-mulch.

All plant material shall be guaranteed for one (1) year from the date of acceptance.

Trees and shrubs shall not be located closer than six (6) feet to fir hydrants, transformers or above

ground utilities, and fifteen (15) feet from any street light.  No parkway tree shall be planted closer to that

thirty (30) feet from the right-of-way line at an intersection nor closer than eight (8) feet from a driveway or

alley way.

L-2.0

Know what'sbelow.

Callbefore you dig.

SHEET

REVISIONS

c
 

C
o

p
y

r
i
g

h
t
 
2

0
2

2
 
a

l
l
 
r
i
g

h
t
s

 
r
e

s
e

r
v

e
d

.
 
 
T

h
e

 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
a

n
d

 
a

n
y

 
a

n
d

 
a

l
l
 
i
d

e
a

s
 
c

o
n

t
a

i
n

e
d

 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
a

r
e

 
t
h

e
 
s

o
l
e

 
p

r
o

p
e

r
t
y

 
o

f
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

.
 
 
A

n
y

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
o

f
 
t
h

e
 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
o

r
 
t
h

e
 
c

o
n

c
e

p
t
 
e

m
b

o
d

i
e

d
 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
i
n

 
a

n
y

 
f
o

r
m

,
 
i
n

 
w

h
o

l
e

 
o

r
 
i
n

 
p

a
r
t
,
 
w

i
t
h

o
u

t
 
c

o
n

s
e

n
t
 
f
r
o

m
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

 
i
s

 
p

r
o

h
i
b

i
t
e

d
.
 
 

PROJECT NO.:

DATE:

SCALE:

22-184

TITLE

SEAL:

 
 
 
 
I
f
 
t
h

i
s

 
p

l
a

n
 
i
s

 
n

o
t
 
2

4
'
'
 
x

 
3

6
"
 
i
n

 
s

i
z
e

,
 
t
h

e
n

 
i
t
 
i
s

 
a

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
t
h

a
t
 
m

a
y

 
n

o
t
 
b

e
 
t
o

 
s

c
a

l
e

 

M
I
S

T
Y

 
C

R
E

E
K

1
1

6
t
h

 
&

 
L

A
R

A
W

A
Y

 
R

O
A

D

1    Updated Site Plan

METZ & COMPANYMETZ & COMPANY
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE/SITE PLANNING

826 East Maple Street

Lombard, Illinois 60148

PH: 630.561.3903

www.metz-company.com

F
R

A
N

K
F

O
R

T
,
 
I
L

L
I
N

O
I
S

2-7-22

2    New Site Plan
5-20-22

LANDSCAPE

PLAN

C
:
\
U

s
e

r
s
\
R

a
n

d
y
\
D

e
s
k
t
o

p
\
P

r
o

j
e

c
t
 
F

i
l
e

s
\
L

I
N

D
E

N
-
1

1
6

t
h

 
&

 
L

a
r
a

w
a

y
\
M

i
s
t
y
 
C

r
e

e
k
-
L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

_
2

0
2

2
-
0

5
-
2

0
.
d

w
g

,
 
5

/
2

1
/
2

0
2

2
 
7

:
3

8
:
0

7
 
A

M

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
752

AutoCAD SHX Text
752

AutoCAD SHX Text
752

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
752

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 88°22'15" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
1162.14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 88°22'15" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
1211.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
752

AutoCAD SHX Text
752

AutoCAD SHX Text
752

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
752

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 88°22'15" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
1162.14'

AutoCAD SHX Text
S 88°22'15" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
1211.25'

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
01-14-2022



1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

1
2
'
'
W

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

O
H

E

116th
A

venue

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

10''W

8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W 8''W

Lane

PROPOSED BITUMINOUS 6' PATH

17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

N

W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

NWL

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

N
W

L

H
W

L

H
W

L

H
W

L

H
W

L

H
W

L

H
W

L

H
W

L

H
W

L

H
W

L

H
W

L

H
W

L

H

W

L

HWL

H

W

L

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

H

W

L

H

W

L

H

W

L

H
W

L

H
W

L

H

W

L

H

W

L

H

W

L

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

HWL

H

W

L

H

W

L

HW
L

OUTLOT "B"

5 -CR

1 -QE

6 -UF

6 -GTD

7 -TCG

5 -QR

M
A

T
C

H
 
L

I
N

E
 
'
B

'

M
A

T
C

H
 
L

I
N

E
 
'
B

'

5 -CSC

5 -GR(24"o.c.)

4 -JGL

7 -SBE(18"o.c.)

24 -SI(15"o.c.)

4 -RMG

5 -SDPL

1 -HPL

9 -NBW

(24"o.c.)

1 -PGW

3 -PFL

9 -GMF

(18"o.c.)

1 -RPP

7 -HLL

2 -PVR

7 -GR

(24"o.c.)

3 -SBE(18"o.c.)

3 -HB

7 -HGB & 7 -HSW

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

2 -TMD

5 -AME

24 -TPS

(12"oc)

1 -PP

8 -DCG

(24"o.c.)

1 -MRR

1 -QRP

5 -GR(24"o.c.)

5 -CSC

4 -TMD

5 -SBE(18"o.c.)

17 -SAF(12"o.c.)

3 -RMG

4 -SMP

48 -ABB(12"o.c.)

3 -RMG

6 -JKC

1 -CAH

3 -NBW

(24"o.c.)

3 -SBG

3 -PGW

1 -JVH

5 -GR(24"o.c.)

3 -PFL

2 -TMD

3 -DPF(18"o.c.)

2 -HAI

5 -DKR

13 -GMF

(18"o.c.)

1 -SMP

7 -SDPL

5 -JGL

1 -HVS

1 -PVR

1 -SIS

1 -GTS1 -GTS

1 -CRB

8 -GR

(24"o.c.)

3 -PHM(18"o.c.)

24 -SK(12"o.c.)

7 -SDPD

2 - CSI

3 -JGL

6 -NJW(24"o.c.)

5 -HB

1 -SSC

5 -CSC

2 -TMD

8 -CNN(18"o.c.)

3 -TMD

11 -RVLS

(18"o.c.)

1 -VC

2 -HAI

5 -CRS

5 -TMD

3 -SBE(18"o.c.)

2 -TMD

3 -DKO

9 -HGP(18"o.c.)

5 -SSC

(24"o.c.)

5 -SBT

1 -SMP

3 -SBE(18"o.c.)

3 -RDK

6 -NJW

(24"o.c.)

6 -RTR

3 -TMD

3 -RGL

11 -HHR

(18"o.c.)

1 -HV

3 -SBE

(18"o.c.)

1 -GTS

4 -PA

2 -CO

1 -CO

5 -PP

3 -TAS

3 -GTS

1 -QBO

5 -PS

11 -STZ

(18"o.c.)

5 -JVH

9 -HHR

(18"o.c.)

5 -REK

11 -STZ

(18"o.c.)

5 -REK

11 -NJW

(24"o.c.)

1 -CS

2 -CO

SOD

5 -VLM

1 -OV

1 -QE

3 -PP

1 -QB

3 -PA

1 -CA

5 -CR

5 -PGD

1 -QB

1 -TSB

1 -AAB

1 -AAB

1 -CRB

1 -TSB

3 -PA

1 -CS

5 -VLM

3 -PP

1 -CS

1 -QB

1 -AFJ

1 -QB

3 -TSB

ECONOMY PRAIRE SEED MIX

ELEV. 742.5 to 745.5

WET TO MESIC PRAIRE SEED MIX

ELEV. 741.5 to 742.5

ECONOMY PRAIRE SEED MIX

ELEV. 742.5 to 745.5

WET TO MESIC PRAIRE SEED MIX

ELEV. 741.0 to 742.5

WETLAND EDGE SEED MIX

ELEV. 739.5 to 741.5

WETLAND EDGE SEED MIX

ELEV. 739.5 to 741.5

OPEN WATER

EMERGENT WETLAND PLUG MIX

SAFETY LEDGE

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

11 -EPM

(18"o.c.)

3 -CCI

1 -MRR

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

SOD

3 -JGL

3 -JGL

3 -SH(24"o.c.)

2 -SH(24"o.c.)

1 -PGW

1 -PGW

7 -HGB & 7 -HSW

(Mix @ 18"o.c.)

3 -HB

2 -TMD

3 -SBE(18"o.c.)

5 -AME

24 -TPS

(12"oc)

5 -JGL

1 -HVS

3 -JKC

1 -SMP

7 -SDPL

1 -SMP

5 -SH(24"o.c.)

1 -RPP

7 -GR

(24"o.c.)

5 -JKC

2 -PVR

1 -SMP

3 -PFL

9 -GMF

(18"o.c.)

3 -JKC

9 -NBW

(24"o.c.)

5 -SDPL

3 -SH(24"o.c.)

2 -SH(24"o.c.)

5 -CSC

4 -JKC

5 -GR(24"o.c.)

7 -SBE(18"o.c.)

4 -RMG

24 -SI(15"o.c.)

1 -PVR

1 -UA

1 -CS

EMERGENT WETLAND PLUG MIX

SAFETY LEDGE

OPEN WATER

LEGEND

EMERGENT PLUG MIX

WETLAND SEED MIX

WET/MESIC PRAIRIE

SEED MIX

ECONOMY PRAIRIE SEED MIX

TURF GRASS SEED MIX

LANDSCAPE

PLAN

N
O

R
T

H

0' 10' 20' 40'

L-3.0

Know what'sbelow.

Callbefore you dig.

SHEET

REVISIONS

c
 

C
o

p
y

r
i
g

h
t
 
2

0
2

2
 
a

l
l
 
r
i
g

h
t
s

 
r
e

s
e

r
v

e
d

.
 
 
T

h
e

 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
a

n
d

 
a

n
y

 
a

n
d

 
a

l
l
 
i
d

e
a

s
 
c

o
n

t
a

i
n

e
d

 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
a

r
e

 
t
h

e
 
s

o
l
e

 
p

r
o

p
e

r
t
y

 
o

f
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

.
 
 
A

n
y

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
o

f
 
t
h

e
 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
o

r
 
t
h

e
 
c

o
n

c
e

p
t
 
e

m
b

o
d

i
e

d
 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
i
n

 
a

n
y

 
f
o

r
m

,
 
i
n

 
w

h
o

l
e

 
o

r
 
i
n

 
p

a
r
t
,
 
w

i
t
h

o
u

t
 
c

o
n

s
e

n
t
 
f
r
o

m
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

 
i
s

 
p

r
o

h
i
b

i
t
e

d
.
 
 

PROJECT NO.:

DATE:

SCALE:

22-184

TITLE

SEAL:

 
 
 
 
I
f
 
t
h

i
s

 
p

l
a

n
 
i
s

 
n

o
t
 
2

4
'
'
 
x

 
3

6
"
 
i
n

 
s

i
z
e

,
 
t
h

e
n

 
i
t
 
i
s

 
a

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
t
h

a
t
 
m

a
y

 
n

o
t
 
b

e
 
t
o

 
s

c
a

l
e

 

M
I
S

T
Y

 
C

R
E

E
K

1
1

6
t
h

 
&

 
L

A
R

A
W

A
Y

 
R

O
A

D

1    Updated Site Plan

METZ & COMPANYMETZ & COMPANY
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE/SITE PLANNING

826 East Maple Street

Lombard, Illinois 60148

PH: 630.561.3903

www.metz-company.com

F
R

A
N

K
F

O
R

T
,
 
I
L

L
I
N

O
I
S

2-7-22

2    New Site Plan
5-20-22

C
:
\
U

s
e

r
s
\
R

a
n

d
y
\
D

e
s
k
t
o

p
\
P

r
o

j
e

c
t
 
F

i
l
e

s
\
L

I
N

D
E

N
-
1

1
6

t
h

 
&

 
L

a
r
a

w
a

y
\
M

i
s
t
y
 
C

r
e

e
k
-
L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

_
2

0
2

2
-
0

5
-
2

0
.
d

w
g

,
 
5

/
2

1
/
2

0
2

2
 
7

:
3

0
:
1

9
 
A

M

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM WATER DETENTION EASEMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FES W/Grate 24" CMP INV. 739.52

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIGN: "45 MPH"

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 744.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET RIM 744.06

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM M.H. RIM 744.12

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIM 744.07

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORM M.H. RIM 744.52

AutoCAD SHX Text
INLET RIM 746.68

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER V.V RIM 750.37

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATER V.V RIM 750.33

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 43°09'23" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.45'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 2°03'30" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
300.01'

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
735

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
740.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
745.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
735

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
735

AutoCAD SHX Text
735

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
735

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
745.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
740.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
740.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
745.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
740.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
745.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
740.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
751

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 43°09'23" E

AutoCAD SHX Text
70.45'

AutoCAD SHX Text
N 2°03'30" W

AutoCAD SHX Text
300.01'

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
748

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
747

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
735

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
740.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
745.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
735

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
735

AutoCAD SHX Text
735

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
735

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
739

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
745.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
740.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
740.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
745.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
745.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
740.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
745.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
745

AutoCAD SHX Text
743

AutoCAD SHX Text
742

AutoCAD SHX Text
741

AutoCAD SHX Text
740

AutoCAD SHX Text
740.50

AutoCAD SHX Text
744

AutoCAD SHX Text
746

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
749

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
750

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
01-14-2022



EQUIPMENT

& DETAILS

VINES, GROUNDCOVERS & ANNUALS)

(PERENNIALS, ORNAMENTAL GRASSES

CONTAINER PLANTS TO PROMOTE

EXTERIOR ROOTS ON ROOT-BOUND

SLICE, CUT, OR SEPARATE

ROOT GROWTH.

DISTRIBUTOR FOR PRECISE DEPTHS.

OTHER PLANTING DEPTHS.  CONSULT BULB

CERTAIN BULBS/PERENNIALS MAY REQUIRE

BED PLANTING DETAIL

SEE SPECIFIC SPACING

DIMENSION ON DRAWINGS

NTS

GROUNDCOVER & PERENNIAL BEDS &

APPLY 18-6-12 OSMOCOTE (270 DAY)

TIMED RELEASED FERTILIZER TO

TIME RELEASED FERTILIZER TO

RECOMMENDATIONS.

ANNUAL BEDS PER MFRS.

14-14-14 OSMOCOTE (120 DAY)

DEPTH OF 9".  DO NOT COMPACT

UNNECESSARILY AFTER PLANTING

ROTOTILL INTO SOIL TO A MIN.

MIN. OF 3" MUSHROOM COMPOST

SHALL BE TOPDRESS WITH 2"

OF SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH

PERENNIALS & ORN. GRASSES 

SHALL BE TOPDRESS WITH 2"

GROUNDCOVERS & ANNUALS

OF MUSHROOM COMPOST

EXISTING SUB-GRADE

SPACING

ALL BED PLANTINGS

SHALL BE INSTALLED

WITH TRIANGULAR

9"-12"

PLANTING SOIL:

FINISHED GRADE

FORM MULCH SAUCER

AROUND PLANTING PIT

PINE BARK MULCH

2" OF SOUTHERN

1" OF SHREDDED

HARDWOOD MULCH

3/16" STEEL AIRCRAFT

CABLE

KEEP MULCH AWAY

FROM TRUNK

PREPARED BACKFILL

PEAT OR COMPOST.

AROUND THE ROOTBALL

BE REMOVED OR ROLLED DOWN

BURLAP & PLASTIC WRAP SHALL

SHALL BE REMOVED.  TREATED

TWINE AROUND THE TRUNK

BE REMOVED, HOWEVER ALL

45° OR LESS

OF 75% SOIL & 25%

UNTREATED BURLAP NEED NOT

NTS

TO MAINTAIN WIRE TAUTNESS

NEW 2-PLY 1/2" REINFORCED

RUBBER HOSE, 1/4" CABLE

CLAMP & 1/4" TURNBUCKLES

30" STEEL SCREW EARTH ANCHORS

2 TIMES BALL WIDTH

EVERGREEN TREE

DECIDUOUS TREE

2 TIMES BALL WIDTH

DRAINAGE MATERIAL WHEN

WETNESS OR DRAINAGE 

PROBLEMS ENCOUNTERED

DRAINAGE TUBING AND/0R

NTS

2-PLY 1/2"

REINFORCED HOSE

FROM TRUNK

KEEP MULCH AWAY

AROUND PLANTING PIT

FORM MULCH SAUCER

HARDWOOD MULCH

3" OF SHREDDED

OF 75% SOIL & 25%

PEAT OR COMPOST.

PREPARED BACKFILL

45° OR LESS

3 METAL STAKES @ 8'

#12 GAUGE STEEL WIRE

UNTREATED BURLAP NEED NOT

BE REMOVED, HOWEVER ALL

TWINE AROUND THE TRUNK

SHALL BE REMOVED.  TREATED

BURLAP & PLASTIC WRAP SHALL

BE REMOVED OR ROLLED DOWN

AROUND THE ROOTBALL

NOTE: STAKING OF DECIDUOUS

TREES NOT REQUIRED UNLESS

PROTECTED W/ TREE WRAP.

SECURE WRAP W/ TWINE @

TOP & REMOVE THE NEXT

DO NOT STAKE INTO

TRUNK OF TREE SHALL BE

TREE WILL NOT REMAIN PLUMB.

SPRING

ROOTBALL

FINISHED GRADE

EXISTING SUB-GRADE

SHRUBS

NTS

6"

PREPARED BACKFILL

PEAT OR COMPOST.

OF 75% SOIL & 25%

3" OF SHREDDED

HARDWOOD MULCH

SHALL BE REMOVED.  TREATED

UNTREATED BURLAP NEED NOT

BE REMOVED, HOWEVER ALL

AROUND THE ROOTBALL

BE REMOVED OR ROLLED DOWN

BURLAP & PLASTIC WRAP SHALL

TWINE AROUND THE TRUNK

SHEET

REVISIONS

c
 

C
o

p
y

r
i
g

h
t
 
2

0
2

2
 
a

l
l
 
r
i
g

h
t
s

 
r
e

s
e

r
v

e
d

.
 
 
T

h
e

 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
a

n
d

 
a

n
y

 
a

n
d

 
a

l
l
 
i
d

e
a

s
 
c

o
n

t
a

i
n

e
d

 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
a

r
e

 
t
h

e
 
s

o
l
e

 
p

r
o

p
e

r
t
y

 
o

f
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

.
 
 
A

n
y

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
o

f
 
t
h

e
 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
o

r
 
t
h

e
 
c

o
n

c
e

p
t
 
e

m
b

o
d

i
e

d
 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
i
n

 
a

n
y

 
f
o

r
m

,
 
i
n

 
w

h
o

l
e

 
o

r
 
i
n

 
p

a
r
t
,
 
w

i
t
h

o
u

t
 
c

o
n

s
e

n
t
 
f
r
o

m
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

 
i
s

 
p

r
o

h
i
b

i
t
e

d
.
 
 

PROJECT NO.:

DATE:

SCALE:

22-184

TITLE

SEAL:

 
 
 
 
I
f
 
t
h

i
s

 
p

l
a

n
 
i
s

 
n

o
t
 
2

4
'
'
 
x

 
3

6
"
 
i
n

 
s

i
z
e

,
 
t
h

e
n

 
i
t
 
i
s

 
a

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
t
h

a
t
 
m

a
y

 
n

o
t
 
b

e
 
t
o

 
s

c
a

l
e

 

M
I
S

T
Y

 
C

R
E

E
K

1
1

6
t
h

 
&

 
L

A
R

A
W

A
Y

 
R

O
A

D

1    Updated Site Plan

METZ & COMPANYMETZ & COMPANY
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE/SITE PLANNING

826 East Maple Street

Lombard, Illinois 60148

PH: 630.561.3903

www.metz-company.com

F
R

A
N

K
F

O
R

T
,
 
I
L

L
I
N

O
I
S

2-7-22

2    New Site Plan
5-20-22

PET PARK

6' BENCH

Deluxe Bench

Model #: 439-1012 (or equal)

Color: TBD

Provided by:

Barco Products PH: 855-337-4808

ROVER JUMP OVER

Rover Jump Over

Model #: 439-1006 (or equal)

Color: TBD

Provided by:

Barco Products PH: 855-337-4808

TRASH RECEPTACLE LE

Trash Receptacle

Model #: 439-1013 (or equal)

Color: TBD

Provided by:

Barco Products PH: 855-337-4808

PET STATION

Aluminum Header Pak Pet Station w/ Sign

Model #: 135-1027 (or equal)

Color: TBD

Provided by:

Barco Products PH: 855-337-4808

CRAWL TUNNEL

Rover Doggie Crawl

Model #: 439-1007 (or equal)

Color: TBD

Provided by:

Barco Products PH: 855-337-4808

STEPS

Stepping Paws

Model #: 439-1009 (or equal)

Color: TBD

Provided by:

Barco Products PH: 855-337-4808

L-4.0

C
:
\
U

s
e

r
s
\
R

a
n

d
y
\
D

e
s
k
t
o

p
\
P

r
o

j
e

c
t
 
F

i
l
e

s
\
L

I
N

D
E

N
-
1

1
6

t
h

 
&

 
L

a
r
a

w
a

y
\
M

i
s
t
y
 
C

r
e

e
k
-
L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

_
2

0
2

2
-
0

5
-
2

0
.
d

w
g

,
 
5

/
2

1
/
2

0
2

2
 
7

:
3

0
:
4

8
 
A

M

AutoCAD SHX Text
NTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
01-14-2022



NATIVE

LANDSCAPE

SHEET

REVISIONS

c
 

C
o

p
y

r
i
g

h
t
 
2

0
2

2
 
a

l
l
 
r
i
g

h
t
s

 
r
e

s
e

r
v

e
d

.
 
 
T

h
e

 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
a

n
d

 
a

n
y

 
a

n
d

 
a

l
l
 
i
d

e
a

s
 
c

o
n

t
a

i
n

e
d

 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
a

r
e

 
t
h

e
 
s

o
l
e

 
p

r
o

p
e

r
t
y

 
o

f
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

.
 
 
A

n
y

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
o

f
 
t
h

e
 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
o

r
 
t
h

e
 
c

o
n

c
e

p
t
 
e

m
b

o
d

i
e

d
 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
i
n

 
a

n
y

 
f
o

r
m

,
 
i
n

 
w

h
o

l
e

 
o

r
 
i
n

 
p

a
r
t
,
 
w

i
t
h

o
u

t
 
c

o
n

s
e

n
t
 
f
r
o

m
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

 
i
s

 
p

r
o

h
i
b

i
t
e

d
.
 
 

PROJECT NO.:

DATE:

SCALE:

22-184

TITLE

SEAL:

 
 
 
 
I
f
 
t
h

i
s

 
p

l
a

n
 
i
s

 
n

o
t
 
2

4
'
'
 
x

 
3

6
"
 
i
n

 
s

i
z
e

,
 
t
h

e
n

 
i
t
 
i
s

 
a

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
t
h

a
t
 
m

a
y

 
n

o
t
 
b

e
 
t
o

 
s

c
a

l
e

 

M
I
S

T
Y

 
C

R
E

E
K

1
1

6
t
h

 
&

 
L

A
R

A
W

A
Y

 
R

O
A

D

1    Updated Site Plan

METZ & COMPANYMETZ & COMPANY
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE/SITE PLANNING

826 East Maple Street

Lombard, Illinois 60148

PH: 630.561.3903

www.metz-company.com

F
R

A
N

K
F

O
R

T
,
 
I
L

L
I
N

O
I
S

2-7-22

2    New Site Plan
5-20-22

THREE-YEAR MANAGEMENT PERIOD ACTIVITIES

1. The work consists of the Contractor conducting routine ecological management activities during the
three-year management and monitoring period in the naturalized planting areas as shown on the
landscape plan to assist the Contractor in meeting required performance standards.

2. During the first two (2) growing seasons of the three-year period the Contractor shall high-mow the
vegetation in the Prairie and/or Wet/Mesic Prairie areas several times during the growing season to
ensure the vegetation does not exceed eighteen inches (18") in height.  A rotary or flail type mower
shall be used.  During high-mowing, the vegetation shall be cut no lower than 6 to 9 inches so the native
seeding are unharmed.   Selective weed whipping can also be used if conditions are unfit (i.e., too wet)
for a tractor, or if only small isolated areas of vegetation required cutting.  In addition, cutting the
inflorescence prior to seed set of many biennial species including teasel and sweet clover is an effective
control method that can be utilized.

3. The Contractor shall conduct chemical and/or mechanical weed control activities in all of the naturalized
seeded areas for a three-year period following planting/seeding.  The Contractor shall conduct four
annual weed control application periods (total of twelve (12) for the three-year period).  The Contractor
is responsible to achieve a 95% kill of reed canary grass, purple loosestrife, thistle and common reed and
80% kill of other problematic, nuisance species to successfully complete each of the application periods
specified below.

a. Application Period One (early spring): problematic species such as, but not limited to, reed canary
grass, red/white cover, cattails.

b. Application Period Two (late spring to mid-summer):  problematic species such as, but not limited
to, reed canary grass, while/yellow sweet cover, cattails, wild carrot, purple loosestrife and
common reed.

c. Application Period Three (mid to late summer):  problematic species such as, but not limited to,
reed canary grass, ragweed, cattails, purple loosestrife and common reed.

d. Application Period Four (late summer to early fall): problematic species such as, but not limited to,
reed canary grass, red/white cover, common reed.

    4.    Natural regeneration of cattails in the stormwater management facilities will likely occur following 
construction.  As required by these planting specifications pre-planting weed control will be conducted
if any problematic species are present.  As for cattails, hand pulling cattails can be conducted when 
the cattails are small enough to ensure that the entire root is removed.  Off-site disposal of cattails will
be required.  Larger cattails will require herbicide applications.  Aggressive cattail control will be 
required after planting throughout the three-year management period to ensure plant establishment.
After planting the hand-wick application method to control cattails shall be required.

    5.    If permitted, the Contractor shall conduct a prescribed burn in the prairie areas during the third 
growing season.  The Contractor shall obtain all the required burn permits from the Illinois 
Environmental Protection Agency, City or Village, and local fire protect district and prepare all 
necessary documents required for the permit including a Burn Plan.

    6.    The Contractor shall irrigate all plant plugs as needed to achieve the survivorship requirements.

    7.    The Contractor shall remove and dispose of all planting enclosures during the second year of the 
management period.

PERFORMANCE CRITERIA

1. Within three (3) months of seed installation, at least 90% of the seeded area, as measured by aerial
coverage, shall be vegetated.  A minimum 90% vegetative coverage shall be maintained throughout and
at the end of the three-year maintenance period for these areas.  This standard does not apply to
wetland plug areas (if planted).

2. At the end of the second growing season, a minimum of 75% vegetative coverage in the wetland plug
area(s) shall be achieved and maintained throughout the end of the three-year maintenance period (if
planted).

3. The stormwater management facilities shall not contain any rills greater than four inches (4") deep
throughout and at the end of the three-year maintenance period.

4. At the end of the second and third growing seasons, no area greater than 1.0 square meters on slope
areas shall be devoid of vegetation.

5. At the end of the second growing season, 30% seed mix presence for the prairie seed mix areas shall be
achieved.  At the end of the third growing season 50% seed mix presence for the prairie seed mixes shall
be achieved.

6. At the end of the third growing season, the top three dominate species based on aerial coverage shall
NOT be non-native species, cattail or reed grass

7. Relative coverage (determined by ocular estimation) of cattail shall be less than 10% throughout, and at
the end of the three-year maintenance period.

8. Relative coverage (determined by ocular estimation) of common reed, reed canary grass, and loosestrife
in aggregate shall be less than 5% throughout, and at the end of the three-year maintenance period.

9. Relative coverage (determined by ocular estimation) of thistle and teasel shall be less than 5%
throughout, and at the end of the three-year maintenance period.

10. Plugs (if planted) must achieve 90% survivorship one (1) year from plant installation.

The Contractor shall water plant plugs (if planted) as needed in order to meet the performance criteria.  The
cost to irrigate is incidental to the contract and shall be included in the Contractor's bid price.  The Contractor
shall also perform vegetative management for three years following planting as specified under the section
"Three-year Monitoring and Reporting Activities' to assist with meeting the Contractor Performance Criteria.
If performance criteria are not achieved, Contractor is responsible to conduct additional activities, which may
include supplemental seeding, supplemental planting and additional years of vegetation management to
rectify areas at no additional cost to the Owner to achieve performance.

LONG-TERM MANAGEMENT ACTIVITIES

1. Following competition of the initial Three-year maintenance program the following
Long-term maintenance shall be performed on a regular basis:

a. Prescribed burning will be performed every one to three years for established 
native prairie plantings and naturalized detention basins.  Burning requires a 
permit from the Illinois EPA and notification of the local fire district and the 
Village of Frankfort.

b. Late fall or early winter mowing to a height of six to twelve inches (6"-12"), 
hay and debris shall not be removed, and will be performed in alternate years where
burning is not practical or conditions are not conductive to burning.

c. Applications of herbicide to control invasive will be required if burning or 
mowing does not control or eliminate said problematic or nuisance species.  
Those species shall include, but not limited to, reed canary grass, purple 
loosestrife, cattail, thistle and common reed.  All herbicide applications shall be 
performed by a certified and licensed applicator.  Herbicides shall be non-toxic 
to animals and aquatic life and will be applied in an appropriate manner to 
prevent the killing of desirable native species.

SPECIFICATIONS

NTS

SECTION - STROMWATER DETENTION SHORELINE TREATMENT

N.W.L

H.W.L.

ECONOMY PRAIRIE

SEED MIX

WETLAND

EDGE

SEED MIX

EMERGENT WETLAND PLUG MIX

@ 24"o.c. SPACING

WET TO MESIC PRAIRIE

SEED MIX

TURF GRASS

NOTE:

A 1-ROLL WIDTH OF STRAW/COCONUT EROSION

CONTROL BLANKET WILL EXTEND FOR THE

ENTIRE SHORELINE OF THE POND.

EROSION CONTROL MATTING SHALL BE

INSTALLED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE

MANUFACTURER'S INSTALLATION GUIDELINES.

1

2

"

3

6

"

DOUBLE NET STRAW

EROSION CONTROL

BLANKET (N.A.G. S150)

STAPLES

STRAW EROSION

CONTROL BLANKET

(N.A.G. S75)

STRAW/COCONUT

EROSION CONTROL

BLANKET (N.A.G SC150)

L-5.0

C
:
\
U

s
e

r
s
\
R

a
n

d
y
\
D

e
s
k
t
o

p
\
P

r
o

j
e

c
t
 
F

i
l
e

s
\
L

I
N

D
E

N
-
1

1
6

t
h

 
&

 
L

a
r
a

w
a

y
\
M

i
s
t
y
 
C

r
e

e
k
-
L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

_
2

0
2

2
-
0

5
-
2

0
.
d

w
g

,
 
5

/
2

1
/
2

0
2

2
 
7

:
3

1
:
1

5
 
A

M

AutoCAD SHX Text
N/A

AutoCAD SHX Text
01-14-2022



LANDSCAPE

SPECIFICATIONS

PLANT MATERIAL

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 SCOPE OF WORK

The work includes furnishing of all materials, and the performance of all operation in connection with the planting of deciduous & evergreen trees, deciduous &

evergreen shrubs, shrub roses, perennials, ornamental grasses, groundcover, bulbs (if any) and annual flowers (if any) in strict conformance with the project

specifications and applicable drawings which are subject to the terms and conditions of the Contract.

1.2 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

All plant material shall comply with the State of ILLINOIS and FEDERAL laws with respect to inspection for plant diseases and insect infestation.  An inspection

certificate required by law to this effect shall accompany each shipment.  The Landscape Architect reserves the right to inspect the plant material at the place of

growth but such inspection shall not preclude the right of rejection at the site.

1.3 APPLICABLE STANDARDS

A. American National Standards for Tree Care Operations, ANSI A300, American National Standards Institute, 11 West 42nd Street, New York, N.Y.  10036.

B. American Standard for Nursery Stock, ANSI Z60.1, American Nursery & Landscape Association, 1000 Vermont Avenue NW, Suite 300, Washington, D.C.

20005.

C. Hortus Third, The Staff of the L.J. Bailey Hortorium, 1976, MacMillan Publishing Co., New York.

D. All standards shall include the latest additions and amendments as of the dated of advertisement for bids.

PART 2 - MATERIALS

2.1 GENERAL

The Landscape Architect reserves the right to tag or inspect plants at the nursery but such inspection shall not preclude the right of rejection at the site.

Contractor shall furnish and install all plants as shown on the drawing and in the quantities as actually designated on the drawings.  The quantities shown on the

plant list are included for convenience purposes only.

2.2 NOMENCLATURE

The names of the plants indicated on the drawings conform generally with those accepted in the nursery trade.

2.3 QUALITY AND SIZE

Plants shall have a habit of growth that is normal for the species and shall be sound, healthy, vigorous, and free from insect pests, their eggs or larvae, plant

diseases, and injuries.  All plants shall be nursery grown under climatic conditions similar to those which exist in the locality of the site for at least two (2) years

and equal or exceed the measurements specified in the plant list.  They shall be measured before pruning with branches in formal position.  All necessary

pruning shall be performed only at the time of planting.  Trees will not be accepted which have their leaders cut or which have their leaders damaged so that

cutting is necessary.  Plants larger in size than specified may be used with the approval of the Landscape Architect but the use of larger plants will make no

change in the contract price.  Requirements for the measurement, branching, quality, balling, and burlapping of plants on the plant list shall follow the Code of

Standards (Z60.1-most current edition) by the AMERICAN NURSERY & LANDSCAPE ASSOCIATION, formerly known as the AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF

NURSERYMEN, INC.  All plant material with shriveled dry roots or which does not comply with the specifications will be rejected.  All shrubs shall be at least

twice transplanted and must have a fully developed fibrous root system typical of the stated species.  All shrubs must be freshly dug immediately before shipping

unless they are containerized.  Pre-dug, healed-in plants may be considered only in special cases involving planting during the hot months between the spring

and fall planting seasons.  Use of such material will be allowed only upon the approval of the Landscape Architect and is subject to his inspection prior to said

approval.

2.4 DELIVERIES

The Contractor shall take all precautions that are demanded by good trade practice to insure arrival of the plant material at the stated delivery point in good

condition and without injury of any nature.  Plants shall be covered properly to prevent drying, transit disease, or injury.

2.5 TEMPORARY STORAGE

Insofar as it is possible, plant material shall be planted on the day of delivery.  In the event this is not possible, the Contractor shall protect the unplanted stock

from sun and drying winds at all times.  All balled and burlapped plants shall be shaded from the sun, have their ball set off the ground and healed in with

sawdust, peat, soil or other moisture-holding material and shall be kept moist.  Plants should not remain unplanted for longer than three (3) days if in leaf.

On-site storage shall be only in area(s) designated by the Owner.

2.6 SUBSTITUTIONS

Substitutions may be permitted only upon submission of written proof that the specified plant is not obtainable locally.  Such substitution may be made only upon

authorization by the Landscape Architect.

2.7 SELECTION

All plants shall be obtained from nurseries licensed by the State of Illinois and approved by the Landscape Architect.  The Landscape Architect reserves the right

to accompany the Contractor to the nurseries for the purpose of selecting (tagging) material.  Plant sources located outside the State of Illinois must be approved

by the Landscape Architect.

2.8 TOPSOIL

Topsoil if needed shall be imported. All imported topsoil, used for any portion of the work, shall be fertile, friable, natural loam containing a liberal amount of

humus.  It shall be relatively free from weeds, large roots, plants, sticks, stones larger than one (1) inch, waste, debris or other extraneous matter.  The installing

Contractor shall be responsible for rock picking and/or debris removal as needed to meet this specification.

The soil, to be acceptable topsoil, shall meet the following criteria:

A. ORGANIC MATTER: Not less than 1.5 percent no more than 10.0 percent.

B. pH:  No lower than 5.0 nor higher than 8.0.

C. TEXTURE:  No more than 25 percent clay.

D. SOLUBLE SALT:  No more than 1000 ppm

E. CHEMICAL ACTIVITY:  The topsoil (on-site & imported) shall be free from any toxins or chemical residue which could result in any form of plant growth damage.

The Contractor shall provide a soil analysis report submittal containing test results and soil scientist recommendations based on a minimum of one (1) sample

taken from each proposed imported topsoil stock pile.  The testing shall cover macro nutrients and pH, soluble salts, organic content/mechanical analysis and

Bio assay.

2.9 MULCH

Mulch shall consist of the following:

A. MUSHROOM COMPOST

Mushroom compost shall be composed of well-rotted cattle or stable manure with an admixture of 15-30% topsoil and shall have been used for the commercial

growing of at least one (1) crop of mushrooms.

B. SHREDDED HARDWOOD BARK (general mulching)

Shredded hardwood bark shall consist of finely shredded hardwood bark, free of sticks and leaves.

2.10 FERTILIZER & NUTRIENTS

Fertilizer shall be commercial fertilizer which shall be a complete fertilizer with the following approximate analysis:

A. Shrubs

Woodace (14-3-3) slow-release briquettes or acceptable equivalent approved by Landscape Architect.

B. Roses

1. Woodace (14-3-3) slow-release briquettes

2. Superthrive liquid or acceptable equivalent approved by Landscape Architect.

C. Perennials, Groundcover, Ornamental Grasses & Vines

Osmocote (18-6-12) 8-9 month controlled release, or acceptable equivalent approved by the Landscape Architect.

D. Annual Flowers

Osmocote (14-14-14) 3-4 month controlled release or acceptable equivalent approved by the Landscape Architect.

E. Bulbs

Holland Bulb Booster (9-9-6) or acceptable equivalent approved by the Landscape Architect.

F. Deciduous & Evergreen Trees

No fertilizer required

2.11 TREE WRAPPING MATERIAL

A. Wrap shall be - Breathable synthetic fabric tree wrap.  White in color, delivered in 75 mm (3 in.) wide rolls.  Specifically manufactured for tree wrapping.  Tree

wrap shall be “Breathable Fabric Tree Wrap” as manufactured by the Dewitt Company, Inc., Sikeston, MO, or approved equal.  Submit manufacture literature for

approval.

B. Tape for securing the wrap shall be bio-degradable tape suitable for nursery use and which is expected to degrade in sunlight in less than two (2) years after

installation.

2.12 WATER

Potable water shall be supplied by the Owner at no cost to the Contractor by way of an irrigation system, quick coupler system, hose bibs, hydrant meter or a

designated fill-up source on site.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

Planting operations shall be conducted under favorable weather conditions during the season stated in the Contract.  Before excavations are made the

surrounding turf (if existing) shall be covered in a manner that will satisfactorily protect all turf areas that are to be trucked or hauled over and upon which soil is

to temporarily stocked.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the restoration of all damaged existing turf.  All restoration shall be sodded.

3.1 TIME SCHEDULE OF PLANTING OPERATION

Landscaping shall be performed during the season or seasons which are normal for such work as determined by weather conditions and by accepted practice.

Planting may be performed under unseasonable conditions without additional compensation, but such work must have the prior approval of the Landscape

Architect and/or Owner in writing as to the time of work and methods of operations.  Approval to plant under such conditions shall in no way relieve the

Contractor form the guarantee provisions of these specifications.

PLANTING SEASON ACCEPTABLE TIME PERIOD

1. SPRING a.  From time soil is workable to June 15 with the following exception:

1)  Bare root materials (if any) shall cease on May 31

2. FALL a.  Sept. 1 to Nov. 15 with following exceptions:

1)  Evergreen Shrub planting to cease Oct. 31

2)  Evergreen Tree planting to cease Oct. 15

3)  Perennial & Ornamental Grass planting to cease Oct. 15

3.2     WATERING

All plants shall receive a thorough watering immediately after installation.  During times of extreme heat, all evergreen and deciduous trees shall

receive a minimum of 10 gallons of water per tree per watering up to two (2) additional waterings shall be performed as needed.  The use of drip

irrigation tree bags are encouraged (e.g., gatorbags).  All additional waterings will be performed by the Owner or in accordance with a Change Order per

the Supplemental Bid prices for additional watering.

3.3  MAINTENANCE

Maintenance shall be performed by the Contractor as follows:

A. TEMPORARY MAINTENANCE

The Contractor shall be responsible for the total maintenance of all plant material until such a date as all landscape operations have received 

Preliminary Acceptance.  Temporary maintenance shall begin immediately after each plant is installed and shall include up to three (3) waterings, and

all necessary cultivation, weeding, pruning, disease and insect pest control, protective spraying, resetting of plants to proper grades or upright position,

restoration of damaged planting saucers, and any other procedure consistence with good horticultural practice necessary to insure normal, vigorous,

and healthy growth of all work under this Contract.  Upon the Preliminary Acceptance of all planted areas, the responsibility for plant maintenance rests

solely with the Owner, with the following exceptions.

B. CONTINUED MAINTENANCE

For the duration of the guarantee period the Contractor shall be responsible for the resetting of settled plants, the straightening of plants which are not

plumb and the tightening of tree guys (if utilized).  All other maintenance is the responsibility of the Owner. However, it is the Contractor's responsibility to

occasionally inspect the quality of the Owner's maintenance.

3.4  ACCEPTANCE

A. PRELIMINARY PLANTING ACCEPTANCE

  Preliminary planting acceptance shall be given for completed planting operations for the purpose of the Contractor becoming eligible for payment for

this portion of the Contract work.  In order to obtain Preliminary Acceptance, the Contractor shall notify the Owner and/or Owner's Representative by phone

or in writing at the conclusion of all planting operations so that preliminary acceptability by way of a field inspection can be performed.  In order for an area

to be accepted on a preliminary basis, it shall conform to the following:

1.  All plant material shall be in conformance with the Drawings with respect to quality, size, species and location, except those items accepted or revised

in the field by the Landscape Architect.

2.  All plant material shall be in a healthy condition, as defined under the guarantee requirements stated below in Section 3.14

B. FINAL PLANTING ACCEPTANCE

Final planting acceptance shall be granted after the completion of all replacement operations required fulfilling the guarantee stated below.

On or about the expiration of the one-year (1 year) guarantee, a follow-up inspection will be made by the Owners and/or Owner's Representative to

determine replacements required to be made by the Contractor in accordance with the provisions of these specifications.  The inspector will document his/her

findings in a field report.  Upon completion of the replacement program, the Owner and/or Owner's Representative shall conduct an inspection to determine

the acceptability of the required replacements.  If all is found to be acceptable as defined by Item A above, the Contractor and the General Contractor shall

be notified in writing of his final acceptance of work.

3.5 GUARANTEE

The Contractor shall guarantee for a period of one (1) year the replacement of any permanent plant which has died, or is in a dying condition, or which

has failed to flourish in such a manner that its usefulness or appearance has been impaired.  Any tree with a dead main leader or with a crown which is

twenty-five percent (25%) or more dead shall be replaced.

These guarantees shall be in accordance with the following:

A. ONE YEAR PERIOD

         The one (1) year period shall begin on the date of Preliminary Acceptance of all plant material.

B. REPLACEMENTS & DAMAGES

The decisions of the Owner and/or Owner's Representative for required replacements shall be conclusive and binding upon the Contractor.  The Contractor

shall also be responsible for repairing damage to persons and property also caused by defective workmanship and materials.

C. EXCLUSIONS

The Contractor shall not be liable for the replacement of plants which were damaged by animals, by deicing compounds, fertilizers, pesticides or other

materials not specified by the Contract documents or not applied by him under his supervision, by relocating or removal by others, by Acts of God, by

vandalism or by terrorism.

D. GUARANTEE PERIOD INSPECTION

During the guarantee period, the Contractor shall, from time to time, inspect the watering, cultivation, and other maintenance operations carried on by the

Owner with respect to such work, and promptly report to the Owner any methods, practices or operations which he considers unsatisfactory, and not in

accord with his interests or good horticultural practices.  The failure of the Contractor to so inspect or report shall be construed as an acceptance by him of

the Owner's maintenance operations, and he shall not thereafter claim or assert that any defects which may later develop are the result of such methods or

practices or operations.

TURF GRASS

PART 1 - GENERAL

1.1 SCOPE OF WORK

The work includes finish grading, furnishing fertilizer, seed and/or sod as specified and performance of all operations in connection with seeding and/or

sodding in strict accordance with the applicable Drawings and subject to the terms and conditions of the Contract.

1.2   EQUIPMENT

The Contractor shall provide and maintain equipment suitable for the execution and completion of the work specified in accordance with (IDOT) Standard

Specifications.  All equipment shall be operated by personnel trained in the operation of such equipment.

PART 2 - PRODUCTS

2.1 TOPSOIL

Topsoil for planting operations shall be obtained from an on-site stockpile generated from site stripping.  In the event that none is available, needed topsoil

shall be imported from an off-site source.  All imported topsoil, used for any portion of the work, shall be fertile, friable, natural loam containing a liberal

amount of humus.  It shall be relatively free from weeds, large roots, plants, sticks, stones larger than one (1) inch, waste, debris or other extraneous matter.

The installing Contractor shall be responsible for rock picking and/or debris removal as needed to meet this specification.

The soil, to be acceptable topsoil, shall meet the following criteria:

1.  ORGANIC MATTER:  Not less than 1.5 percent no more than 10.0 percent.

2.  pH:  No lower than 5.0 nor higher than 8.0.

3.  TEXTURE:  No more than 25 percent clay.

4.  SOLUBLE SALT:  No more than 1000 ppm.

5.  CHEMICAL ACTIVITY:  The topsoil (on-site & imported) shall be free from any toxins or chemical residue which could result in any form of plant

     growth damage.

The Contractor shall provide a soil analysis report submittal containing test results and soil scientist recommendations based on a minimum of one (1)

sample taken from each proposed imported topsoil stock pile.  The testing shall cover macro nutrients and pH, soluble salts, organic content/mechanical

analysis and Bio assay.

2.2 COMMERCIAL FERTILIZER AND DELIVERY

Fertilizer shall be delivered to the site in unopened, original containers, each bearing name and address of the manufacturer, name brand, or trademark, and

manufacturer's guaranteed analysis.  Any fertilizer which becomes caked or otherwise damaged, making it unsuitable to use, will not be accepted.  Fertilizer

shall not have been exposed to weather prior to delivery on the site and after delivery until used.  It shall be completely protected at all times and shall not be

stored in direct contact with the ground.

A. FERTILIZER STRENGTH

The fertilizer shall be a complete fertilizer containing a minimum basis percentage by weight of the following:

1.  PRIOR TO SEEDING AND/OR SODDING 6-24-24

Nitrogen.....................   6%

Phosphorous.............. 24%

Potash......................... 24%

2.  AFTER SEEDING AND/OR SODDING 18-5-9

Nitrogen..................... 18%

Phosphorous..............   5%

Potash.........................  9%

a)One-quarter of the nitrogen shall be in the form of nitrates, one-quarter in the form of ammonia salts, and one-half in the form of organic nitrogen.

b) Available phosphoric acid shall be derived from super-phosphate having a minimum guaranteed analysis of 20% of available phosphate.

c) The potash shall be in the form of sulphate of potash.

The balance of the fertilizer shall be made up of materials usually present in such a product.  It shall be free from dust, sticks, sand, stone, or other

debris.

2.3 GRASS SEED (if specified)

Grass seed shall be reclaimed seed of the previous season's seed crops.  All seed shall meet requirements established by the State and Federal Seed and

Weed Controls Laws.  The grass seed mixture shall be composed of the following grass seeds mixed in proportions by weight and shall meet or exceed the

minimum percentages of purity and germination as indicated.

PROPORTION BY WEIGHT TYPE OF GRASS

1. CONVENTIONAL TURF GRASS MIX (if specified)

60% ........................................ KENTUCKY BLUEGRASS (blend of 3 cultivars)

30% ........................................ PERENNIAL RYEGRASS (blend of 2 cultivars)

10% ........................................ CREEPING RED FESCUE

(Apply at 7 lbs./1,000 S.F. for mechanical seeding)

2. SALT TOLERANT MIX (if specified)

40% .................................... 'FULTS' ALKALI GRASS (PUCCINELLIA DISTANS)

30% .................................... CREEPING RED FESCUE

20% .................................... KENTUCKY BLUEGRASS

10% .................................... PERENNIAL RYEGRASS

(Apply at 5 lbs./1,000 S.F. for mechanical seeding)

The percentage of hard seed included as a part of the germination percentage of any lot of seed, shall not exceed twenty.  Kentucky bluegrass seed shall

weigh a minimum of 28 pounds to the nearest measured bushel.  Weed seed content shall not exceed 0.25%.

1. PACKING AND MARKETING

All seeds shall be delivered in suitable bags in accordance with standard commercial practice.   Each bag shall be tagged or labeled as required

by the law of the STATE OF ILLINOIS.  The vendor's name shall show on or be attached to each bag together with a statement signed by the

vendor showing:  a) the kind of seed contained, b) the percentage of purity and germination, c) the percentage of hard seed, if any, d) a

statement conforming to the laws of the STATE OF ILLINOIS hereinbefore mentioned showing percentage of weed seeds, if any.  Seed which

has become wet, moldy, or otherwise damaged will be rejected.

2.4 EROSION CONTROL BLANKET

1.  STRAW BLANKET (if specified)

a.   S-75 Straw Blanket (North American Green)

b.   AEC Premier Straw Blanket (American Excelsior Company)

c.   or equivalent

2. STRAW/COCONUT BLANKET (if specified)

a.  SC-150 Straw/Coconut Blanket (North American Green)

b.  AEC Premier Straw/Coconut Blanket (American Excelsior Company)

c.  or equivalent

2.5 HYDROMULCH (if specified)

       SoilCover Hydraulic Wood Mulch by Profile distributed by ERO-TEX (866)437-6839

2.6 SOD (if specified)

Sod shall comply with State and Federal laws with respect to inspection for plant diseases and insect infestation.  It shall be fresh cut, live,

nursery grown sod, not less than one and one half (1 1/2) inches thick having well-matted roots.  The root zone shall be of good, fertile, natural

mineral soil free from stones and debris.  Peat sod will not be acceptable.  The turf shall contain no bent or quack grass nor any other noxious

weed growth.  It shall be of firm tough texture having a compact growth of grass.  The sod sections shall be standard in size (24 inches wide x 3

feet in length) and each section shall be strong enough to support its own weight and retain its size and shape when suspended vertically from

a firm grasp on the upper ten (10%) percent of the section.

Before being cut and lifted, the sod shall have been mowed at least twice with a lawn mower and the final mowing not more than seven days

before the sod is cut.  Sod which is not placed within 48 hours of cutting shall not be used without the approval of the Owner and/or Landscape

Architect.

The Owner and/or Landscape Architect, reserves the right to inspect the sod at the source before cutting and areas that fail to meet with his

approval shall not be cut for the purpose of supplying material under the contract.  The Owner and/or Landscape Architect shall be permitted to

take such samples as he may select.  All sod shall be fresh and green when placed.  Any sod that is dried out, burned, inferior in quality to said

samples, or in any way failing to meet the requirements of these specifications will be rejected and the Contractor shall immediately remove

such rejected material from the premises of the project and supply suitable material in its place.

1.  BLUEGRASS SOD shall be a blend of at least three (3) cultivars of Kentucky bluegrass grown on a mineral base.

2.  SALT SOD (if specified) shall be a blend of Kentucky Bluegrass, 'Fults' Alkalie Grass (Puccinellia Distans), Perennial Ryegrass and other

types as           approved by the Landscape Architect grown on a mineral base.

2.7 WATER

The Owner shall provide at no cost, sufficient water for the Contractor to maintain plant materials and seeded and sodded areas in accordance

with the requirements of the applicable technical specifications.  Potable water shall be supplied by the Owner by way of a permanent

underground irrigation system, quick coupler system, hose bibs, fire hydrants or a designated fill-up source for mobile tanks.  When water is

provided by way of fire hydrants, it shall be the Contractor's responsibility to be completely familiar with all local ordinances concerning the use

of this water source.  If a meter is required, it is the Contractor's responsibility to obtain, store and return the meter.  All fees incurred by the

Contractor in obtaining the meter and utilizing the water supply will be reimbursed to him by the Owner.

In the event that the on-site water supply is curtailed or terminated by the Owner or by ordinance during the period the Contract is in effect, or

that there is no on-site sources of water, the Contractor shall supply water from off-site in sufficient quantities to complete the job.

Compensation for this additional item will be in accordance with a solicited price quote.  If authorization to supply off-site water is not given to

the Contractor by the Owner, when the Owner is unable to supply the water in sufficient quantities, the Contractor shall not be left responsible

for damage to new plantings (plant materials & sod) or failure of seed to germinate and grow caused a direct result of an inadequate water

supply.

PART 3 - EXECUTION

3.1 SEED - The accepted seasons for sowing seed in lawn areas shall be defined as follows:

   

PLANTING SEASONS     SPRING FALL

Turf grass April 1 * to May 31 Aug. 15 to Sept. 30

* or as soon as the soil is free of frost and in a workable condition.

Seeding during other time periods shall require the approval of the Owner and/or Landscape Architect.  All sowing of seed shall be completed

after all trees and shrubs have been installed, if any.

3.2 SOD - The accepted seasons for laying sod shall be as follows:

1.  SPRING SODDING shall be performed from the time the soil becomes workable and unfrozen sod becomes available to June 15.

2.  FALL SODDING shall be performed from August 15 to October 31.

Sodding during the summer season, defined as June 16 to August 14, will be acceptable if the area is served by an operational irrigation

system.  Sodding after November 1 shall be considered unseasonable and will require the approval of the Landscape Architect or Owner.

3.3  REQUIRED MAINTENANCE

The Contractor shall be responsible for maintaining all newly seeded and sodded areas until such a time as these areas are granted acceptance

by the Owner and/or Landscape Architect.  Maintenance during this time period shall and consist of watering, mowing, fertilization and

herbicide application, as well as any other horticultural practices necessary to establish an acceptable stand of grass.

A. WATERING

1. The Contractor shall water all newly seeded areas once immediately upon completion.  Additional watering shall be performed as needed in the

absence of adequate rainfall.   All water should be applied as a spray or dispersion to prevent run-off or damage.  The Contractor shall be

responsible for watering until turf is established and accepted.  If the Owner supplies an in-ground irrigation system, the Contractor shall be

responsible for monitoring the effectiveness of the system and shall report any problems with the system to the Owner immediately, followed up in

writing.  If the Owner does not provide an irrigation system, then additional watering shall be performed in accordance with the Supplemental Bids

where alternate watering prices shall be quoted.  If this work item is not included as part of the original Contract, it must be authorized.

Compensation shall be in accordance with the Supplemental Bid Prices.  If the Owner fails to supply water or authorize supplemental watering the

Contractor's warranty for providing an established stand of turf will be voided.

2. The Contractor shall water all newly installed sod immediately. The Contractor shall remain responsible for watering through three (3) applications.  If

the Owner supplies an in-ground irrigation system included in the scope of these improvements, the Contractor shall be responsible for monitoring

the effectiveness of the system and shall report any problems with the system to the Owner immediately, followed up in writing.  If the Owner does

not provide an irrigation system, then additional watering shall be performed in accordance with the Supplemental Bids where alternate watering

prices shall be quoted.  If this work item is not included as part of the original Contract, it must be authorized.  Compensation shall be in accordance

with the Supplemental Bid Prices.  If the Owner fails to supply water or authorize supplemental watering the Contractor's warranty for providing an

established stand of turf will be voided.  Watering after the required three (3) waterings shall be the responsibility of the Owner, or in accordance with

authorized supplemental watering.

B. MOWING

1. The Contractor shall mow all seeded areas three (3) times.  The three (3) mowings shall be performed once the turf has reached a height of three

inches (3") and shall maintain the turf at 2-2½”.  At no time should more than 1/3 of the leaf blade be removed by any mowing.

2. The Contractor shall mow all sodded areas once.   The one (1) mowing shall be performed once the turf has reached a height of three inches (3").

At no time should more than 1/3 of the leaf blade be removed by any mowing.

C. FERTILIZATION

1.      Seeded areas after completion of the second required mowing, the Contractor shall apply an 18-5-9 commercial fertilizer at the rate of 15 pounds

per      1,000 square feet (650 lbs/ac.) to all turf areas using a mechanical spreader and by making two (2) passes at right angles to each

other.

2.     Sodded area after completion of the required mowing, the Contractor shall apply an 18-5-9 commercial fertilizer at the rate of 15 pounds per 1,000

     square feet (650 lbs/ac.) to all turf areas using a mechanical spreader and by making two passes at right angles to each other.

D. HERBICIDE

The Contractor shall be responsible for one (1) application of a weed control product no sooner than the second mowing with the areas seeded.  The

product shall reflect the specific weed problem which may exist.

3.4   ACCEPTANCE

Acceptance of seeded areas will be determined by the Owner and/or Landscape Architect.

Acceptance shall be granted upon conformance with the following:

1.  Grass shall display a reasonably uniform distribution of grass plants.

2.  Grass shall display vigorous growth and be green and healthy in appearance.

3.  Grass shall have received the required mowings, fertilization and herbicide application.

The Contractor shall not be held liable for damage incurred to the seed areas caused by deicing compounds, toxic substances, fertilizers, pesticides and

other materials not specified or not applied by him or under his supervision, nor those damages caused by vandalism or acts of nature.

3.5   GUARANTEE

The Contractor shall guarantee the provision of a green, healthy relatively weed free turf at the time of acceptance.

TEMPORARY WATERING

Temporary watering shall be performed via a temporary above ground irrigation
system from the building water supply and/or from water trucks.

A. Kentucky Bluegrass Sod

1. Immediately subsequent to sod installation all areas shall be watered to a depth of
one (1) inch Additional watering shall be performed to a total of fifteen (15) times
approximately every other day for a minimum of a one (1) month period. During
extremely hot periods, often between June 15th and August 31st, watering daily may
be required.

2. Newly laid sod must be kept moist, but not water logged. The moisture should
extend into the soil below the sod to encourage root development. A general
rule-of-thumb is to apply one (1) inch of water every other day in the absence of
adequate rainfall. Early morning watering is preferred and should not be performed
after 1:00 PM. Watering personnel shall routinely probe the sodded areas in multiple
locations to determine moisture levels and the watering program should be adjusted
as needed. Newly laid sod should not be allowed to dry out as during the initial 2-3
weeks subsequent to laying, dryness will cause shrinkage leaving unwanted open
gaps between bales.

3. Depending on conditions, sod may take 1-3 weeks to root into the soil. Once the
sod takes root, watering frequency can be gradually reduced. One (1) inch of water
applied once a week is generally acceptable except during hot periods.

B. Seed Mixes with Straw Blanket  (if any)

1. Immediately after the completion of seeding operations, all seed & blanket areas
shall be watered to a depth of two (2) inches. Additional watering shall be performed
to a total of fifteen (15) times.

2. During the seed germination period, seeded areas shall be kept moist in the
absence of adequate rainfall to a depth of one (1) inch. A fine spray should be utilized
to avoid seed bed disturbance/erosion. Watering personnel shall routinely probe the
seeded areas in multiple locations to determine moisture levels and the watering
program should be adjusted accordingly. A five to ten (5-10) minute watering
duration is generally adequate. During the germination period, daily watering may be
required during extremely hot periods.

3. Once the seed has fully germinated (not just the cover crop) the watering shall be
increased to a two (2) inch depth. The soil should be allowed to dry out between
waterings and generally every other day watering during this stage is adequate,
depending on rainfall.

C. Plant Material Watering

1. All plants shall receive a thorough watering immediately subsequent to installation
including a minimum of four (4) additional waterings when needed.

2. During times of extreme heat, all evergreen and deciduous trees shall receive a
minimum of ten (10) gallons of water per tree per watering. Hand injection probe
watering or slow release watering bags are the preferred methods for effectively
applying water to trees. The use of 20-gallon slow-release irrigation tree bags is
highly encouraged and may be substituted for the above mentioned injection
waterings. Such watering bags shall be kept operational for a minimum of five (5)
continuous days. If this watering method is used in lieu of injection waterings, they
shall be provided, as weather conditions dictate, for three (3) watering periods of
five (5) continuous days each.

SHEET

REVISIONS

c
 

C
o

p
y

r
i
g

h
t
 
2

0
2

2
 
a

l
l
 
r
i
g

h
t
s

 
r
e

s
e

r
v

e
d

.
 
 
T

h
e

 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
a

n
d

 
a

n
y

 
a

n
d

 
a

l
l
 
i
d

e
a

s
 
c

o
n

t
a

i
n

e
d

 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
a

r
e

 
t
h

e
 
s

o
l
e

 
p

r
o

p
e

r
t
y

 
o

f
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

.
 
 
A

n
y

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
o

f
 
t
h

e
 
d

e
s

i
g

n
 
o

r
 
t
h

e
 
c

o
n

c
e

p
t
 
e

m
b

o
d

i
e

d
 
h

e
r
e

i
n

 
i
n

 
a

n
y

 
f
o

r
m

,
 
i
n

 
w

h
o

l
e

 
o

r
 
i
n

 
p

a
r
t
,
 
w

i
t
h

o
u

t
 
c

o
n

s
e

n
t
 
f
r
o

m
 
M

e
t
z
 
&

 
C

o
m

p
a

n
y

 
i
s

 
p

r
o

h
i
b

i
t
e

d
.
 
 

PROJECT NO.:

DATE:

SCALE:

22-184

TITLE

SEAL:

 
 
 
 
I
f
 
t
h

i
s

 
p

l
a

n
 
i
s

 
n

o
t
 
2

4
'
'
 
x

 
3

6
"
 
i
n

 
s

i
z
e

,
 
t
h

e
n

 
i
t
 
i
s

 
a

 
r
e

p
r
o

d
u

c
t
i
o

n
 
t
h

a
t
 
m

a
y

 
n

o
t
 
b

e
 
t
o

 
s

c
a

l
e

 

M
I
S

T
Y

 
C

R
E

E
K

1
1

6
t
h

 
&

 
L

A
R

A
W

A
Y

 
R

O
A

D

1    Updated Site Plan

METZ & COMPANYMETZ & COMPANY
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE/SITE PLANNING

826 East Maple Street

Lombard, Illinois 60148

PH: 630.561.3903

www.metz-company.com

F
R

A
N

K
F

O
R

T
,
 
I
L

L
I
N

O
I
S

2-7-22

2    New Site Plan
5-20-22

L-6.0

C
:
\
U

s
e

r
s
\
R

a
n

d
y
\
D

e
s
k
t
o

p
\
P

r
o

j
e

c
t
 
F

i
l
e

s
\
L

I
N

D
E

N
-
1

1
6

t
h

 
&

 
L

a
r
a

w
a

y
\
M

i
s
t
y
 
C

r
e

e
k
-
L

A
N

D
S

C
A

P
E

_
2

0
2

2
-
0

5
-
2

0
.
d

w
g

,
 
5

/
2

1
/
2

0
2

2
 
7

:
3

1
:
4

5
 
A

M

AutoCAD SHX Text
1"=10'

AutoCAD SHX Text
01-14-2022



A B A B

C
om

m
onw

ealth   E
dison   C

o.   R
.O

.W
.

E
 X

 C
 E

 P
 T

 I O
 N

C
B

A
C

B
A C BA

1

2

3

4

5

6 7 8 9 10

323334

Ruettiger, Tonelli & Associates, Inc.
Surveyors   Engineers   Planners   Landscape Architects   G.I.S. Consultants

129 CAPISTA DRIVE   -   SHOREWOOD, ILLINOIS  60404

website: www.ruettigertonelli.com
PH. (815) 744-6600  FAX (815) 744-0101

DESCRIPTION

320-1513-E03

FIELD BOOK: 20201513 Book 1

DOCUMENTATION:

PROJECT No.: 20201513.00

DATE: 3-17-2022

DRAWN BY: R.P.

CHECKED BY: J.H.

R  E  V  I  S  I  O  N  S

No. DATE DESCRIPTION

PROJECT TITLE: DRAWING TITLE: DRAWING No.

SCALE:

AS NOTED

BY BYDATENo.

MISTY CREEK

TOWNHOUSE DEVELOPMENT

116th & LARAWAY ROAD

FRANKFORT, ILLINOIS

SHEET  1 OF 1

Page 1-3

VEHICLE TURNING EXHIBIT

(WB-40)

VEHICLE PATH LEGEND

CHASSIS PATH

BODY PATH

VEHICLE PATH

NOTES

FOR REFERENCE ONLY.  CONFIRM WITH MANUFACTURER FOR

VEHICLE DETAILS AND/OR FIELD VERIFY.

ALL TURNING SIMULATIONS HAVE BEEN RUN AT A CONTINUOUS

SPEED OF 5 M.P.H..

VEHICULAR MANEUVER SIMULATION COMPLETED WITH

AUTODESK VEHICLE TRACKING 2019.

VEHICLE BODY

N
:
\
T

e
c
h

\
2

0
2

0
\
1

5
1

3
\
E

x
h

i
b

i
t
s
\
E

0
3

 
-
 
V

e
h

i
c
l
e

 
T

u
r
n

i
n

g
 
E

x
h

i
b

i
t
 
o

f
 
W

B
-
4

0
.
d

w
g

,
 
L

a
y
o

u
t
1

,
 
3

/
1

7
/
2

0
2

2
 
1

1
:
1

8
:
2

5
 
A

M
,
 
r
p

e
e

p
l
e

s

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONCRETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING 4' HIGH BERM TO REMAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
40' REAR YARD SETBACK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED 6' WALKING PATH

AutoCAD SHX Text
350.0'

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
3-17-2022

AutoCAD SHX Text
THIS EXHIBIT CREATED

AutoCAD SHX Text
R.P.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHIC SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 inch =     ft.

AutoCAD SHX Text
( IN FEET )

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

cgruba
Received



cgruba
Received



GARAGE

ENTRY

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

0 2' 4' 8'

2,028.0 SQ. FT.
UNIT A - FLOOR PLAN

STUDY

MUD

BEDROOM 2

BATH

BATH
 MASTER

BEDROOM
 MASTER

KITCHEN ROOM
 GREAT

ROOM
 DINING

LAUNDRY

M. CLOSET

UNIT - A

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

2020-0217

5-17-2022

SF

A-1.0

2-2
8-2

022
SF

CO
OR

DIN
AT

IO
N 

OF
 RE

VIE
W 

CO
MM

EN
TS

3-1
7-2

021
SF

AL
TER

NA
TE 

SIT
E P

LA
NS

4-1
2-2

022
SF

CI
VIL

 C
OO

RD
INA

TIO
N

5-1
8-2

022
SF

RE
VIS

ED
 SU

BM
ITT

AL

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
TO

W
NH

O
M

ES
 A

T

M
is

ty
 C

re
ek

LA
RA

W
AY

 &
 11

6T
H

Fra
nk

fo
rt,

 Ill
ino

is

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
21'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
7'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'-7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
11'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
13'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'-7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'-7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
14'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
14'-9"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-11"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
LT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SINK

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REF

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
P:\2020\2020-0217\Drawing Files\Preliminary\2020-0217_prelim floor plans 20211007.dwg  5/17/2022 3:41 PM  SFRANCIS  A-1.0      5/17/2022 3:41 PM  SFRANCIS  A-1.0    5/17/2022 3:41 PM  SFRANCIS  A-1.0      SFRANCIS  A-1.0    SFRANCIS  A-1.0      A-1.0    A-1.0    

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTHORIZATION OF LINDEN GROUP INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANY PERSONS FOR ANY PURPOSE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINDEN GROUP INC.  NONE OF THE ABOVE MAY BE DISCLOSED TO 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARE INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE, AND THEREFORE ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND DESIGNS REPRESENTED OR REFERRED TO IN THESE DOCUMENTS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL DRAWINGS, SPECIFICATIONS, PLANS, CONCEPTS, ARRANGEMENTS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
COPYRIGHT - LINDEN GROUP INC.  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
COPYRIGHT LINDEN GROUP INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: BASEMENT AREA WILL BE A MINIMUM OF 80% OF THE BUILDING FOOTPRINT



GREAT ROOM DINING ROOM

KITCHEN
DINETTE

M. BEDROOM

M. BATH

W.I.C.LAUNDRY
MUD RM

GARAGE

BEDROOM 2

STUDY

BATH 2

W.I.C.

ENTRY

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

0 2' 4' 8'

2,133 SQ. FT.
UNIT B - FLOOR PLAN

UNIT - B

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

2020-0217

5-17-2022

SF

B-1.0

2-2
8-2

022
SF

CO
OR

DIN
AT

IO
N 

OF
 RE

VIE
W 

CO
MM

EN
TS

3-1
7-2

021
SF

AL
TER

NA
TE 

SIT
E P

LA
NS

4-1
2-2

022
SF

CI
VIL

 C
OO

RD
INA

TIO
N

5-1
8-2

022
SF

RE
VIS

ED
 SU

BM
ITT

AL

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
TO

W
NH

O
M

ES
 A

T

M
is

ty
 C

re
ek

LA
RA

W
AY

 &
 11

6T
H

Fra
nk

fo
rt,

 Ill
ino

is

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'-10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'-9"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
11'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
13'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
11'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
14'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
11'-10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
13'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
18'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-9"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
11'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
20'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
21'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
12'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
11'-10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
7'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
10'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
7'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BENCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
LT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
PANT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REF

AutoCAD SHX Text
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SINK

AutoCAD SHX Text
P:\2020\2020-0217\Drawing Files\Preliminary\2020-0217_prelim floor plans 20211007.dwg  5/17/2022 3:41 PM  SFRANCIS  B-1.0      5/17/2022 3:41 PM  SFRANCIS  B-1.0    5/17/2022 3:41 PM  SFRANCIS  B-1.0      SFRANCIS  B-1.0    SFRANCIS  B-1.0      B-1.0    B-1.0    

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTHORIZATION OF LINDEN GROUP INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANY PERSONS FOR ANY PURPOSE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINDEN GROUP INC.  NONE OF THE ABOVE MAY BE DISCLOSED TO 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARE INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE, AND THEREFORE ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND DESIGNS REPRESENTED OR REFERRED TO IN THESE DOCUMENTS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL DRAWINGS, SPECIFICATIONS, PLANS, CONCEPTS, ARRANGEMENTS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
COPYRIGHT - LINDEN GROUP INC.  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
COPYRIGHT LINDEN GROUP INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: BASEMENT AREA WILL BE A MINIMUM OF 80% OF THE BUILDING FOOTPRINT



GARAGE

LNDRY MUD RM

P.R.

ENTRY

KITCHEN

GREAT ROOM

M. BEDROOM

W.I.C.

M. BATH

LOFT

BEDROOM 2

BEDROOM 3

BATH 2

W.I.C.
W.I.C.

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

0 2' 4' 8'

1,523 SQ. FT.
UNIT C1 - FIRST FLR PLAN

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

0 2' 4' 8'

676 SQ. FT.
UNIT C1 - SECOND FLR PLAN

UNIT - C1

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

2020-0217

5-17-2022

SF

C-1.0

2-2
8-2

022
SF

CO
OR

DIN
AT

IO
N 

OF
 RE

VIE
W 

CO
MM

EN
TS

3-1
7-2

021
SF

AL
TER

NA
TE 

SIT
E P

LA
NS

4-1
2-2

022
SF

CI
VIL

 C
OO

RD
INA

TIO
N

5-1
8-2

022
SF

RE
VIS

ED
 SU

BM
ITT

AL

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
TO

W
NH

O
M

ES
 A

T

M
is

ty
 C

re
ek

LA
RA

W
AY

 &
 11

6T
H

Fra
nk

fo
rt,

 Ill
ino

is

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z

AutoCAD SHX Text
Z

AutoCAD SHX Text
19'-10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
22'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
6'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-11"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
18'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
22'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'-10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-3"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-6"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
15'-4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
24'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-5"

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-10"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
13'-8"

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-7"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
14'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
9'-0"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'-11"

AutoCAD SHX Text
7'-2"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-9"

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-11"

AutoCAD SHX Text
x

AutoCAD SHX Text
5'-1"

AutoCAD SHX Text
STORAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
LT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DN

AutoCAD SHX Text
UP

AutoCAD SHX Text
DN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ISLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
REF

AutoCAD SHX Text
DW

AutoCAD SHX Text
SINK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
P:\2020\2020-0217\Drawing Files\Preliminary\2020-0217_prelim floor plans 20211007.dwg  5/17/2022 3:41 PM  SFRANCIS  C-1.0      5/17/2022 3:41 PM  SFRANCIS  C-1.0    5/17/2022 3:41 PM  SFRANCIS  C-1.0      SFRANCIS  C-1.0    SFRANCIS  C-1.0      C-1.0    C-1.0    

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTHORIZATION OF LINDEN GROUP INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANY PERSONS FOR ANY PURPOSE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINDEN GROUP INC.  NONE OF THE ABOVE MAY BE DISCLOSED TO 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARE INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE, AND THEREFORE ARE THE PROPERTY OF 

AutoCAD SHX Text
AND DESIGNS REPRESENTED OR REFERRED TO IN THESE DOCUMENTS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALL DRAWINGS, SPECIFICATIONS, PLANS, CONCEPTS, ARRANGEMENTS 

AutoCAD SHX Text
COPYRIGHT - LINDEN GROUP INC.  ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. 

AutoCAD SHX Text
COPYRIGHT LINDEN GROUP INC.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: BASEMENT AREA WILL BE A MINIMUM OF 80% OF THE BUILDING FOOTPRINT



FRONT ELEVATION - UNITS "A-B"
3/16" = 1'-0"

FRONT ELEVATION - UNIT "A-B" WITH SIDE LOAD GARAGE
3/16" = 1'-0"

Misty Creek
Frankfort, Illinois

ELEVATION - UNIT "B"
3/16" = 1'-0"

SIDE ELEVATION - UNIT "A"
3/16" = 1'-0"

ELEVATION KEY NOTES
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

10

11

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

9

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

2020-0217

5-19-2022

SF

A-4.0

2-2
8-2

022
SF

CO
OR

DIN
AT

IO
N 

OF
 RE

VIE
W 

CO
MM

EN
TS

3-1
7-2

021
SF

AL
TER

NA
TE 

SIT
E P

LA
NS

4-1
2-2

022
SF

CI
VIL

 C
OO

RD
INA

TIO
N

5-1
8-2

022
SF

RE
VIS

ED
 SU

BM
ITT

AL

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
TO

W
NH

O
M

ES
 A

T

M
is

ty
 C

re
ek

LA
RA

W
AY

 &
 11

6T
H

Fra
nk

fo
rt,

 Ill
ino

is



FRONT ELEVATION - UNITS "A-C-B"
3/16" = 1'-0"

REAR ELEVATION - UNITS "A-C-B" - SHOWN WITH OPTIONAL SUNROOM/COVERED PORCH
3/16" = 1'-0"

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

1

3

4

5

6

7

11

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

2020-0217

5-19-2022

SF

A-4.1

2-2
8-2

022
SF

CO
OR

DIN
AT

IO
N 

OF
 RE

VIE
W 

CO
MM

EN
TS

3-1
7-2

021
SF

AL
TER

NA
TE 

SIT
E P

LA
NS

4-1
2-2

022
SF

CI
VIL

 C
OO

RD
INA

TIO
N

5-1
8-2

022
SF

RE
VIS

ED
 SU

BM
ITT

AL

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
TO

W
NH

O
M

ES
 A

T

M
is

ty
 C

re
ek

LA
RA

W
AY

 &
 11

6T
H

Fra
nk

fo
rt,

 Ill
ino

is



SIDE ELEVATION UNIT A - OPTIONAL SUNROOM
3/16" = 1'-0"

SIDE ELEVATION UNIT B - OPTIONAL COVERED PORCH
3/16" = 1'-0"

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

9

REAR ELEVATION - UNITS "A-B" - SHOWN WITH OPTIONAL SUNROOM/COVERED PORCH
3/16" = 1'-0"

1

3

4

5

6

7

11

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

SHEET NAME

SHEET

FINAL REVIEW

2020-0217

5-19-2022

SF

A-4.2

2-2
8-2

022
SF

CO
OR

DIN
AT

IO
N 

OF
 RE

VIE
W 

CO
MM

EN
TS

3-1
7-2

021
SF

AL
TER

NA
TE 

SIT
E P

LA
NS

4-1
2-2

022
SF

CI
VIL

 C
OO

RD
INA

TIO
N

5-1
8-2

022
SF

RE
VIS

ED
 SU

BM
ITT

AL

PR
O

PO
SE

D 
TO

W
NH

O
M

ES
 A

T

M
is

ty
 C

re
ek

LA
RA

W
AY

 &
 11

6T
H

Fra
nk

fo
rt,

 Ill
ino

is



FYPON LOUVERS: 
SW 6258 
TRICORN BLACK

FYPON LOUVERS: 
SW 6258 
TRICORN BLACK

LP SIDING- 
ACCENT 
COLOR: SW7019 
GAUNTLET GRAY

LP SIDING- 
ACCENT COLOR: 
SW9132 ACACIA 
HAZE

ROOF
OAKRIDGE 
ESTATE GRAY

STONE: 
EDEN MOUNTAIN CREST 
MACHINE CUT VENEER

SOFFIT/ FACIA/ 
GUTTER:
ALSCO TERRATONE

LP SIDING- 
MAIN COLOR: 
SW 9170 ACIER

LP SIDING- 
MAIN COLOR: 
SW 7015 REPOSE 
GRAY

BRICK:
BRICKCRAFT CORAL BLEND
QUEEN SIZE 

GARAGE DOORS::
CHI BRONZE 

TRIM COLOR:
SW 7015 REPOSE 
GRAY

TRIM COLOR:
SW 7015 REPOSE 
GRAY

WINDOWS:
WEATHERSHIELD
JET BLACK  CASEMENT

 REVISION DATE: 05-18-2022 
PROJECT NO.:  2020-0217

MATERIAL BOARD 

TRIM OPTION 1 BASE PACKAGE TRIM OPTION 2 

Misty Creek






	June 23, 2022 Agenda Packet-compressed
	June 23, 2022
	PC Minutes 6.9.22 DRAFT
	Binder1-Olde Stone
	Staff Report 6.23.22 (public hearing) - Olde Stone
	1. Aerial photo (GIS)
	2. Zoning Map (GIS)
	3. FEMA Map
	4. National Wetlands Inventory Map
	5. Olde Stone Village Lot Size Analysis (Chris) 6.17.22
	6. PC Minutes 05.13.2021 - (excerpt)
	7. PC Minutes 3.24.22 excerpt
	8. Findings of Fact - Rezoning (applicant responses)
	9. Final Plat - Olde Stone Village (Original 2005)
	10. Survey 11.9.21
	11. Plat of Annexation 2.2.22
	12. Final Plat 6.16.22
	13. Site Plan 6.15.22
	14. Tree Survey 11.9.21

	Binder1-Chase
	Chase Bank 20801 S La Grange VAR PH 6.23.22
	GIS 1-4000
	GIS 1-1000
	Plat of Survey 5.11.22
	Proposal Summary Narrative 5.11.22
	Photographic Simulation 5.5.22
	Construction drawings 5.5.22
	Findings of Fact 5.19.22
	All pics-2 per page
	Google Street View - December
	Google Street View - November
	Google Street View - September
	PC minutes 5.26.22 - Chase bank excerpt
	Comp Plan excerpt
	Applicant responses to PC comments 6.3.22
	Manufacturer Specs 6.3.22
	Photos of real examples 6.3.22

	Binder1-Misty Creek
	Staff Report WORKSHOP 6.23.22 (Misty Creek)
	1. Aerial GIS-profile out
	2. Aerial GIS-profile in
	3. Survey 1.27.22
	4. Topographic-existing 5.25.22
	5. PC minutes excerpt Misty Creek
	6. Findings of Fact PUD 5.25.22
	7. Pages from Comprehensive_Plan_(Adopted)
	8. Recorded Berm Agreement 5.25.22
	9. Traffic Study 5.25.22
	10. Street Sign Detail 5.25.22
	11. Light Pole Detail 5.25.22
	12. Pictures 3.1.22 (2 per page)
	13. Preliminary Site Plan 5.25.22
	14. Site Plan & PUD Plat 6.6.22
	15. Landscape Plan 5.25.22
	116th & Laraway-LANDSCAPE-CS-1.0
	Sheets and Views
	CS-1.0


	116th & Laraway-LANDSCAPE-L-1.0
	Sheets and Views
	L-1.0


	116th & Laraway-LANDSCAPE-L-2.0
	Sheets and Views
	L-2.0


	116th & Laraway-LANDSCAPE-L-3.0
	Sheets and Views
	L-3.0


	116th & Laraway-LANDSCAPE-L-4.0
	Sheets and Views
	L-4.0


	116th & Laraway-LANDSCAPE-L-5.0
	Sheets and Views
	L-5.0


	116th & Laraway-LANDSCAPE-L-6.0
	Sheets and Views
	L-6.0



	16. Truck Turning Movements 5.25.22
	17. Architectural Renderings and Material Board 5.25.22


	PC Minutes 6.9.22 DRAFT

	Text1: All buildings will be constructed to meet building safety requirements of the village. Location of all curb cuts have been placed away from intersections, and the entrance along 116th Ave has been designed as a right-in right-out only to minimize traffic impacts with Hickory Creek School. All roadways are sized to accommodate Frankfort life safety vehicles and fire hydrants will be placed at required spacing. 
	Text2: The surrounding area is overwhelming residential, and this project would be an enhancement. The other three corners of the intersection of 116th and Laraway are developed with single family homes, adding townhomes provides a balance to the  residential area. A commercial development, as contemplated in the Comprehensive Plan, is more likely to cause substantial injury to neighboring property. 
	Text3: The proposed development does is not in a floodplain and does not have any wetlands on site. The developer has received EcoCAT and SHPO clearance letters confirming the same. 
	Text4: The development plan includes a walking trail encompassing the development, along with a pet park at the Southeast corner. Both amenities have been programmed as they are most applicable for the expected demographic. Additionally, the development exceeds the open space requirements of 20% with 21.6% dedicated open space. 
	Text5: The development is a proposed townhome community. Within the community, there will be a variety building sizes (2-unit and 3-unit buildings) and variation of floor plans, including two-story and ranch options. In addition, a number of the units will have side load garages, vs front-load garages. The combination of different building sizes, garage options, and exterior elevations will provide the community with varying building looks and achieve a balanced neighborhood. 
	Text6: The development plan includes a walking trail and pet park. The walking path encompasses the development to encourage recreational activity. The pet park will include a Sally Port (double gated entrance), benches, mulched play area with dog play equipment, benches, pet waste station, and trash receptacles. These are two sought after amenities for the anticipated demographic. 
	Text7: From an orderly standpoint, the entrances have been designed to minimize traffic conflicts with surrounding areas. As part of the development, the berm between Hickory Creek and the development will be landscaped for adequate screening and privacy. Landscaping will also be included to buffer Laraway Road.
	Text8: There is a need for high quality, low-maintenance living for the 55+ age cohort in the 60423 zip code. From 2010 to 2021, the percentage of households in the 60423 zip code that were 55+ jumped from 40.7%, to 50.8%. Yet, over the last two years there has been a precipitous decline in permits issued for townhome construction, with only 9% of issued permits being related to townhome units. 
	Text9: There surrounding area is overwhelming residential, and this project would be a complimentary addition. The other three corners of the intersection of 116th and Laraway are developed with single family homes; Sandalwood Estates,Cobblestone Walk, and Misty Falls (Developed by Flaherty). The only non-residential property in the immediate area is Hickory Creek school (surrounded by residential property). 


